THE COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT
IN RE: JUDGE ERNEST B. MURPHY

COMPLAINT NOS. 2006-9 & 2006-30

COMMISSION’S PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT,
 CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SANCTIONS

The Commission on Judicial Condu_ct (“the Commission™) hereby submits the
following Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law with respect to the
evidence presented at the Formal Hearing on the above complaints.

L BACKGROUND

_ On January 10, 2006, the.Commission initiated a complaint against Judge Emest B.
Murphy (Complaint No. 2006-9). A second complaint was filed against Judge Ernest B.
Murphy by the Boston Herald on February 17, 2006 (Complaint No. 2006-30).

On July 10, 2007, the Commission, acting pursuant to M.G.L. ¢. 21 1C, § 5(14) and
Commission Rule 7B(4), found sufficient cause to issue Formal Charges in the above
complaints and filed formal charges with the Supreme Judicial Court (“the SJC”). These
charges alleged that Judge Ernest B. Murphy (“Judge Murphy”) violated the following
Canons of the Code of Judicial Conduct: C : :

1. CANON 1A: FAILURE TO MAINTAIN AND OBSERVE HIGH
STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

2. CANON2: FAILURE TO AVOID IMPROPRIETY AND THE
- APPEARANCE OF IMPROPRIETY

3. CANON2A: FAILURE TO ACT IN A MANNER THAT PROMOTES
PUBLIC CONFIDENCE IN THE INTEGRITY AND
IMPARTIALITY OF THE JUDICIARY ‘

4. CANON2B: LENDING THE PRESTIGE OF JUDICIAL OFFICE TO
ADVANCE HIS OWN PRIVATE INTERESTS

5. CANON 4A(1): FAILURE TO CONDUCT EXTRA-JUDICIAL
ACTIVITIES SO THAT THEY DO NOT CAST
DOUBT ON THE JUDGE’S CAPACITY TO ACT
IMPARTIALLY AS A JUDGE

6. CANON 4D(1): FAILURE TO REFRAIN FROM FINANCIAL



AND BUSINESS DEALINGS THAT TEND TO
REFLECT ADVERSELY ON HIS

- IMPARTIALITY, INTERFERE WITH HIS

- JUDICIAL POSITION OR THAT MAY BE
REASONABLY PERCEIVED TO EXPLOIT HIS -
JUDICIAL POSITION ‘

A Formal Hearing on these charges took place on October 15 and 16, 2007 and |
evidence relating to these charges was presented.

II. ~APROPOSED FINDINGS OF. FACT

1.

Judge Emest B. Murphy was appointed a judge in the Massachusetts
Superior Court in the year, 2000. Judge Murphy served continuously in
that capacity up to, and including, the date of his testimony during the
Formal Hearing of this matter, ! ' .

Judge’Murphy, acting in his personal capacity, filed a libel lawsﬁit against
the Boston Herald in June of 2002.> |

Patrick Purcell (“Mr. Purcell”) was, in Juné of 2002, the Publisher and
majority-owner of the Boston Herald. Mr. Purcell served continuously in
that capacity up to, and including, the date of his testimony during the -

. Formial Hearing of this matter.

Mr. Purcell did not attend law school and is not a lawyer.*

In this libel suit, Judge Murphy was represented by Attorney Howard
Cooper from the law firm, Todd & Weld.’ ‘ . .

In their defense of this libel suit, the Boston Herald and Mr. Purcell were |
represented by Attorney M. Robert Dushman (“Attorney Bushman”) of

 the law firm, Brown Rudnick.®

Judge Murphy had very strong feelings that he would win the libel lawsuit
he had filed. Judge Murphy strongly believed he was going to-win the

 lawsuit, and that the Boston Herald was “in sérious trouble.” Judge

Murphy wanted to convey to Mr. Purcell his legal opinion that the Boston

: Herald could not prevail in its defense of the lawsuit. 7
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8. To that end, in October of 2003, Judge Murphy sought a privéte, one-on- .
one, settlement discussion with Mr. Purcell.® ‘

9. Judge Murphy sought this meeting through his attorney, Howard Cooper.’

10. Attorney Howard Cooper contacted Mr. Purcell’s and the Boston Herald ’s
lawyer, Attorney Dushman to arrange this meeting. '

11. A private meeting took place between Mr. Purcell and J udge Murphy in
October 0f 2003. This meeting took place at Mr. Purcell’s office at the
Boston Herald!!

12. The time and location of this meeting were arranged by the respective
counsel of Mr. Purcell and Judge Murphy.'?

13. At no time during this October, 2003 meeting was there a discussion
between Judge Murphy and Mr. Purcell regarding continuing to have
ongoing direct contact about this libel suit without the knowledge of their
respective attorneys. > ’

Judge Murphy and Mr. Pvurcell did not exchange direct phone numbers, .
cellular phone numbers or email addresses.* '

14. After argument on the summary judgment motion in the libel suit, Judge
Murphy sought, through his attorney, Howard Cooper, a second private,
one-on-one, settlement meeting between himself and Mr. Purcell. The.
timing and location of this meeting were arranged by the attorneys for
Judge Murphy and Mr. Purcell. This meeting took place at Mr. Purcell’s
Boston Herald office in April of 2004.'° .

15. At this second meeting, Judge Murphy told Mr. Purcell why Judge
-~ Murphy felt the Boston Herald could not win the libel suit.'® -
© 16. Atno time during this April, 2004 meeting was there a discussion between
Judge Murphy and Mr. Purcell regarding continuing to have ongoing
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direct contact about thls libel suit without the knowledge of thelr
respective attorneys

Judge Murphy and Mr. Purcell did not exchange direct phone numbers
cellular phone numbers-or email addresses.'®

17. Mr. Purcell s attorney, Attorney Dushman, never told him anythmg about
the meetings with Judge Murphy prior to trial being “confidential
settlement negotiations.” »19 .

Attorney Howard Cooper had no percip1ent knowledge of whether
Attorney Dushman ever told Mr. Purcell that his direct meetings with
Judge Mmphy would constitute “confidential settlement dlscuss1ons 20

Never, during either the October 2003 meetmg or the April, 2004 -
meeting, did Mr. Purcell and Judge Murphy discuss that they would
consider their direct communications to be “conﬁdenual settlement -
discussions.”! :

18. With the exception of the two meetings arranged by their respective
counsel, Judge Murphy and Mr. Purcell had no direct contact after the
lawsuit was filed until Judge Murphy sent lettérs to Mr. Purcell, after the
jury trial, on F ebruary 20, 2005 and March 18, 2005 '

19. The libel suit Judge Murphy brought agamst the Boston Herald went to
* trial in January and February of 2005 and, on February 18, 2005, the jury
awarded Judge Murphy $2 09 m11110n

20. Judge Murphy was “desperate” to settle the 11bel lawsuit after the j jury
verdict and did not want the Boston Herald to appeal the verdict.”?

21. It was with that “desperate” state of mind that, “immediately”? afier the
jury returned its verdict, Judgg Murphy “begged”24 his-counsel Howard-
‘Cooper to arrange a “four-way” meeting to discuss settlemert of the case.
At this meetmg Judge Murphy, Attorney Howard Cooper Mr. Purcell and
Attorney Dushman would have been present.?

U7 (Tr. 184:23-24; 185:1-6)
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22.

23.

24.

25.

Judge Murphy was told that the other side was “not interested in a four-
way conference.”?® After being told the other side was not interested in a
settlement discussion, Judge Murphy initiated direct contact with Mr.
Purcell anyway by writing a letter to him on F ebruary 20, 2005. %’

Judge Murphy sent this letter to Mr. Purcell at the main address for the
Boston Herald after Judge Murphy, through his own efforts, determined
what the address was. Mr. Purcell did not provide Judge Murphy with any
address at which to contact him %3

Judge Murphy used an official Superior Court stationery envelope to send
this February 20" letter, written on his own official Superior Court
letterhead. :

This letterhead stationery was provided to Judge Murpiiy by the Trial
Court. Judge Murphy was provided with Superior Court letterhead,
envelopes and business cards at the same time 2 :

In this letter, Judge Murphy proposed the settlement meeting he had been
told the other side was not interested in.

In his letter to Mr. Purcell, Judge Murphy told Mr. Purcell that part of the
price for this meeting was that Mr. Purcell had to bring a cashier’s check
to the meeting payable to Judge Murphy. Judge Murphy wrote, “No
check, no meeting.” Judge Murphy proposed a settlement of $3.26
million. .

Judge Murphy was fully aware that, at this point in time, the Boston
Herald only owed him $2.8 million dollars (the $2.09 million jury verdict
plus statutory interest as of that date).*

Judge Murphy proposed the $3.26 million settlement figure because he
“wanted [Mr. Purcell] o get hit in the face with $3.26 million basause
[Mr. Purcell] was going to say wait a second, the verdict was only.2.8%
and “this guy’s crazy.””? ' »

Judge Murphy put the $3.26 million amount in the F ebruary 20, 2005
letter to “shake [Mr. Purcell] up.”

% (Tr. 58:4-19)
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26.

27.

28.
29.
- 30.

31.

32,

33.

34.

Mr. Purcell felt that when he recelved this February 20 letter, “I couldn’t
believe I was gettmg this from a ]udge to me, it looked like a ransom
note, and that — it was very strange »3

Mr. Purcell also felt that “the reference ‘Because it is, Mr Purcell In your

distinct business interests to do so, in my considered opinion,” once again, - -

seemed to be a bit of a threat. And it seemed to me that this was more
intimidation. . And the idea that I would show up and take this check

-without discussing it with counsel and without pursuing what legal rights I

still had seemed to me I wasn’t going to agree w1th 33

The tone of Judge Mu'rphy sF ebruary 20™ Jetter was 1ntent10na1 “I was
taking my gloves off because I wanted to settle this case, and I thought
this was the only thing I had left; is to roll up my sleeves with this guy and
let him have it, that might posmbly precipitate a change in his position.”*¢

Judge Murphy further acknowledged with respect to his February 20"
letter, “I agree that it was strong. I agree that it was tough.”

Mr. Purcell and the Boston Herald had been represented throughout the
libel suit by the law firm Brown Rudnick, specifically Attomey Dushman,
and Judge Murphy knew that.”’

Mr. Purcell and Attorney Dushman felt that the best interests of the Boston
Herald were served by pressing forward and appéaling the jury verdict.*®

After 2 $500,000 deductible, the insurance company for the Boston Herald
had to bear the cost of the jury verdict and any legal fees that were
incurred by the Boston Herald. When the Boston Herald decided to
pursue an appeal rather than settle after the jury verdict, the Boston
Herald’s financial liability remained limited to the same $500 000
deductible.*

Mr. Purcell did not respond 1n any way to Judge Murphy’s February 20,
2005 letter. There was no contact of any kind between Judge. Murphy and
Mr. Purcell between February 20, 2005 and March 18, 2005.9

Judge Murphy sent a second letter to Mr. Purcell that was dated March 18,
2005. This letter was written on plain stationery but was enclosed in an
official court stationery envelope. :
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35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

Judge Murphy sent this letter to Mr. Purcell at the main address for the
Boston Herald after Judge Murphy, through his own efforts, determined
what the address was. Mr. Purcell did not provide Judge Mulphy with any
address at which to contact him.*!

In this second letter, Judge Murphy expressed, in very strong language, his
legal opinion of the Boston Herald’s chances of successfully appealing the
jury verdict in the libel suit.

When he received this second letter from Judge Murphy, Mr. Purcell felt
“there’s the distinct appearance of a ransom note. And once again,
basically saying, I have no chance and that . . . I have no chance of
winning this case.”*? :

Mr. Purcell alerted his counsel, Attorney Dushman, to these two letters
from Judge Murphy. Mr. Purcell and Attorney Dushman decided not to
respond i m any way to the February 20™ and March 18™ letters from J udge

Murphy.”

Judge Murphy sent these letters to Mr. Purcell after being warned about
the use of official court stationery. Judge Murphy had received a letter,

-dated August 21,2002, from the Executive Director of the Commission on

Judicial Conduct. In this letter, Judge Murphy was advised to “consider
the appropriateness of using Judlclal stationery for certain purposes 44

In December of 2005,7J udge Murphy s attorney filed a motion “to freeze
the assets of the Herald.” Mr. Purcell testified that, when Judge Murphy’s

- lawyer filed this motion, “{We decided that something else had to be

done. The efforts on Judge Murphy’s part to work out a settlement, and
then these letters in combination with the movement to freeze our assets,
basxcally made us say, ‘We cannot go on with this,” and so we had to fight

back »4 -

The lawyers for the Boston Herald made a decision to file Judge Murphy s

‘February 20™ and March 18™, 2005 letters as part of a court filing to

“demonstrate that this was an effort on the part of Judge Murphy to get us
to not pursue our rights, what our legal rights were.”*

1 (Tr. 92:3-22)
2 (Tr. 194:3-9)
® (Tr. 194:10-14)
# (Tr. 100:10-24;
* (Tr. 195: 6-16)
% (Tr. 199:21-24;
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Because these letters were going to be filed with the court, the Editor of
the Boston Herald was notified and provided with a copy of the court
submission.*’ : ’

Mr. Purcell understood that “this was a high-profile case” and the court
filing would be in the newspaper. However, Mr. Purcell was not directly
involved in how Judge Murphy’s letters were covered in the Boston
Herald. *® :

Judge Murphy’s letters were filed with the court the day before the first-
article about them appeared in the Boston Herald.49

41. On December 21, 2005 the Boston Herald published an article about
Judge Murphy’s F ebruary 20, 2005 and March 18, 2005, letters. This
article included most of the content of both letters.> .

On December 21, 2005, the Boston Herald published the full text of these
letters and actual copies of these letters in its online web edition.”!

As of December 21, 2005, the paper edition of the Boston Herald had a
circulation of about 230,000 to 240,000 rveaders.5 2 Asof December 21,

- 2005, the Boston Herald’s website had “roughly 3 million unique visitors
per month.”> : ' : :

42. Attorney Dushman passed away prior to the Formal Heariﬁg of this
matter. . . s

I PROPOSED RULINGS OF LAW

. 1. WHETHER JUDGE MURPHY MEANT TO USE HIS POSITION AS A JUDGE
TO INFLUENCE THE OPPOSING PARTY OR NOT, WHEN JUDGE ’
MURPHY USED OFFICIAL JUDICIAL STAT?ONERY TO SEND AND
WRITE LETTERS TO THE OPPOSING PARTY IN A LAWSUIT IN WHICH

¥ (Tr. 200:22-24; 201:1-12)
“® (Tr. 201:13-23)

* Exhibit 1, Appendix F.

50 Exhibit 1, Appendix F.

5 (Tr. 202:5-14)

%2 (Tr. 202:20-22) :
%3 (Tr. 202:23-24; 203:1-24)



“Whatever [the judge’s] motive, it is no.cure for conduct that creates an appearance
of impropricty.”54A judge’s explanation for his conduct “may shed light on his after-the-
fact, subjective belief,” but it does nothing to eliminate the appearance arising from the
objective record.”

In the case, In the Matter of Donald M. Mosley, the Nevada Supreme Court relied
- heavily on a decision of the Alaska Supreme Court’® for guidance in deciding if a judge
violated Canon 2B”’ of the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct (NCIC) by sending letters
on judicial stationery to persons who already knew he was a judge. The Nevada Supreme
Court wrote: ’

“An Alaska Supreme Court justice sent three letters on judicial chambers _
stationery to opposing counsel regarding a personal matter. The court held that it
was irrelevant that the ‘intended recipients of the letters were not influenced in
fact by the chambers stationery.” The court noted that using judicial stationery for
personal reasons would likely cause the public to believe that the justice is '
‘unable to distinguish his judicial activities from his personal ones. This failure to
maintain separate interests could lead a reasonable person to believe that
petitioner’s judicial decision-making ability similarly might be flawed.’

In interpreting the judicial canons, we adopt the objective reasonable person
standard. In applying that standard, we conclude that there was clear and
convincing evidence produced at the evidentiary hearing that an objective
reasonable person could conclude Judge Mosley wrote letters on his judicial
letterhead to his son’s school in an attempt to gain personal advantage in violation
of NCJC Canon 2B. |

The California Commission on Judicial Conduct (CCJC) has ruled that it is
- irrelevant whether the recipient of a letter on judicial stationery already knew that the
person sending it was a judge. In the Matter Concerning Judge Joseph E. DiLoreto,

>* In re Snow, 674 A.2d 573, 578 (New Hampshire 1996).

** In the Matter of Johnstone, 2 P.2d 1226, 1237 (Alaska 2000). - ,

% Canon 2 of the Alaska Code of Judicial Conduct is very similar to the Massachusetts-Code and reads, in
part, “Canon 2. A Judge Shall Avoid Impropriety and the Appearance of Impropriety in All of the Judge's
Activities. 2A. In all activities, a judge shall exhibit respect for the rule of law, comply with the law, avoid
impropriety and the appearance of impropriety, and act in a manner that promotes public confidence in the
integrity and the impartiality of the judiciary. 2B. A judge shall not allow family, social, political, or other
relationships to influence the judge's judicial conduct or judgment. A judge shall not use-or lend the
prestige of judicial office to advance the private interests of the judge or others. A judge shall not
knowingly convey or permit others to convey the impression that anyone is in a special position to
influence the judge. A judge shall not testify voluntarily as a character witness, except that a judge may
testify as a character witness in a criminal proceeding if the judge or a member of the judge's family is a
victim of the offense or if the defendant is a member of the judge's family.”"

%7 Canon 2B of the NCIC provides, in part, “A judge shall not allow family, social, political or other
relationships to influence the judge’s judicial conduct or judgment. A judge shall not lend the prestige of
judicial office to advance the private interests of the judge or others; nor shall a judge convey or permit
others to convey the impression that they are in a special position to influence the judge.”

%8 In the Matter of Donald M. Mosley, 102 P.3d 555, 560 Nevada Supreme Court (May 17, 2001), quoting
Inquiry Concering a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, 1336 (Alaska 1991).




California Commission on Judicial Performance, June 13,2006 The CCIC wrote, “The
propriety of using judicial stationery in personal disputes does not turn on whether or not
the recipient already kniows the author is a judge: Rather, the use of judicial stationery is
prohibited under the canons in question because, in such circumstances, such use

~ involved lending the prestige of office or the judicial title to advance personal or
pecuniary interests.” -

2. JUDGE MURPHY’S LETTERS TO MR. PURCELL DO NOT CONSTITUTE
“SETTLEMENT NEGOTIATIONS” AND TO THE EXTENT IT CAN BE
ARGUED THAT THE LETTERS AT ISSUE IN THIS CASE WERE
COMMUNICATIONS SENT AS PART OF CONFIDENTIAL SETTLEMENT
DISCUSSIONS BETWEEN LITIGANTS, SUCH AN ARGUMENT IS .
IRRELEVANT TO THE QUESTION OF WHETHER JUDGE MURPHY
VIOLATED ANY OF THE CANONS OF THE MASSACHUSETTS CODE OF
JUDICIAL CONDUCT. :

- Whether a particular discussion is; in fact, a settlement discussion is a question for
the trial judge.” The evidence in this case supports a finding that these letters were not
part of any type of continuing confidential settlement discussions.

When Judge Murphy sent these letters, his only prior “settlement”

* communications with Mr. Purcell had taken the form of face-to-face meetings, with the
knowledge and approval of counsel for both sides. Judge Murphy sent the February 20,
2005 letter to M. Purcell after being told that the other side was not interested in

~ settlement talks. Judge MurPhy sent the March 18,2005 letter afier receiving no
response to his February 20" letter. o ‘

Judge Murphy’s opening statements in these letters would be unnecessary if there,
in fact, was an agreement for this kind of continuing settlement discussion. Inhis =
February 20" letter, Judge Murphy wrote, “I trust you continue (as doT) to honor the
~ privacy of our personal communications in the nature of what is generally referred to as -
‘settlement discussions’ in my business.” In his March 18" letter, Judge Murphy wrote, -

“I'm going to, once again, principal to principal,as ‘settlement negotiations’ — off the
_record — just between you and me ~ tell you something.” '

* Also, Judge Murphy’s statement in his March 18™ letter, “I will NEVER, that is
as in NEVER, shave a dime from what you owe me,” suggests that, notwithstanding his
- attempt to characterize this letter as “settlement negotiations,” his intent was not to.
communicate an “offer to compromise” but to put pressure on Mr. Purcell not to pursue
an appeal at a cost of “$331,056 /yr for the next two or three years.” -

To the extent that these letters might be considered part of a settlement discussion,
that fact would not provide Judge Murphy with an opportunity to escape responsibility
for misconduct he committed as part of such communications.’ o

* Marchand v. Murray, 27 Mass App 611, 615 (1989).

10



“[P]ublic policy does not support the exclusion of an offer of compromise when
that offer is seen as too coercive on a party’s exercise of their constitutional rights.”%°
Here, Judge Murphy’s letters sought to pressure the Boston Herald not to pursue its
Constitutional rights to Due Process through an appeal.

Moreover, it is clear that public policy would be frustrated if a Judge were

permitted to commit misconduct but escape responsibility for that misconduct by simply
prefacing his improper statements as “settlement negotiations.”

3.. JUDGE MURPHY’S CONDUCT IS PROPERLY EVALUATED FROM THE
PERSPECTIVE OF THE “HYPOTHETICAL REASONABLE OBJECTIVE
PERSON.”

“The United States Supreme Court, in interpreting a section of the federal Jjudicial
code, has held that a judge is not to be evaluated by a subjective standard, but by the
standard of an objective reasonable person, because ‘people who have not served on the-
bench are often all too willing to indulge suspicions and doubts concerning the Integrity

of judges.””®! '

In the Alaska case, Inquiry Concerning a Judge, the Alaska Supreme Court
addressed the viewpoint from which a fact-finder should consider whether a judge has
committed misconduct: “We decide whether the [judge] failed to use reasonable care to
prevent a [hypothetical] reasonably objective individual from believing that an
impropriety was afoot.”? ' -

This same “reasonable objective person” standard applies in Massachusetts. In
‘the case, In the Matter of Frederick L. Brown, the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court
indicated that the standard of the “objective reasonable person” should be applied when
evaluating whether a judge has violated the Canons of the Code of Judicial Conduct.%

Judicial misconduct cases® have described this reasonable person as “a
reasonably intelligent and informed member of the public,”%an objective observer,*and
the average person encountered in society.” Other formulations emphasize what a

% Evidentiary Standard sec. 408.1, citing Commonwealth v. Kennedy, 389 Mass. 308, 312-313 (1983).

! In the Matter of Donald M. Mosley, 102 P.3d at 560, quoting Liljeberg v. Health Services Acquisition
Corp., 486 U.S. 847, 864-65 (1988).

*? Inquiry Concering a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, 1340 (Alaska 1991).

®® In the Matter of Frederick L. Brown, 427 Mass. 146, 153 (1998).

 This paragraph, is, with minor changes, taken from “Avoiding the Appearance of Impropriety: With
Great Power Comes Great Responsibility,” Cynthia Gray, Judicature, Volume 89, Number 1 (July-August
2005). : '

% In the Matter of Johnstone, 2P.3d 1226, 1237 n.38 (Alaska 2000).

% Adams v. Commission on Judicial Performance 897 P.2d 544, 548 (California 1995).

¢ Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, 1340 (Alaska 1991).
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- - reasonable person as “neither excessively indulgent, nor excessively jaundice

reasonable person is not: not the judge hlmself or herself, %80t a well-trained lawyer,® not

a highly sophisticated observer of public affairs,”®and not a cynic skeptical of the

government and the courts.”’ Perhaps the most evocative variation characterizes %w

d ”

‘Further, the reasonable person would not be “uninformed or misinformed, »and the
perception of an impropriety must be based on more than vague conjectures and subtle
innuendo. Realistically, however, a reasonable person could not know “every conceivably
relevant fact”’ but would know “all available information,”” “all the relevant
circumstances that a reasonable inquiry would disclose,”76 or the “totality of

: circurustanc’:es.”77

IV. ARGUMENT

) Judge Murphy testified several times duriag the Formal Hearing of this matter
that he was “desperate” to settle the libel lawsuit and put the matter behind him. When

- the jury returned a verdict in Judge Murphy’s favor on February 18, 2005, Judge Murphy
“begged”’® his lawyer to set up a meeting with Mr. Purcell and Attorney Dushman to

discuss settlement. Judge Murphy admltted that he did not want the Boston Herald to

- pursue an appeal of the jury verdlct '

‘ J udge Murphy was told that the other side was not 1nterested in a settlement
meeting. However, Judge Murphy’s desperatlon to settle the libel suit prevented him
from taking “no” for an answer. Judge Murphy proceeded to write letters to Mr. Purcell
- on February 20, 2005 and March 18, 2005

Judge Murphy s decision to send these letters to the opposing side in a lawsuit in
which Judge Murphy was personally involved, after being told the other side did not want
'to meet with him, formed the basis for the misconduct with which he is charged. -

Judge Murphy, while an active Superior Court judge, sent these letters to a non-
- lawyer and used judicial stationery. In doing so, Judge Murphy failed to observe the
“high standards of conduct” requlred by Canons

* ® In re Sriow, 674 A.2d 573, 577 (New Hampshire 1996), quoting Blaisdeli v. City of Rochester, 609-A.2d

388 390 (New Hampshire 1992).

"  Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, 1340 (Alaska 1991)

" |

72 In the Matter of Larsen, 616 A.2d 529, 584 (Pennsylvama 1992).

7 1d. at 582. '

- ™ Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, 1340 (Alaska 1991).
" In the Matter of Johnstone, 2P.3d 1226, 1237 n.38 (Alaska 2000).

76 Delaware Code of Judicial Conduct, Commentary to Canon 2A.

77 In the Matter of Larsen, 616 A.2d 529, 584 (Pennsylvama 1992).

8 (Tr. 60:8-13)

 (Tr. 85:20-24)
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In these letters, Judge Murphy improperly soilght to pressure Patrick Purcell, a
non-lawyer, not to appeal the jury verdict in a civil lawsuit in which Judge Murphy was
personally involved as the Plaintiff.

Furthermore, these letters from Judge Murphy violated Canons with which he is
charged not just because his letters improperly sought to apply pressure, but also because
of the manner in which Judge Murphy sought to pressure Mr. Purcell not to pursue his
right to appeal the libel verdict:

1.

In his February 20, 2005 letter, Judge Murphy made reference to the
court proceedings being “my business” and wrote, “As you no doubt
clearly recollect, ole Mike Ditka here warned you against playing ‘the
Team from Chicago’ in this particular Super Bowl.” This statement
improperly suggested that Judge Murphy has a special insight into the
court system, connections within it, ané a special influence over it
because of his position as a judge. ' ‘

In his February 20" letter to Mr. Purcell, T udge Murphy improperly

‘proposed a settlement amount of $3.26 million. Judge Murphy offered

no alternative monetary settlement except that, if Mr. Purcell could
“stand before the God of [his] understanding, and as a man of honor, as
for the return of that check,” Judge Murphy would “flip it back” to Mr.
Purcell.

In his February 20" letter, Judge Murphy also wrote to Mr. Purcell that it
is in “[Mr. Purcell’s] distinct business interest” to pay Judge Murphy
$3.26 million rather than appeal the jury verdict. This statement
improperly implied that there might be consequences to the Boston
Herald’ s business interest if Mr. Purcell did not comply with Judge
Murphy’s settlement proposal.

Judge Murphy proposed $3.26 million as the only amount for which the
case could be settled, despite the fact that Judge Murphy was fully awasre
that, at that point in time, the Boston Herald only owed him $2.8 million
dollargo(the $2.09 million j ]ury verdlct plus statutory interest as of that
date).

Through this act; Judge Murphy failed to observe the “high standards of
conduct” required of a judge. Judge Murphy proposed this settlement
amount of $3.26 million despite knowing the Boston Herald owed him
less, because he “wanted [Mr. Purcell] to get hit in the face with $3.26
million because [Mr. Purcell] was going to say wait a second, the verdict
was only 2.8” 81 and “this guy’s crazy. 82 Judge Murphy admitted that he

80 (Tr. 72: 3-13 and 78:10-17)
81 (Tr. 104:15-24; 105: 1-14)

8 (Tr. 105:17)
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put the $3.26 million amount m the February 20, 2005 letter to “shake
[Mr. Purcell] up.”®? : .

3. In this same February 20" letter, Judge Murphy im‘prop.erly proposed the
settlement meeting that had just been rejected by the opposing side and
included improper conditions as the “price” of this meeting.

The price of the meeting included conditions designed to prevent Mr.
Purcell, a non-lawyer, from seeking advice about Judge Murphy’s
proposed settlement meeting from the counsel at Brown Rudnick who
had represented him throughout the libel suit.

Mr. Purcell and the Boston Herald had been represented by the law firm
Brown Rudnick, specifically Attorney Dushman, and Judge Murphy
knew that 3 - o : : '

Judge Murphy’s letter required that Mr. Purcell not bring his lawyer from
Brown Rudnick to this settlement meeting, tell his lawyer from Brown
Rudnick that the meeting was going to take place or show his lawyer

from Brown Rudnick the February 20, 2005 letter from Judge Murphy.

Mr. Purcell and Attorney Dushman felt that the best interests of the - -
Boston gierald were served by pressing forward and appealing the jury
verdict.® :

- The insurance company for the Boston Herald was Mutual of Bermuda.®® -
After a $500,000 deductible, the insurance company for the Boston
Herald had to bear the cost of the jury verdict and any legal fees that
were incurred by the Boston Herald. When the Boston Herald decided to
pursue an appeal rather than settle after the jury verdict, the Boston '
Herald’s financial liability remained limited to the same $500,000
deductible.”’ | - |

s

Judge Murphy understood that there was an insurance company for the
Boston Herald that should indemnify the Boston Herald against the jury
verdict.®® J udge Murphy also understood that “Gerald Schaefer” was the
president, CEO and a Board Member for Mutual of Bermuda.” Judge
Murphy “was assuming that Gerald Schaefer would be the gentleman
who would be coming from the insurer: And he is an attorney.”*®

% (Tr. 105:15-22)
 (Tr. 75:1-10)
8 (Tr. 217:2-9)
% (Tr. 79:4-24)
57 (Tr. 238:7-24; 239:1-5)
58 (Tr. 79:22-24; 80:1-7)
8 (Tr. 79:8-16)
0 (Tr. 79:14-16)
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- 20" letter, “I agree that it was strong. I agree that it was tough.” 91

. Under these circumstances, J udge Murphy knew or should have known

that, if Mr. Purcell succumbed to his demanded “price” for a settlement
meeting and showed this letter only to “the gentleman whose authorized
signature will be affixed to the check in question,” Mr. Purcell might not
be able to seck advice from an attorney about this letter.

Judge Murphy also knéw or should have known that if Mr. Purcell did
seek advice, he would only be able to notify and seek advice from the
president, CEO and Board Member for Mutual of Bermuda, Gerald
Schaefer, whose interests differed those of the Boston Herald and might
have favored immediate settlement over appeal of the libel verdict.

This February 20, 2005 letter improperly concluded with a warhing to
Mr. Purcell that it would be a “mistake. In fact, a BIG mistake” to show

the letter to anyone other than “the gentleman whose authorized signature

will be affixed to the check in question.” The language of this warning,
coupled with the use of punctuation and capitalization, took on a
threatening tone. -

This use of wording had greater weight and was more intimidating and
threatening because it was made by a sitting Superior Court judge to a
non-lawyer, because it was written on Superior Court stationery, and

because it was a statement made to a non-lawyer by a judge who had a

_personal interest in the outcome of the case the letter referenced.

Judge Murphy admitted that the tone of this letter was intentional: “I was
taking my gloves off because I wanted to settle this case, and 1 thought
this was the only thing I had left, is to roll up my sleeves with this guy
and let him have it, that might possibly precipitate a change in his
position.” Judge Murphy further admitted with respect to his February

~

In his March 18, 2005 letter, Judge Murphy improperly “pretty strongly
expressed”®?, his legal opinion of the Boston Herald’s chances of
successfully appealing the jury verdict in the libel suit. In this letter,
Judge Murphy wrote,

“I'm going to, once again, principal to principal, as “settlement
negotiations” — off the record — just between you and me — tell you
something for nothing which may help you in your decision-making,
Something for nothing.

- %' (Tr. 84:15-24; 85:1-24)

%2 (Tr. 88:22-23)
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‘And that is . . . you have ZERO chance of reversing my jury verdict on
appeal. Anyone who is counseling you to the contrary ...is WRONG.
Not 5% ... . ZERO.

AND ... Iwill NEVER, that is as in NEVER, shave a dime from what
_you owe me. ‘ S - :

The language of this warning, coupled with the use of punctuation and
capitalization, applied improper pressure because it took on a threatenin
tone. '

This use of wording had greater weight and was more intimidating and
 threatening because it was made by a sitting Superior Court judge, because
it was sent in an official court envelope, and because it was a statement
= . - made to a non-lawyer by a judge who had a personal interest i the
outcome of the case the letter referenced.

V.  VIOLATIONS OF THE CANONS
1. CANON1

Canon 1 of the Massachusetts Code of Judicial Conduct states, “A judge shall
participate in establishing, maintaining and enforcing high standards of conduct and shall
personally observe those standards so that the integrity and independence of the judiciary
will be preserved.” T '

The commentary to Canon 1 reads, “[Judges] must comply with the law,
including the provisions of this Code. Public confidence in the impartiality of the
Judiciary is maintained by adherence of each judge to this responsibility...[V]iolation of
this Code diminishes public confidence in the judiciary and thereby does injury to the
system of government under law.” : I - :

“When Judge Murphy ser letters dated February 20, 2005 and March 18,
2005 to Mr. Purcell, Judge Murphy failed to observe the “high standards of
conduct” required of judges and “diminishe[d] public confidence in the judiciary,”
thereby violating Canon 1. : '

2. CANON2,2A,2B

The commentary to Canon 2A states, “A judge must avoid all impropﬁety or the

apvpearance of impropriety.” (emphasis added). The Commentary further states, “The
test for imposition of sanction for violation of this Canon is whether the conduct would

create in reasonable minds a perception that the judge’s ability to carry out judicial
responsibilities with integrity, impartiality and competence is impaired.”
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The nature of the pressure Judge Murphy sought to apply in his February 20, 2005
and March 18, 2005 letters constituted a “failure to act in a manner that promotes public
confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary,” in violation of Canon 2A. -

Judge Murphy’s use of official judicial stationery to express his legal opinions,
and thus apply pressure to drop an appeal in the context of his own personal civil suit
against the Boston Herald “len[t] the prestige of judicial office for the advancement of
the private interests of the judge,” in violation of Canon 2B.

The use of judicial letterhead in a judge’s personal business is specifically
proscribed in the Commentary to Canon 2B: “Judicial letterhead and the judicial title
must not be used in conducting a judge’s personal business.” Judge Murphy has
. conceded that his use of official Superior Court stationery was inappropriate.

~. Judge Murphy’s demand, in his February 20™ Jetter, on Superior Court Judicial
letterhead, for approximately $500,000 more than he knew the Boston Herald would have
been required to pay him if they simply paid the jury verdict would create “in reasonable
minds a perception that the judge’s ability to carry out judicial responsibilities with
integrity, impartiality and competence is impaired” in violation of Canon 2A.

For the reasons described above, Judge Murphy’s statement in his February 20"
letter, “As you no doubt clearly recollect, ole Mike Ditka here warned you against
playing ‘the Team from Chicago’ in this particular SuperBowl,” would violate Canon 2A
by creating “in reasonable minds a perception that the judge’s ability to carry out judicial
responsibilities with integrity, impartiality and competence is impaired.” This statement
also violates Canon 2B as this statement, written on judicial stationery, “len[t] the =~
prestige of judicial office for the advancement of the private interests of the judge” in
violation of Canon 2B. ’

Judge Murphy’s February 20™ letter had a threatening tone. Judge Murphy wrote:
“Under NO circumstances should you involve Brown, Rudnick in this meeting Or notify
that firm that such a meeting is to take place.” Judge Murphy then wrote, in the post-
-script to his February 20" letter, “It would be a mistake, Pat, to show this lettsr to anyone
other than the gentleman whose authorized signature will be affixed to the check in
question. In fact, a BIG mlstake Please do not make that mistake.”

The WOI'dlI’lg and punctuation of these statements created a threatening tone.
These statements would lead a “réasonable objective person” to believe that Judge
Murphy might try to use his position as a judge to harm the Boston Herald or Patrick
Purcell. A person could reasonably conclude that a Judge s position of power and
authority would permit him to harm an ordinary citizen in ways that do not have to be
explicitly defined when a threat is made. These threatening statements violate Canon 2A
because they create “in reasonable minds a perception that the judge’s ability to carry out
judicial responsibilities with integrity, impartiality and competence is impaired,” and, on

% (Tr. 94:4-20)
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official judicial stationery, these statements “len[t] the prestige of j udicial office for the .
advancement of the private interests of the judge ”in further violation of Canon 2B.

Judge Murphy admitted that, in his March 18, 2005 letter, he “pretty strongly
expressed”™* his opinion regarding the Boston Herald’s chances on appeal. This “strong”
expression of opinion by a judge who had a personal interest in the case he was
referencing, made to a non-lawyer, would create “in reasonable minds a perception that

. the judge’s ability to carry out judicial responsibilities with integrity, impattiality and
competence is impaired” in violation of Canon 2A. Where a Judge “is ‘unable to
distinguish his judicial activities from his personal ones, this failure to maintain

“separate interests could lead a reasonable person to believe that petitioner’s judicial
decision-making ability similarly might be flawed.””” In the Matter of Donald M.
Mosley, 102 P.3d 555, 560 Nevada Supreme Court (May 17, 2001), quoting Inquiry -
Concering a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, 1341 (Alaska 1991) (emphasis added). This is
particularly so given that this letter was sent in almfﬁmal Jud1c1a1 envelope in violation
of Canon 2B. :

When Judge Murphy sent letters dated February 20, 2005 and March 18,
2005 to Mr. Purcell, Judge Murphy failed “to act in a manner that promotes public
confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary” and “len[t] the prestige
of judicial office for the advancement of the private interests of the Judge” in
~ violation of Canons 2, 2A and 2B. :

3. CANON4A(1), 41)(1_)

The content of Judge Murphy’s February 20, 2005 and March 18, 2005 letters
- improperly expressed Judge Murphy’s opinion regarding the Boston Herald’s chances on
appeal in a case in which Judge Murphy was personally involved as the plaintiff. These -
letters also had a threatening tone and sought, through improper means, to pressure the
opposing side in this case not to pursue an appeal. Finally, Judge Murphy improperly
used official court stationery for these letters. - As such, these letters involved Judge
Murphy’s “extrajudicial activities” and violated Canons 4A(1)and 4D(1).

By sending these letters, Judge Murphy failed to conduct his “extrajudicial
. activities so that they do not . . .cast doubt-on [his] capacity to act impartially as a judge”
in violation of Canon 4A(1). Where a Judge “is “unable to distinguish his judicial
~ activities from his personal ones, this failure to maintain separate interests could lead
" areasonable person to beheve that petitioner’s judicial decision-making ability
similarly might be flawed. > In the Matter of Donald M. Mosley, 102 P.3d 555, 560

- . Nevada Supreme Court (May 17, 2001), quoting Inquiry Concering a Judge, 822 P.2d

1333 1341 (Alaska 1991) (emphasw added).

Because he used judicial stationery for these letters, Judge Murphy failed to
‘refrain from financial and business dealings that tend to reflect adversely on the judge’s

24 (Tr. 88:22-23)
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impartiality . . .[and] that may reasonably be perceived to exploit the Judge s judicial
position” in violation of Canon 4D(1).

When Judge Murphy sent letters dated February 20, 2005 and March 18,
2005 to Mr. Purcell, Judge Murphy failed “to conduct his “extrajudicial activities so
“that they do not .. .cast doubt on [his] capacity to act impartially as a judge” and
failed to “refrain from financial and business dealings that tend to reflect adversely
on the judge’s impartiality . . .[and] that may reasonably be perceived to exploit the
~ judge’s judicial position” in violation of Canon 4A(1) and 4D(1).

VI. SANCTIONS AND AGGRAVATING FACTORS

1. Instances of the improper use of judicial letterhead can be found in other
Jjurisdictions.

-

a. Inre Gallagher 951 P.2d 705 (Or. 1999). This judge was found to have
extensively used his judicial assistant for personal and campaigning
purposes, including drafting 95% of his non-official personal business
letters on official judge’s stationery over several years. These letters
included the collection of a personal debt, disputing various bills and
disputing a parking ticket. The Supreme Court of Oregon wrote that an
“objective observer” would perceive the judge’s use of official letterhead
and the title “Circuit Court Judge” for letters disputing a parking ticket as

. ‘an attempt to receive better treatment than an average citizen. The Court
found that the judge’s use of letterhead and often the title “Circuit Court
Judge” in other correspondences “would cause an objective observer
reasonably to conclude that the accused was lending the prestige of the
office to advance his own private interests.” The Court noted that the
judge’s demanding letters asserting legal propositions in close proximity
to reminders of his status as a judge indicated that the judge “intends his
position to lend weight or credibility to his assertions.” In mitigation, the
Court noted that the judge had no prior complaints. The Judge was
suspended without pay for six months -

b. In the Matter of Donald M. Mosley, 102 P. 3d 555, Nevada Supreme Court
(May 17, 2001). The Nevada Supreme Court upheld the discipline of the
Nevada Commission on Judicial Discipline. The Court found that this
judge had ex parte communication with a criminal defendant’s attorney,
should have recused himself in a matter involving a witness in his own
personal family law proceedings, and sent two letters to his son’s two
principals advising them that he had been awarded custody of his son and
requesting that they prohibit the child’s mother access to the child at
school. With regard to his use of judicial stationery, the Court applied an
“objective reasonable person” standard to conclude that the judge was
attempting to gain a personal advantage, despite the principals’ already
knowing he was a judge. The Court upheld the Commission’s imposition
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of the discipline: that the Jjudge attend an ethics course, pay a $5,000 fine
and receive censures for unethical conduct. Lo ,

- In the Matter of Sharlow, New York Commission on J udicial Conduct,
March 22,2005. A non-attorney Town Court Justice wrote a letter on
judicial stationery to another judge entering a plea of guilty on behalf of
his son and asking if his son's appearance was required on March 16,
2004. The Commission admonished the judge.

. Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, Supréme Court of Alaska

~(Dec.6, 1991). The Alaska Supreme Court judge in this case was also an
officer, director and shareholder of a company which was involved in

- litigation with another company. The judge wrote three letters to the
attorney for the company his company was in litigation with on judicial
“chambers™ stationery, typed by his judicial secretary. The letters
confirmed an agreement between the judge and the attorney, advised that

 the judge had encountered the Judge who was assigned the case, and
confirmed mailing of a settlement package. The judge also was found to
have created an appearance of impropriety by meeting with the Governor
of Alaska, a personal friend, to discuss a matter involving this litigation.
The Court issued a private reprimand. o

The court’s reasoning in this case was detailed and helpful. The objective
test the court used to evaluate the Judge’s conduct was “whether a judge
fails ‘to use reasonable care to prevent objectively reasonable persons
from believing an impropriety was afoot.” In re Inquiry Concerning a
Judge, 788 P.2d 716 (Alaska 1990).” The court found by “clear and
_convincing evidence that the stationery was an attempt to influence
 opposing counsel and other viewers of the letters or that it had this effect.” -
They wrote, “We find the stationery as used likely to cause members of
the thinking public to believe that [the judge] was unable to distinguish
his judicial activities from his personal ones. This failure to maintain
separate interests could lead a reasonable person to believe that
petitioner’s judicial d_ecision-making’ ability similarly might be
flawed.” (emphasis added) They also wrote that the judge “easily could
have avoided risking a negative effect on the confidence of the public in

- the administration of justice. Petitioner could have used [his company’s]
own stationery or plain stationery. Either would have avoided creating an
appearance of impropriety.” ' ' ‘

The decision set out a “four pronged test” for determining an appropriate
sanction, modeled on the American Bar Associations test for determining
sanctions against lawyers. They noted that “public admonishments
generally are administered only in cases involving blatant violations of the
Code of Judicial Canons, according to cases from other Jurisdictions,”
which they listed. They found the judge’s mental state to be negligent,
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_ rather than purposeful and knowing. The court “weighed most heavily
among the aggravating factors [the judge’s] substantial experience in the
practice of law,” taking “particular note” of the three letters on judicial
stationery. They found that the judge “should have realized that these
materials could come to the attention of the public and therefore
harm the judiciary, even if he meant no harm by them [emphasis

-added].”

e. In the Matter Concerning Judge Joseph E. Di Loreto, California
Commission on Judicial Performance, June 13, 2006. This judge sent a .
letter on “chambers” judicial stationery, which identified the judge as a
judge and which had “(personal)” typed at the top. The judge wrote to the
City of Downey regarding a dispute he had regarding alleged Municipal
Code violations, requesting an extension of time to remove his personal
property aad “implicitly, the forbearance of legal actions.” Previously, in
2001, this judge was disciplined (the judge was issued an “advisory
letter”) for using the same judicial stationery in a personal dispute
involving ownership of a racing car with a friend. The Commission found
that the judge’s use of the parenthetical “Personal” was not relevant. They
found, “The propriety of using judicial stationery in personal disputes
does not turn on whether or not the recipient already knows the
author is a judge. Rather, the use of judicial stationery is prohibited
under the canons in question because, in such circumstances, such use
involves lending the prestige of office or the judicial title to advance
personal or pecuniary interests [emphasis added].” The Commission
issued a “public admonishment.” -

2. Judge .Murphy aggravated his violations of the Canons by sending the
February 20 and March 18, 2005 letters to the Publisher of the Boston
" Herald. '

- Judge Murphy “should have realized that these materials could come to the
attention of the public and therefore harm the judiciary, even ifshe meant no harm by
them.” The Commentary to Rule 2A of the Massachusetts Code of Judicial Conduct
warns, “A judge must expect to be the subject of constant public scrutiny. A judge must
therefore accept restrictions on the judge’s conduct that might be viewed as burdensome
by the ordinary citizen.” '

Massachusetts case law has held that judges have an obligation to “take
reasonable precautions,” both on and off the bench, “to avoid having a negative effect on
the confidence of the thinking public.” In Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 788 P.2d 716
(1990), the Alaska Supreme Court cited a decision of the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial
Court (SIC) and held, “The duty to avoid creating the appearance of impropriety is one of
taking ‘reasonable precautions’ to avoid having a negative effect on the confidence of the

% In re Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333, 1345 (Alaska 1991).
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~ thinking public in the administration of justice.”® In the Massachusetts case, In the
Matter of Morrissey, the SIC held that a “careless disregard of the requirement that a
judge’s conduct be such as to av01d even the appearance of anropnety’ was sufficient to
support a finding of mlsconduct -

Judge Murphy’ _s letters were not part of any type of continuing confidential
settlement discussions. When Judge Murphy sent letters to Mr. Purcell, his only prior
- “settlement” communications with Mr. Purcell had taken the form of face-to-face
meetings, with the kriowledge and approval of counsel for both sides. Moreover, Judge
Murphy sent the February 20, 2005 letter to Mr. Purcell after being told that the other
side was not interested in settlement talks. - Judge Murphy sent the March 18, 2005 letter
after recelvmg no response to hlS February 20™ letter.

Judge Mmphy s statement in his March 18™ letter, “I will NEVER, that is as in
-NEVER, shave a dime from what you owe me,” suggests that, notwithstanding his -
attempt to characterize this letter as “settlement negotiations,” his intent was not to
communicate an “offer to compromise” but to put pressure on Mr. Purcell not to pursue
an appeal at a cost of “$331,056 /yr for the next two or three years.” o

Judge Murphy s decision to send the letters at issue in this case to the publisher of
a major newspaper, with a dally circulation of 230,000 to 240,000 readers,®constituted a
“careless disregard of the requlrement that a judge’s conduct be such as to avoid even the
“appearance of impropriety.” Judge Murphy failed in his duty to “[take] ‘reasonable
precautions’ to avoid having a negative effect on the confidence of the thmkmg pubho in
the admmlstratlon of justice.””®

3 Judge Murphy s violations of the Canons are also aggravated because he had
been previously advised by the Executive Director of the Commission on
Judicial Conduct, in August of 2002, to “consnder the appropriateness of
using judicial stationery for certain purposes. »l00 -

VIL. RECOMMENDATION N

The Commission respectfully submits that there is clear and convincing evidence
that Judge Murphy violated the Canons of the Code of Judicial Conduct with Wthh
he has been charged.

Based on the evidence présenfed to the Hearing Officer, including evidence
relating to factors which aggravate Judge Murphy’s misconduct, the Commission

% Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 788 P.2d 716, 723 (1990), quoting In the Matter of Bonin, 375 Mass. 680
- (1978). ,
°7 In the Matter of Morrissey, 366 Mass. 11, 16 (1974)
% (Tr. 202:20-22)

®Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 788 P.2d 716, 723 (1990), quoting In the Matter of Bonin, 375 Mass. 680
( 1978).
19 (Tr. 100:10-24; 101:1-2)
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respectfully submits tﬁat the appropriate sanction for Judge Murphy’s violations of
the Canons with which he has been charged is as follows:

1. Public censure pursnant to M.G.L. c. 211C, sec. 8(4)(e).

2. Suspension without pay for one year pursuant to M.G.L. ¢. 211C, secs. 8(4)(d)
' and 8(4)(h).

3. Assessment of costs incurred by the Commission during the Formal Heanng of
this matter pursuant to M.G.L. c. 211C, sec. 8(4)(g).

- VIII. CONCLUSION

-

For the foregoing reasons, the Commission requests the Hearing Officer adopt its
proposed Findings of Facts and Rulings of Law and its proposed sanctions for Judge

Murphy’s misconduct.

Respectfully Submitted
For the Commission on Judicial Conduct

Howard V. Neff, I1I
Staff Attorney

 by:

Dated: October 30, 2007
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Gallagher, inre, 951 P.2d 705, 326 Or. 267 (Or., 1998)

 and [326 Or. 270] to obtain public statements of

support for the judge's candidacy "
Former Canon 2 A provxded

- "A Judge should respect and comply with
the law and should act at all times in 2 manner

‘that promotes public confidence in the mtegnty

and 1mpart1ahty of the Judlclary "

The second cause of complamt charged that -

the accused had used official letterhead, his

Judicial assistant's work time, and other public -

resources for personal and campaign-related
.business. The Commission charged ‘that the

foregoing™ conduct - willfully violated former -
- Canon 2 A and current JR 1- -101(A) and (C) and'

: JR2-107 JR 1-101(A)Y prov1des

. "A judge shall observe: h1gh standards of
conduct so that the integrity, impartiality and

mdependence of the Judlclary are preserved and
shall act at all times in a manner that promotes -

public . confidence in the judiciary and the
_]udICIal system.”

JR l 101(C) prov1des

"A judge shall not engage in conduct that. :
reflects adversely on the judge's character,

competence temperament or ﬁtness to serve asa
judge.” :

JR 2-107 prov1des in part that "[a] Judge
shall be falthful to the law."

The third cause of complaint charged that

the accused had used his official position or -

office to influence or obtain an advantage in the
manner in which he corresponded with the San

Diego City Treasurer about a parking ticket that

he = had received, with " golf course
representatives, with airline representatives, with
a magazine, and with various other persons and

entities. The Commission charged that the

foregoing conduct willfully violated former
Canon 2 A, JR 1-101(A), IR 1-101(C), JR 2-

107, former Canon 2 B and JR 1-101(F). Former

Canon2 B prov1ded in part:

fastcase

A judge should not lend the prestige of the
. office to advance the private interests of others,

nor should a judge convey ‘or perm1t others to

N _ convey the impression that they are in a gpecial

pOSlthIl to mﬂuence the Judge "
[326 Or. 271] JR 1-101(F) provides in part:

"A Judge shall not . use the position’ to

advance the private interests of the judge or any -

person, nor shall a judge convey or permit
anyone to convey the impression that anyone has
a spec1a1 influence w1th the Judge[ ]"

The Commission also charged that a]] three

forms of alleged misconduct Violated  ORS

24‘4.040(1)(a), which provideS' :

"No publi¢ official shall use or attempt to

use official position or office t0 obtain financial

gain or avoidance of financial detnment that -
~ would not otherwise be available but for the

public- official's ‘holding of the official position
or office, other than [listed exceptlons that do

not apply in this case] " -

FINDI_NGS_ OF FACT

The underlying facts that we find in this

section of the opinion are not disputed. 2
A. General Background.

- The accused became a lawyer in 1968 and
was in private practice until January 1981, when

he was appointed as a judge of the District Court .

for Multnomah County. In May 1982, he ran
unopposed to retain that position and was
elected '

In the May 1984 primary, the accused ran

against four other candidates for a vacant Circuit
. Court position. He won election to that seat in
- the November 1984 general election and,
accordingly, began service as a judge of the
Circuit Court in January 1985. The accused ran

unopposed for re-election in 1990 and 1996.

B. First Cause of Complaint.



Gallagher, in re, 851 P.2d 705, 326 Or. 267 {Or., 1998)

In the 1984 election, the accused's
campaign incurred a substantial debt. In order to
-decrease that debt, the accused held his first golf
tournament fundraiser in 1984. [326 Or. 272] A
golf tournament fundraiser, called "Hizzoner's

Page 708

Classic" or "Hizzoner's Annual Classic," was
held annually from 1984 to 1995. The 1984
campaign debt was retired in 1989 or 1990.

The present charges concerning personal

= solicitation of campaign contributions stem from

the 1995 golf - tournament findraiser. The
accused sent a personal letter, dated August 18,
1995, to about 700 people who were on the
mailing list for his-golf tournament fundraiser. 3

That letter bore. the accused's courthouse

. address. After describing the results of the 1994
golf tournament fundraiser, the accused's letter
concluded:

"The 12th Ammual is set for Friday,

September 22, 1995, with tee times beginning at
12:15 at Eastmoreland. The Committee's letter is
enclosed.

_ "Once again, thanks for your many years of
friendship and support. Early next year, I will be
running again for a new term. One major

special-interest group has threatened to .

challenge my re-election, so your continued
support is especially welcome and appreciated.

"All the very best,
"[signature]
"HIZZONER"

(Boldface, underlining, and capitalization in
original.)

At the bottom left of the signature page, the-

initials of the accused and of his judicial
assistant appear, along with the notation
"[e]nclosure.”

P
[astcase

The enclosure that accompanied the
accused's letter in the same envelope, and that
was included at his direction, was a one-page
document dated August 18, 1995, from the Re-
elect Judge Gallagher Committee. That
document announced "Hizzoner's 12th Annual
Classic" and stated in part:

"CONTRIBUTION: $100.00, which may be a
:dollar-for-dollar tax credit on your joint Oregon
State tax return,[ 4] so it may actually cost you
nothing! Such a deal!

[326 Or. 273] " * * * Make your check
payable to: Re-elect Judge Gallagher
Committee." -~ @Boldface, underlining; and
capitalization in ongmal )

On a tear-off portion at the bottom there
were spaces to respond with name, address, and
handicap, followed by a space stating: "_
Sorry, I can't make it this year, but here's a
donation for the campaign fund." Also enclosed
was a return- envelope addressed to "Hizzoner's
Classic." That envelope bore the accused's home
address.

C. Second Cause of Complaint.

Judicial agsistants are state employees who
perform secretarial and other support services
related to judges' official functions. The job
description of a judicial assistant does not
include the performance of personal or
campaign services for judges. The accused knew
that his judicial assistant was a state employee.

Linda Austin-Croft became the accused's
judicial assistant in 1985. From 1988 through
1996, the accused had her type about 300 pages
of personal documents on public equipment and
during working hours. Austin-Croft generally
typed those personal documents during the
regular course of the work day, whenever they
were presented to her. Although the official
duties of Austin-Croft and the accused did not
suffer as a result of this activity, Austin-Croft's
typing of personal documents did not aid the
accused in the efficient performance of his
duties as a judge. Examples of the personal
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documents that Austin-Croft typed mclude the
followmg
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[326 Or. 274] * A leter o the Consul
General of France to’ secure a visa for the
accused's daughter

* A letter to the Commlssary at McChord
~ Air Force Base about cash register errors in.
relation’ t_o purchases made by the accused.

|- * Miutes of 2 neighborhood meeting. -

*_A letter to the presldent of Nordstrom

about:the price of a suit that the ‘accused had
bought

* A letter to ‘the pres1dent of Portland
: General Electric about serv1ce at the accused's
res1dence .

*. A letter to the president of Unlted'

Airlines about securing bereavement rates for
himself and his wife. -

¥ A pleadmg in the accused’s own divorce
case. »

* A letter about the Gallagher farmly coat
-of arms o

* A letter to the director of custom‘er :

service ata computer publication, threatening to
report practices to the Oregon Attorney
General's office.

* A letter to Golf World magazme,

- threatening to report its business practices to the
Oregon Attorney General's office.

K Letters to the San Diego' City Treasurer
about a parking ticket that the accused had
received.

A * Letters to his lawyer, his ex-wife, and
‘others about issues in the accused's divorce case.

Fad
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* Jetters about lns ﬁnanclal mterests m -
Ireland. ' '

* Letters to h1s lawyer and to a trustee in .
bankruptcy ‘concemning the collection of a -
personal debt owed to the-accused. :

* Numerous letters to his siblmgs and
others.about his father's estate :

* Letters to acquamtances about hlS St.
Patrick's Day party.

* Jokes and llmencks

-+ . +[326 Or. 275] * Letters to the? ”ortla’hd Golf..
Club dlsputmg charges on h1s bill.

Most of the. personal documents at issue

- were prepared and mailed on the accused's

official stationery and were. signed above the
typewntten official title of Clrctut Court Judge

In add1t10n to preparmg persona]
documents for the ~accused, Austin-Croft
occasionally assisted the accused during work
time with other personal tasks. She obtained

airline fares and schedules for him and booked 2 . B

flight unrelated to his work. On occasion she

- picked up his dry cleaning- and made haxrcut

appomtments for him.

Austm-Croﬂ also perfonned campargn-
related services for the accused, at his direction,
during work time. With respect to the 1995 golf
tournament fundraiser, Austin-Croft typed the

.accused's August 18, 1995, letter during working

hours and on public. equipment at the
courthouse. She had typed similar letters in
previous years. A

‘Beginning in 1985, Austin-Croft helped
with the annual golf tournament fundraisers in
many other ways as well. While at work in the .
courthouse, she answered detailed telephone
inquiries about the golf tournament fundraiser,
both on the day of the tournament and on other
days. The accused did not instruct her to refer
such calls to the campaign committee.
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On tourmament days, which occurred
during the regular work week, Austin-Croft
prepared the lists of pairings and tee times. She
took the prizes to the tournament site, where she
performed administrative functions, such as
collecting money. She ‘also rode around the
course in a golf cart with the video photographer
who récorded the tournament. In a 1991 letter to
participants in the fundraiser, the accused
praised his judicial assistant for those tasks,
thanking her by name as the person "who
answers all your phone queéstions, oversees the
distribution of towels, scorecards, etc., and gets
us to the 1st tee on time." Austin-Croft
performed those functions at the accused's

been her working time.

From 1985 to 1993, . Austin-Croft

designated golf tournament fundraiser days as

regular work days on her [326 Or. 276] time
sheets, even: though she attended to court
business for only a brief period on such days. In
1994 and 1995, on her own initiative, she
changed the designation to either vacation or
compensatory
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time. The accused approved and signed his
judicial assistant's time records every month.,

D. Third Cause of Complaint.

Beginning in about 1986, the accused used
official letterhead for many letters relating to the
advancement of his personal interests. In most
instances, the title "Circuit Court Judge"
appeared immediately beneath his signature. The
accused testified that "probably 95 percent" of
his "nonofficial" personal business letters went
out-on his judge's stationery. Some examples
follow.

In 1986, the accused wrote on official
letterhead to a trustee in bankruptcy (who is a
lawyer) concerning the collection of a personal
debt owed to the accused. The accused
previously had obtained a judgment against an

N
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individual who later filed for bankruptcy. The -
letter stated:

"Further to our recent telephone . -

conversation regarding [debtor's name],
enclosed herewith is a copy of the transcript of

-[debtor's] ~ judgment-debtor examination of

September 9, 1986. 1t is at this proceeding where
he admits for the first time that the amount of
the commission he actually earned immediately
before the date he filed bankruptcy was
$60,000.00, rather than the $30,000.00 he was
forced to acknowledge at the first meeting of
creditors.

M respectfully request that,‘aé“ trustee, you
deny [creditor's] 'claim’ in her son's bankruptcy
estate. It is utterly spurious, as is just about
everything these two phony baloneys do. If you -
have any doubt at all regarding these frauds, take
a brief look at the transcript. If the activities
described therein ain't fraud, what is?

"Thanks for your consideration.
"Very truly yours,
"[signed] Steve
"Stephen L. Gallagher, Jr.
"Circuit Court Judge"

[326 Or. 277] In 1988 and 1989, the
accused wrote a series of three letters to the

- Portland Golf Club, all on court letterhead and

using the title "Circuit Court Judge"
immediately beneath the signature. The first
letter stated that the accused intentionally had
deferred payment of his bill. The letter then
complained of various alleged errors of the
bookkeeping office and the dining room. The
accused enclosed partial payment and stated that
no further payment would be made "[u]ntil a
satisfactory ~explanation" of charges was
received. A postscript said:

"Your form dunning letter, copy enclosed,
was received by me on December 19, 1988,

calling for a response one full day and part of

another after receipt. By any measure, such

'
W
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madequate notice is both unreasonable and

: msultmg "

- A second letter detailed the complaints of :

the ‘accused and asserted that certain charges
should be deducted from his bill. The accused
submitted "the aforementioned balance as
payment in full" of his outstanding bill as of the
‘end of the previous month. The second letter
: concluded in part; '

"Kindly elther-rcverse the amount or make a

credit entry. on my next statement. I do . not
expect to have any unpald balance as of that
-date :

: "I am sure you can tell that I am not
particularly pleased with the way thls matter was
' handled " .

A third Jetter "ms1st[ed " on a reply and . |
reiterated that the accused "had been erroneously.

billed and should be- credlted w1th the sums"
- discussed earher ,

In 1989, -the ac'cused wrote to -thc ‘supplier
of a copy machine that he had bought at an

“auction, again on ‘Circuit Court letterhead and

again using the title "Circuit Court Judge"
beneath the signature. The letter stated that the

supplier had described the copier "as making -

copies in black or a selected second color.” The
accused stated that he had given the copier to his
lawyer and that she had told him that her
requests for an instruction manual, a warranty,

and information about a service contract had

gone unheeded. -

"Further, the machine I requested that you_.
deliver to her directly does not print in a selected -

second color, although [326 Or. 278] the
representation that it would was significant in
my decision to continue my blddmg to the pomt
of success _
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‘"What am I to conclude from this-

treatment? Do you intend not to fmmsh the

' fastcase

- Judge" beneath the accused's signature, -

described machine? Do you intend to leave us
without a manual describing the operatlon of the
machine? Are you not interested in pursumg a

service contract? '

' "Plea_se respond to my questions, in order
that I may advise her on how to proceed.” ".

I 1989, the accuscd wrote to an insurance

. company regarding payment of household and

automobile insurance. Among other things, the
letter asked "that you waive any so-called late
charges until we ‘get this matter resolved.” The
one-page letter, prepared on Circuit Court
letterhead, also used the title "Circuit Court

P

In 1991, the accused wrote to a computer
publication, again on official “Ietterhead and
again using the designation "Circuit Court .
Judge" just beneath the signature line. The letter
opened by stating ‘that the accused was writing

- "to ‘communicate my extreme displeasure .with .
_your company's tactics." After detailing what

had occurred, -the letter said in part: - -

"Your promotion was grossly mlsleadmg
and deceptive. What was advertised to be a one
volume edition * * * in reality turned out to be, a
series of volumes (how many, or what they
cover I haven't a clue) which come penodlcally

at your convenience.

1ok koo ko

"You will .receive" the third of the three
volumes upon delivery by the Postal Service.
You will receive the other two only after T have

"received from you ‘good finds to cover the

postage required of $2.94. T will not accept any
further of your pubhcatlons o

"My intent is to report your shabby
practices to the Oregon State Attorney‘General's

‘Office. Perhaps criminal sanctions are in order.

We don't like it much out here bemg duped by

" thiskind of deceptlon "

[326 Or. 279] In 1992, the accused wrote to
a physician who had examined his eyes and had
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recommended a change in the accused's
prescription lenses. The letter said in part:

"Upon receipt of your statement for the lenses, I
submitted it to Blue Cross, which denied my
‘claim because but 23 months (rather than 24
months) had elapsed -since the last time my
glasses were made. * * * "

| "I am enclosing my check in the sum of
$214.00, representing the billing of $324.00 less
the  $110.00 Blue Cross coverage.

Notwithstanding your assurance that I would be _

billed 'your price’, I have determined that the
charges incurred are 20--25% higher than
comparable -amousmts . charged elsewhete.
Nevertheless, I will rermt the balance of the full
amount when you send me a corrected statement
which can be processed through Blue Cross in
order that I receive the coverage contemplated
by the policy." :

. That letter, too, was on Circuit Court -

letterhead and' bore the title "Circuit Court
Judge" beneath the signature.

In 1993 the accused wrote on Circuit Court

letterhead to a representative of Golf World .

magazine. That letter read in part:

"The facts are these: in response to your
offer during last Christmas season, I ordered a
FREE subscription for my brother [name], and
renewed my own: Total cost: $17.47. In other
words, two subscriptions for the price of one. I

paid $17.47, and the last correspondence from-

me to [another employee of the magazine]
contained a copy of my check, front and back.
For the first time, I receive a letter from you.

"Either you are going to honor your own
promotional commitments or you are not. If you
do not, I will cease to become a Golf World
subscriber and report this entire matter to the
Office of The Oregon Attorney General,
Consumer Affairs Division.

"Very truly yours,

"Stephen L. Gallagher, Jr.

N '
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"Circuit Court Judge"
(Emphas1s In original.)

[326 Or. 280] The accused wrote a series of
letters to the San Diego City Treasurer in 1995,
protesting a notice of parking violation that the

Page 712

accused had received in December 1994. In this
series of letters, the accused made clear that he -
was a judge. :

The ﬁrst such letter, which went out on
Circuit Court letterhead, stated in part that the
accused and his wife "were flabbergasted to
have received a Parking Violation Notice.” The
accused's letter stated that they "had no prior
notice whatsoever" of the parking restriction in
question and that they had complied with a street
sign. The letter ended with the sentence, "Thank
you for your considerations.” Immediately
beneath that sentence, the accused’s name and
the title of "Circuit Court Judge" appeared.

The second such letter complained that the
accused had received a "form response" to his
first letter and that officials in San Diego had
conducted "no investigation of the conditions at
the " location where I received the Parking
Violation Notice.” The letter then continued:

"Why is it that:

"(1) You did not respond to me, when you
had a letter containing my complete name and
[courthouse] address and when you were
informed in that letter that I was the driver of the

. alleged offending vehicle??? It was your own

Notice that asked for this information, and it was
supplied to you.

"(2) No investigation of the scene of the
alleged violation was made by anyone, although
you represent by your computer-generated
'denial' of my 'dismissal request' that such an
mnvestigation has been conducted???

™
'
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"I hereby insist that you honor my request-

- for an administrative hearing on all aspects of
~ your shabby treatment of citizens who visit San
-~ Diego. With reluctance, 1 enclose the exorbitant
~sum of $40.00. I further request that you set my
‘hearing in late May 1995 on a Friday or a

Monday, so that I can come back to San Diego
over a long weekend. I also request that the -

photographs I included in my letter of January
23, 1995 be made available to me . at the
. heanng " (Emphas1s in original.) : '

[326 Or. 281] The accused sént.copies of _
that letter to, among’ others, the Mayor of San:
Diego and the Presiding Judge of the San Dlego :

: Supenor Court LT s

: A th1rd letter 5. contalned . factual -

" information -respecting - the validity: -of the
- parking violation, an affidavit from the accused'
wife, and this text i in pa.rt

"I am unable to attend the referenced
hearing in person, as I am presiding over a death -

penalty case [identified by. name and court
docket number], and several key witnesses are
~ scheduled to testlfy on Monday, July 17, 1995."

On Clrcmt Court letterhead also in 1995, -

the accused wrote to an Oregon travel agent to

complain about a car rental agency that he had -
. used during personal travel in San Diego. The
accused noted that he had been pleased by his

initial experience with that agency -and had
"authorized you to use my pleasant experience
to support your recommendatlon [to use that

agency].”

"Three months later, T write to revoke my
- previous .endorsement. What [the agency]
charged me on October 31, 1994 has practically

doubled in price. I paid $86.99 to rent a 1994

Nissan Sentra for one week. Today, I was
“quoted $169.99 for the same car!! As it tutns
. out; the only thing 'special' about [the agency] is

the outrageous  way they manipulate their

prlcmg

"I will not use [the agency] again and direct L

you not to use my name as a reference.”
(Empbasis in original.)
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The accused signed that letter above the
title "Circuit Court Judge" and sent a copy to the

car rental agency.
DISCU SSION OF CHARGED VIOLATIONS

In discussing the charged vmlatlons, we

- will limit our consideration to alleged-violations - . .
- of the Canons and Judicial Rules. Whether any . -

of ‘the accused's conduct also violated ORS
244, 040(1)(a) wou]d have no
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rbearmg on the conclusmns that we reach below

or on the sanction that we.deem [326 Or. 282]

‘appropriate. Therefore, we find it unnecessary to :
consider the poss1b1e application of that statute -

furtherj

. Al .Personal" 'Solicitation of Campaign
Contributions. ‘ ' ‘

- With respect to hls 1995 letter about the

. golf  tournament fundraiser, the accused .
- advances a series of arguments as to why he

should not be: found guilty of violating former

Canon 7 B(7) and former Canon 2 A. Some of .

those arguments assert that the canons did not in
fact prohibit his conduct. In-the alternative, the

accused argues that an application of the canons =

to his conduct would be unconstitutional.

A We need not decide ‘those questlons
Whether the accused is guilty of the violations

- charged in the first cause of complaint would not

alter the sanction that we deem appropriate. That
being so, we need not decide whether the
accused violated former Canon 7 B(7) or former

Canon 2 A as charged in the first cause of
complaint. '

B. Personal and Campalgn Use of State_

Resources.

In the second cause of complaint, the
Commission charged that the accused had
violated (among other things) former Canon 2

‘A, which required that a judge "act at all times
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in a manner that promotes public confidence in
the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary”;
and JR 1-101(A), which currently contains
_ substantially the same requirement. The accused
acknowledges the underlying facts: that--at his
direction--his judicial assistant performed purely

personal and campaign tasks on work time,

while being paid by the state, using state
property (such as letterhead) and typing
- equipment (such as computers) in the process.
Those facts constitute a violation of the charged
rules. Court staff, court supplies, and court
typing equipment are to be -used for court
business, not for personal and campaign
purposes. _

- .

The accused argues' for a "de minimis" or

"incidental use" exception to the foregoing

principle. An example given by the accused is’

having a judicial assistant make a personal
‘telephone call to cancel a lunch appointment so
that a judge may continue a trial into the hunch
hour. '

We assume that a "de minimis" or
"incidental use" exception is proper. Normal

“human- experience teaches that [326 Or. 283] -

judges, like other workers, cannot separate
personal life from work life completely. In this
regard, the accused’s example illustrates the
point nicely.

But the accused's acts, as demonstrated in
the record, can in no way be characterized as
falling within such an exception. Over a period
of years, it was the usual custom and practice of
the accused to make personal use of a state
employee and of state supplies and typing
equipment for personal and campaign purposes.
Those uses were substantial. Austin-Croft spent
almost full working days, for instance,
administering the annual golf tournament
fundraiser, and for many years designated even
the golfing days as regular work time on her
time sheets, which the accused approved and
signed as her supervisor. Additionally, the

quantity of the accused’s personal documents,

prepared by a state employee on work time and
using official stationery, was voluminous.

~
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We conclude that the accused's extensive
use of his judicial assistant's time, and of state

" property and equipment, for personal and

campaign purposes violated former Canon 2 A.
Taxpayers have. a right to expect that the
employees and the materials for which they pay
will be used for public purposes. Obtaining
substantial personal and political benefits
directly from the use of those public: employees

and materials runs afoul of the requirement to
"act * * * in a manner that promotes public-
confidence .in the integrity * * * of the

judiciary." For the same reason, the accused's:
conduct violated JR 1-101(A), which contains

substantially the same requirement.

C.Use of Ofﬁcé to Advancé Private Interests. -

The third cause of complaint alleged that
the accused had violated, among other things,
former Canon 2 A, which provided that a judge
"should act at all times in a
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manner that promotes public confidence in the
integrity and impartiality of the judiciary"”; JR 1-
101(A), which currently contains substantially
the same provision; JR 1-101(C),  which
provides that "[a] judge shall not engage in
conduct that reflects adversely on the judge's
character, competence, temperament or fitness to
serve as a judge"; former Canon 2 B, which.
prohibited a judge from lending the prestige of
the [326 Or. 284] office to advance the private
interests of others and from conveying the

- impression that others are in a special position to

influence the judge; and JR 1-101(F), which
prohibits a judge from lending the prestige of the
office to advance the private interests of the
judge or of another and from conveying the
impression that anyone has a special influence
with the judge. The Commission concluded that
the accused was. not guilty of the matters
charged in the third cause of complaint. Neither
party asked this court to come to a different
conclusion, and neither party briefed the issue
substantively. ‘
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Nonetheless, it is this court's task to
- consider the whole case de novo. Pursuant to
ORS 1.430(1), this court "shall review the
~ record of the proceedings under ORS 1.420

[relatmg to the Commission's, procedures
respecting charges of misconduct] on the law
- and facts." (Emphasis added.) We are mindful
that in some past cases this- court—although
recognizing its authority to consider all matters
- charged—-has chosen to limit review to only
. those causes of complaint against a judge that
‘resulted in a conclusion by the Commission that

the judge had violated a provision .of the Code. * -
See, €.g., Schenck, 318 Or. at 404 n. 3, 870 P.2d-

185 (reviewing only those causes of complaint

for which the Commission had “found-a_ willful _'
violation' of a canon). On the other hand, in

' lawyer discipline cases, the court has exercised
its authority to consider all charged  conduct.
See, e.g., In re Biggs, 318 Or. 281, 864 P.2d

1310 (1994) (finding additional violations of the
 charged disciplinary rules and increasing the _
* accused's discipline from a two-year suspenswn .

to dlsbarment)

“In this case, we exercise our authonty to .

consider all charged conduct, for three reasons.

- First, the conduct charged in the third cause of
- complaint is repeated and serious, and the nature
- of the charge does not ‘duplicate the kind of
misconduct.complained of in the other causes. of
"complaint. Second, we noté (as discussed more

~ fully below) that the Commission found that the

- accused had committed some' of the charged
‘acts; it went on to conclude only that the conduct
was mnot willful. Third, the Commission's

conclusion concerning willfulnéss is facially ) »
dubious. We turn to a consideration of the ments

 of the third cause of complaint.

[326 Or. 285] The Commission found that

the accused's use -of official letterhead and the
title "Circuit Court Judge" in connection with

correspondence relating to his parking: ticket in .

San Diego "would cause an obJectlve observer

" to conclude he was attempting to receive better -
_treatment than the average citizen protesting a

parking ‘ticket would receive."” We agree with
and adopt those findings. _

s
Tastcase

In addition, we find that the use of official .-
letterhead-and in most instances further
references to the accused's office (such as the
typing of his title beneath his signature)—in the

examples-quoted in the Findings of Fact above
‘would cause an objective obiserver reasonably to

" conclude that the accused was lending the
prestige of the office to advance his own private
interests. In some cases advancement ‘of ‘the -

private interests of others was involved, at least

in part: his lawyer (with regard to the matter of .

the copier); his brother (with regard to the

magazine subscription); ‘and his . wife (with - .
regard to the matters involving the accused's

own ﬁnancral mterests)

In this connectmn we note that the ofﬁclal
_commentary to Canon 2 B of the American Bar .
Association's Model Code of Judicial Conduct -

(1998) (ABA Code) states in. part

"Judges should dlstmgulsh between proper and .
improper use of the prestige of office in all.of -

their' activities. For example, it would be
improper for a judge to allude to his or her

judgeship to gain a personal advantage such as .

deferential treatment when stopped by a police
officer for a ‘traffic -offense. Similarly, -judicial

" letterhead must- not be used for conducting- a
" judge's personal business.” Commentary
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to ‘Canon 2 B of the ABA Code (empha81s

' added)

‘The relevant portion of Canon 2 B of the
ABA Code is almost identical to former Canon 2
B of the Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct and is
similar to the pertinent provision of JR 1-101(F).
Although this court is not bourd by the ABA's
commentary, we . approve of the quoted
interpretation.

Nottviﬂistanding its t‘actual findings, the
Commission concluded that the accused did not

~act willfully, . 6 but only [326 Or. 286]
negligently. We disagree with that conclusion on .

"willfulness" for several reasons.

-10 -
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Gallagher, in re, 951 P,2d 705, 326 Or. 267 (Or., 1898}

First, the accused's testimony demonstrated
that he knew what the ABA's commentary has
made clear: that court stationery is for court-
related business. Indeed, he had purchased and
used separate personal stationery for non-court
purposes, but his supply "ran out."

Second, the accused repeatedly used the
letterhead and title of his office in
correspondence designed to obtain personal
advaritages, including financial advantages, for
himself and those close to him. That frequency
suggests that the- pracnce was far from
inadvertent.

Third, the official. letterhead of the Circuit™

Court is colorful and conspicuous, and in most
instances the accused placed his title just
beneath his signature: Those elements suggest
that the accused knew both that he was using
stationery that featured his judicial identity and
that the fact of his position was likely to play a
“prominent role in the remplent's response to each
such letter.

Fourth, many of the letters were
demanding, and many of them asserted legal
propositions in close proximity to reminders of
the accused's status as a judge. Examples include
his letters to the bankruptcy trustee, the Portland
Golf Club, the computer publication, and Golf
World magazine. 326 Or. at 276-281, 951 P.2d
at” 710-712. Those factors suggest that the
accused intended his position to lend weight or
credibility to his assertions.

Accordingly, we conclude that the
foregoing conduct was willful and that it
violated former Canon 2 B and JR 1-101(F).

We also conclude that this conduct violated
former Canon 2 A and JR 1-101(A). The use of
one's judicial office as a pressure tactic to gain
personal advantages for oneself and one's
‘relatives and friends undermines public
confidence in the judiciary and in its integrity
and impartiality.

[326 Or. 287] Finally, we conclude that this
conduct violated JR 1-101(C). An inappropriate
attempt to gain . such personal advantages

N
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"reflects adversely on the judge's characte.r,‘
competence, temperament or fitness to serveas a

judge."
PROCEDURAL CHALLENGES AND.
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES ’

The accused raises several challenges to the
Commission's procedures. Additionally, he
presented several affirmative defenses. We have
considered each issue and all arguments made in
support thereof. We are not persuaded by any .of
those arguments, but an extended discussion of
our reasons would not benefit bench or bar. 7

SANCTION = | .
We begin our consideration of an
appropriate_sanction by reiterating the aims of -

judicial discipline:

"Judges are disciplined primarily to preserve

public confidence in the integrity and

impartiality of the judiciary. Thus, disciplining
judges serves to éducate and inform the judiciary
and the public that certain types of eonduct are
improper and will not be tolerated. Discipline of
a judge also serves to deter the disciplined judge
as
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well as other judges from repeating the type of
conduct sanctioned." Schenck, 318 Or. at 438,
870 P.2d 185.

The accused portrays this proceeding as
being primarily an overreaction to his asking a
judicial assistant to perform a handful of trivial,
sporadic, and incidental personal tasks. That
perspective misses the main point. Most
seriously, the accused systematically used state-
paid services, property, and equipment to further
his campaign fundraising and his private
interests, and he systematically used his position
as a judge to try to obtain financial advantages
for himself and those close to him.

-11-
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In setting the sanction in this case, we
consider several factors. to be significant. Many
of those factors point to the need for a
substantial sanction: The misconduct covered

) [326-Or. 288] in the second and third causes of

- complaint was frequent and formed a persistent
“and pervasive pattern of behavior. The
misconduct covered in the third cause of
complaint illustrated that the accused exploited
his position to satisfy personal desires. The
effect of the misconduct covered in the second

cause of complaint was to the indirect economic -

detriment of the public. The accused was an
.experienced judge at the time of the charged
conduct and therefore was well familiar with the
-~ high standards of behavior that the privilege of
* " judicial service demands. The accused's conduct
adversely affects the public's perception of the
- integrity and dignity of the judiciary. .

Another factor, however, weighs against a

-more severe sanction. There have been no pnor

: complamts about the accused.

The ‘Commission asks that we consider as
an aggravating factor the accused's "tactics
designed to  obstruct and delay" the
.Commission's processes. We need not decide

whether such tactics could be an aggravating -

* factor, because we do not agree with the

Commission's characterization of the accused's

actions. Although his defense was vigorous, it
was not improper.

Taking into * account the reasons for
imposing judicial -discipline, the nature of the

accused's misconduct, and all the other factors

described above, we conclude that the
appropriate sanction in this case is a six-month
suspension during which the accused shall not
receive the salary of his public office. 8

The accused is suspended from office -

without salary for a period of six months,
_commencing on the effective date of this
decision. :

fastcase

. * Carson, - CJ, and Fadeley, I, ded ‘not

participate in the con51derat10n or decision of

this case.

1 By order of the Oregon Supreme Court, the ..

former canons of the Oregon: Code of Judicial

~ ‘Conduct were superseded by.the judicial rules in

the new Code, effective .Tanuary 1, 1996. Order
No. 95-095 (Nov. 22 1995).

- 2 The reader may note, in our recitatio_n of the -

facts, conduct that could be characterized as
violating provisions of the Code other than those

~ cited in the text above. For purposes of this case,
however, we will confine our analysis to, those -

violations charged by the Commlssmn

3 More than 30 .reclplents hved. outs_lde Ofego’n,- A

including-two in a foreign country, and many
more -recipients did not live in Mulinomah

County. - Typically. the tournament itself drew -

between 48 and 62 players. .
4 ORS 316.102 provides in part:

"(1) A credit against taxes shall be allowed for
voluntary contributions in | money made in the
taxable year: :

"ok ok K Kk

"(b) * * * [T]o or for .t'he uee of a person who 'A
‘must be a candidate for nomination or election

to a federal, state or local elective office in any
biennial  primary -election, presidential
preference primary election, general election or

special election in this state. * * *

"k ok ok ok ok

"(2) The credit allowed by subsection (1) of this

_ section shall be the lesser of:

"(a) * * * [T]he total cemribution,'not to exceed

$100 on a joint return; or

"(b) The tax liability of the taxpayer.”

5 Between the dates of the accused's second and

third ‘letters regarding the San Diego parking
ticket, Austin-Croft also wrote a letter requestmg

-2
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a postponement of a hearing in that matter. Her

letter identified herself as a judicial assistant for

the accused, a judge.

6 As noted above, in this context a "willful" act
is an act done with-the -conscious objective of
causing the result or acting in the manner
contrary to the applicable rule. Schenck, 318 Or.
at 405, 870 P.2d 185. It is not necessary that the
judge know that the conduct in question violates
an ethical rule, so long as the judge is aware of
circumstances that make the rule applicable.
Tbid.

7 Because of the result that we reach in this case,
we need not and do not discuss the accused's
counterclaim for attorney fees in the event that
he were to prevail.

8 Cases that we have found from other
jurisdictions are not sufficiently analogous to
provide guidance as to the appropriate sanction
in this case.

Fo
fastcase
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' Iéildving'the preshge of judicial office to- advance the

- judpe’s private interssts, the judge is not to be

. evaluated by s subjective standard, but by the:
stindard of how an objective reasonable person -

would™ view the- judge's conduct.: Code- of
Jud.Conduct, Canen 2, subd. B. R -
[ dudgese=n)
: 227k11(2) Most Cited Cazes

State distict court judge's condugt in fssuing,

without - notice 1w  distriet  attomey, own

- reognizance ‘(OR) release of - former eriployes of - - -
judge’s friend, who had been arrested pursusnt to” -

bench : warrant for failing to comply: with
requirements of plea berpain in case in which

former émployee was -awaiting. Sentencing from -

another judgs, did not violate judicial eonduct rules
- requiring judges to majnfain high standards’ of
conduct, requiring judeges to comply with the law

~and to promote public confidence in. integrity .and:

" Impartiality of s

judiciary, and prohibiting ex parfe- communications, -

where it was common practies for district jidges to
‘trespond to calls from- the publis for OR releases,

"~/ und disirict attorneys had acuiesced. i the policy
' of issuing OR releases ex parts, Code of

Jud Condnct, Canon 1, 2, subd.- A, 3, sbd. B(7).

5] Jodges £211(2)
g]m?(gz) Most Cited Cases. -

State district court judge’s conduct in meeting in his
- ‘chambers with aitorey ropresenting  ctiminal -

defendant whose sentencing: following plea bargain
had been assigned to judge and who was living with
judpe's former gitifiiend, with whom judge was. in
- bitter custody dispute regarding judge's and former

girifriends child, vielated judicial conduct mle.

pohibiting ex . parte commumications; neither
-attomey nor judge notified district amomney, judge
and atforney discussed. ménts  of  crimiinal
defendant’s case, i.o., criminal defendany's: alleged.
cooperation with police, which would be relevant to
eriminal defendant's  sentencing, and . attorney

intended to gain procedural advantags by cansiag -

- judge w rocuse himself from: sentencing if criminal
defendant and his wife testified in child custody
‘matter. Code of Jud.Conduct, Canon 3, subd. l_3(7).

© JUDICIAL COMMISSION > 916172489938
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B Indges €11
-+ 227k11(4) Most Cited Cases : :

Public. censwre was wartanted as. . disciplinary
sanction for state disict court judge’s conduct, in
violation of judicial conduct rule prohibiting ex
parte. communications, in meeting, without notice to
distriet ‘attorney; in his chambers with: attorney .
wepresenting eriminal defendant whose sentencing . -
following plea bargain had been essigned to Judge
and who was living with judge's former girfriend,

~ with whom jidge was in bitter custody dispute

regarding -judge’s- sl - former girliziond's . child.-

- Coté.of Jud.Conduct, Canon 3, subd. B(7),
) Jedga €I

227k11(2) Most Cited Cases

Mivdges €=90()
227%49(1) Most Cited Cascs

" -Stats district court judge, to whom sentancing after .

plea bargain had been reassigned with- respect to -

‘crimindl defendant who ‘was living with ‘judge's -
former girlfriend with whom judge was involved in -

bitter custody batle regarding judge's and former

- girlfriend's child, was - required, -under Judicial

conduct mles requiring judges to ‘maintain - high-

“standards of condnet, requiring judges to promote

public ‘confidence in inteprity-and impartislity of

- Judiciary, and prohibiting judges from_ allowing

relationships to influence judicial judgmen:, to
reenss  himself immediatély upon leaming that
crimingl defendant and his wife had information

* . relevant fo the custody case, rather than ‘waiting for

diy. of child custody hearing at which eriminal
defendant and -defendant's wife would testify, Code -
9fJnd'.Con_duct, Canons 1, 2, subds. A, B, R

[8] Judges &=11(4) - -

227k11(4) Most Cited Cases

Fine of $5,000 was warmanted as disciplinary
sanction for judge's failwe to recuse . himseif
immediately, in violation of judicial conduct. rules
veaviting judgés to maintain high standards of
conduct, requiring judges to. promote. public

.~ confidencs in integrity and impartiality of judiciary,

and prohibiting judges from allowing relationships

to influence judicial jndgment, 43 soon as judge

leamed that criminal -defendant, whose sentencing

© 2005 Thomson/West. No Clain to Orig, U.S. Govt. Works.
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: followmg plea bargam bad been assigned ) _mdge,v g
.~ had ‘information relevant to judge's c¢hild custody

dispute with judge's former girlfriend, with whom

- criminal  defondant was living. - ‘Code of"

: Jud.Condnct, Canons 1, 2, subds. A, B.

191 Jndges e-‘-’ll(’l)
227k11(7) Most Cited Cases

State disirict coutt judga did not have due process "'-

right to present expert testimony, at Commission on

-~ Judicial - Diselpling’s disciplinary. hearing; regarding -
~ Whether judgo had. violated judicial condugt rles; -
“even'if the hearing prosented ~ismes of first

impression; Commission determined it did not need

expert assisiance, and expert's. testimony conld well
have been cimmlative because’ both sides had _

“elicited from witnesses opinions on judicial ethics.

U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14; West's NRSA chs:, T

An. L§8 West‘s NRSA 50.275

[10) Ewdence C=508
. '157k508 Most-Cited Cases

- The goal of expert testiniony is to prowde the tner' .

of fiet 4 resource for ascertaining truth in relevant

‘areas -butside the ken of ordmmy lalty. West's

- NRSA 50. 275

(1) Judges e—:»u(s.l)
227k11(5.1y Most Cited Cases
Statements that Executive Director of Commission

on Judicial Discipline made in newspapér article,

that . every state bas o judicial discipline
-commission, that constitutionality of Nevada's

-commission-had been upheld by the court, and that

- Executive Director did riot kow of any judicial
discipline = commission  that - had - heen  held
uncenstitutional, were permissible  statements

clarifying  procedural aspeets of disciplinary

proceedings.
*557 Dominic P. Gennle Ltd. and Donnmc P.
Gentile, Las Vegas; Neil G. Galatz & Associates

and Neil G. Gilatz, Las Vegas; Thomas F, Fitaro,

Las Vegas, for Appellant.

David F. 'Samowsh, Executive Director, Nevada
Commission on Judicial Discipline, Carson City;

Sinai Schroeder Mooney Boetsch Bradley & Paca. -

and Mary E. Boetsch , Reno, for Respondont.
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Georgmn Tbmnpson & Angam Chtd., and

Harold B. Thompson, Reno, for Amicus Cunae :

Nevada D:smct Jndges Assoclanon :

T Befare the Court En Banc. [FNI]
'FNL The Honorab]e Andrew a8 Puminem _

Yudge of the Fourth Judieial District Comt,
was designated. by the -Govemor to' sit in
- place of the Honorable- Myron' E. . Leavit,

_ Justice. Nev. Comst. att. 6. - § 4. The -
*- Honorabls; Michasl L. ‘Doiging- Justice,
- did not partmpm m the- demsmn of ﬂm -
matier; ’

_OPINION :
SHEARING, C.J. '

On May 22, 2000, o special prosecumr for the -

Nevads Comimission on Judicial Discipline ({the -

.~ Commission) filed charges against #5538 the
- Honorable Domald-M. Musley, District Jodge for

the. Eighth Yudicial District- Court, The - complmnt N

. conmned thie fol]omng al]eganons' '

Count 1, thnt Judge Mosley violated Nevada Code -

of Judxcml Conduet (NCIC) Canon 2B 'in August
1999 by writing a letter on official’ judicial

- letterhead to the pnncipal athis sons schooI

-Cnunt 11, that Judge Maosley violated NCJC Canon‘ ’

2B ‘in’ Pebruary 1998 by writing a lefter on officia)

judicial . letterhead to the pnnczpa! at hrs son’s‘
_ school

Count l]] that Judge Mosley violated NCJC o

Canons 1, 2; 2A,-2B and 3B(7) in Adgust 1999 by

-engaging n an ex parte canversation with his friend,
Barbara: Orcutt, regarding the arrest and reléase of -

Robert D'Amore.

Count IV, that Judge Mosley wblmcd NCIC

Canons 1, 2, 2A and 2B in August 1999 by ordering
the releass of Robert D'Amore on his own
recognizance (OR), without notifying the district

‘attarney's -offies, after the police arrested D'Amore

on a bench ‘warrant issued by a different dlstnm

© 2005 Thomson/West No Claim to Orig. US. GM Works.
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court judge;
Count' V, that Judgs Mosley violated NCIC Canon

3B(7) by engaging in an’ ex .-pare telephone
* conversation with Catherime Woolf, an " attomey

tepresenting Joseph MeLaughlin in o criminal case

© . thal was assigned o' fudge Mosley's chambers for.

 sentencing;

Count VI, that Judge Mosley violated NCJC Canon
3B(7) in-August 1997 by engaging in an ox partc

" conversation in ks chombers with Woolf; .

| Cowt VI, fhat Judge Mosley vioked NCIC

- Canon 3B(7) in August 1997 by participating i1 an
¢x parte conversation with Woolf, McLanghlin and
- McLanghfin's wife; ~ -~ - o

Count VI, thar Tudge Mosley violsted NCIC
Canons 1, 2, 2A and 2B by failing to recuse himealf .

- from MeLaughlin's -criminal case until after Mrs.
MeLaughlin - had - testified in - Judge Mosley's
eustody case;.- .0 . - .

Count IX, thet ‘Judge Mosley - violated NCIC

Canons 1, 2 and 28 by - communicating - with -
- McLaughlin's  wife cegarding  McLanghlin's . - -

incarceration;.

“Comr’ X; ‘that Judge ‘Mosley violared  NCIC

. Canons 1, 2 and 2B by assisting McLaughlin's wifs
- . in.obtaining the return of her vehicle; and

- Count XI, that Judge Mosky violated NOIC
Canoms 1,.2, 2A and 2B ‘b’y‘cmtinuingvym
communicate with McLaughlin and his wife after

‘October 10, 1997, the date of ‘Judge Moaley's

- recusal in the MeLaughlin® case, the comtinued
communication ereating an appearance that Judge
Mosley was . rewarding  the McLaoghlins for
assisting: him in his custody dispute. -

From February -25, 2002, through February 25,

2002, the Commission conducted a formal.

evidentiary hoaring. The Commission concluded
that Judge Mosley had committed the violations

alleged .in Coums 1, II, 1N, IV, VI, VII, and V1N,

and dismissed Counts V, DX, X, and X). The

' Standaid of review '
 Rule 25 of the Procedural Riles, for the Nevads .

- Commission also determined that the appropriate
-discipling was to require Ridge Mosley o attend the
- first general ‘othics course at the National Judicial -
-College at his own expense, to pay 2 $3,000 fine,

and to receive strongly worded censures for

violating ethica rules. =~ -

Jﬁdge Mosley sppesls, alleging that thete: was
insufficient evidence. to suppont the Commission’s
- findings and that the Commissioh erred in.other .

respects.. We conchuds. that clear ‘and eonvincing

- - evidenice supports the: Commigsion's findings<on-all- = .. "

couis but Counts-JII and TV and- affirm the
Commission’s dstermination of the appropriate .
. diseipling for Judge Mostey. oL

DISCUSSION

Commiission on Judisial Diseiplina (CPR) provides

- that "[cjonnsel appoirited- by. the commission to -
: Er;zntt’he evidence against the respondent have the -
n of proving, by clear and convinging Jogal .

ovidence, the facts justifying disciplins. in

confortnity with averments. of the formal statement

of charges.” In Goldman v. Neiada LCommission on
Judicial Discipline, this court held that *$59Article
6, Section 21 of the Névada Constitution "does not
contemplate this cour's de novo er independent
review of fastual determinations of the eommission
on appeal” [FN2] This court went onto say: -

FN2. 108 Nov. 251, 267, 830 P.2d 107,

"117-18 - (1992), overruled- on " other

- grounds by Matter of Fine, 116 Nev. 109},

1022.n. 17, 13 R34 400, 414 n. 17 (2000);

See also Nev..Const. art. 6, § 21. -

To the comtrary, thé constitution confines the

scops. of appellate review of the commission's

factoal- findings to a determination of whather the -

evidencs i tho record as a whole provides clear
and convincing support. for the commission's
findings. The commission's factual findings may
not be disregarded on appeal merely because the
Lircumstances involved might also be reasonably
reconciled with contrary tindings of fact. [FN3)
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FN3 ]08 Nev at 267, 830 P.2d at 118
Coiumts 1 & II Use of jua'zcml Ieuerheud

: [11[2] The ewdenee adduced at the hearing
- established that Judge Mosley: and his ex-ginfriend,
. Terry Mnsley, who is also- referred to as Tomy
Fighuzzi, have 2 child named: Michael. Judge
Mosley and Figliuzzi have been involved in'a biter
-¢hild custody dispite: In-June 1998, Judge Mosley

. -'was awsrded custody of Michasl After that

e “custody - ouder <vas-issued, Judge Mosley sent two -
- lettars to Michael's school.. Both of those Tefters

were ‘written on Eighth Judicial District Coust:

- letterhead. The leners explained that Judge Mosley -

- hiad been awarded costody of his son, and asked that
tha school prohrbnt PFigliuzzi from vxsmng Mlchael
a s«:hoo!

The lettets were -addressed 1o the. pnnmpals of -
" Michael's school, Diane Reitz and Frank Coopet.
.~ Reitz testified that it -was part of the schools

" procedure -to have a-letter along with a custody

order placed in the student's file. Reitz and Cooper
‘testified that they were not influenced by the fact
that Judge Mosley was a- district cowrt judge and
that they knew, befors' recewmg the’ letters, that he
was a judge,-

The Commission found that Judge ‘Mosley violated
NCIC Canon 2B, For Counts 1 and If; “the

Conumission ordered Judge Mosley to attend the

- first available peneral ethics course at the National
Judmal Collcgc at his.ovm expense :

NCIC Canon 2B provides, in pertment part e
A judge shall not allow family, social, political or
other relationships to influcnee the judge's
judicia) conduct or judgment.. A judge shall not
lend the prestige of judicial office to advance the
" private interests of the judge or others; nor shall
8 judge -convey or ‘permit others to convey the
impression that they are in a specml position to
influence the judge.

Whether ]udmal Jetterhead  may bc nscd for
personal reasons is an issue of first impression for

this court,” While NCIC Canon 2B does not

JUDICIAL COMMISSION > 916172489938

!?ages -

" specifically address the use of Judmal Ieuerhead for
personal purposes, the ¢ commcntary to NCIC Canon

2B provides soms guidapce: -
‘Tudges shovld msungmsh between proper and
impropor use of the prestige of offics in all of

their- activities. -For éxample, it would be -

improper for a_judge to allude to his or her

judpeship to gain 8 personal advantage such as -
deferential treatment when smpped by a polica -

~ officer for a traffic offense. Similirly, judicial :
“. letterhead must not be used for cnnducnng a_ -

“judge's personal business:--

A judge mmst avoid lendmg the presnge of' o
Judicial office for the advancement of the private * -
interests of others, For exampls, a Judge must not

use the Judge's Judicial position to gain advantage
i a civil suit mvolvblg a membe'r of the judge's

fapnily.

Tudge Mosley asserts that he d1d not vmlate ‘Nere

Canon 2B because both school pringipals knew that

he was 4 district court judge before he sent lettersto . -

thom on judiclal letterhead. Judge Mosley also
contends thit becsuse principals Cooper and Reitz
did not provide special treatmént to Judge’ Mnsley,
he was not advancing lns posmon by usmg his
judicial letnexhend

*86D [3] The United States Supreme Court, in
Inferpreting ‘a section of the federal judicial code,  * -

has held that a judge is not w be evaluated by a
subjective. standard, but- by the standard of an
objective ressonable person, because "people ‘who
have not served on the bench are often all too
willing to indulge suspicions and doubts concerning

<he integrity of judges.” - [FN4} In- Jnquirp
Concemiug a Judge, an Alaska: Supréme -Court-

justice sent thres letters . on  judicial chambers
stationery to. opposing counsel regarding a personal
matter. [FN5] The court held that it was frrelevant
that the “intended recipients of the lettérs were not
infloenced in. fact by the chambers sistionery."

- [FN6] The court noted that using judicial stationery -

for personal reasons would likely cause the public

to believe that the justice i "unable to distinguish

his judicial activities from his personal ones, This
failure to maintain separaté: interests could lead a
reasonable person to believe that potitioner's

©2005 Thomson/West, No Claim o Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.
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judicial decision-making ability similaddy might be

flawed” [FN7] | o
FN&: . Lillcberg - v, -Health Services

Acquisition Corp., 486 US. 847, B64-65,

108 S.Ct, 2194, 100 L.Ed.2d 855 (1988),
- FN5. 822 P24 1333, 15364(A]g§ka=199_1).- |

NG atid) L
¢ ':'l-;N7.Id.."' o -

.

. In imterpreting the. judicial canons, we adopt tho
~ objective reasomable person standord, In' applying -

that standard, we conclude that there was clear and

convincing -evidence produded -at the evidentiary

" hearing, that an objective reasonsble pérson could

- conclude- thiat Judge Mosley wrote ‘letters on his

judicial letterhead to his son's school it an attempt

to gaih A persenal advantage in violation of NCIC'

Canon2B. . = - _
“Cownts I & IV Ex paree

' [4 District fudge Yohn McGroarty testified that in.

1999 he ‘was assigned a ciiminal case conceming
Robert D’Amore. According to Judge McGroarty,

the case originally involved a burglary and a theft, A

which waz eventually negotiated. 1o atternpted theft.

Judge McGroarty stated " that the- plea bargain

requited D'Amore to make Tcstitution payments of

- $10,000 a month. Additionally, Judge McGroarly
testified that because D'Amore failed to atténd some - -

hearfngs or make payments, he issued a bench

wamant for $10,000. At the tme Judge McGroarty ™
issued the bench warrant, D'Amore had entered 3 -

plea but had not been séntenced. D'Amore was
_ eventually arrested on the bench warrant.

Barbara Oroutt testified that in August 1999, she
leamed that D'Amore, a former employee, had been
arrested on 8 bench warrant. Oreatt stated that she
talled her friend, Judge Mosley, to see if he would
issue an OR release bocanse D'Amore’s mother was

concemed abour D'Amore's health, and he would

‘not be a flight risk.

© 11:59 - JUDICIAL COMMISSION » 916172489538
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* ludge MeGroatty festified _that Judgs Mosley
. contacted him and asked if he would mind if Judge

Mosley issued an OR. release for D'Amore. Judgs -

- McGroarty testified that he wonld not have issued

an OR release becauss of the preexisting bench
warant. Additionslly, however, -Judge McGroarty
stated that he did not find his conversation with

Fudge Mosley unethical Judps MeGroaty alsa -

testified that Judge Moaley had the power to. issus
an OR release without consulting him and that the

- same.typs of situation had happened once or twice
- befors, When:Jidgs MeGioarty was™asked whether
* a judge with equal jurisdiction had overridden ome.

of his bench warrants, he answered "[nlat of equal
jidadon?

Poter Dustis, an investigative aide for the Las
Vegas Meiropolitan Police - Department, testified.

- that he had: severa) contacts with I'Amore. Dustin
" stated that-he received a telephone call from Judge

Mosley in Augist 1999 asking him what he knew

- ghout D'Amore. Aceording to Dustin, he told Judge
. Mogley that D'Amore "Was a con man and that . if

he was out be'd probably do it again.”

- Tudge Mosley stated that in his twenty-three years’

experience s 2 district court judge, he never called
4 district attomey regarding an. OR release.

~ Alexandra Chrysanthis, the district sttomey in

D'Amore's *561 case, testified that she would have
objected to issuing D'Amore ‘an OR - release had she
been contacted. Judge Mosley testified that he had

- already made tha datision to grant the OR release =
- -before he spoke with Judge MeGroarty, but called
“Judge McGroarty 4s a matter of coutesy and

policy. Further, Judge Mosley stated “that Judge
MeGroarty responded to his query about an OR
release, "Mos, it's your cill” Judge Moskey
nitimately calfod the jail and granted D'Amore an
OR release, ‘ R

The Commission found that Judge MoSiey violated
NCIC Canons 1, [FNB] 2, [FN9) 2A and 3B(7)

[FN10] by engaging in an ex paite cormmunication

 with Orcutt regarding D'Amore's arrest and release
-and violated NCIC Canons 1, 2, 2A and 2B by

ordering the release-of D'Amore on his OR at
Orcult’s request, without notifying the distriet

' ©2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S, Gov. Works.
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: aumey's oﬁ‘iae. 'I‘he discipline  that - the -
- Commission ordered for-the violations in Counts III .
- ami [V was "a strongly worded censure.”

FNS. NCIC Canon 1 pmvides. in pertinent
‘parc "A judge should pasdticipats in

establishing, maintaining and cnforeing .
high standards of conduct, and shall

- personally observe those standards 8o that

the -integrity . and * independence of tbe
' Jndimmy wxll be preaewed."

) '. FNS. NCIC ﬁanon 2 provides, in relevant. '

park.

A. A judge shall respcct and comply with
© the law and ghall sct at all times in &
* manner that promotes public confidence in

~the integrity .md impartiality -of ' the_

Judiclary.

. B. A judge shall not allow family, soc;al,'.

* political or other relationships.to influence

‘the judge's. judicial conduct or judgment. . -

A judge shall not lend the prestige of
' judlcml office. to “advance the . private

interests of the judge or others; nor shail-a -

Judga convey or ‘permit others to convey
-the impression that they are in a sPamal
position to influence the judge.

" FN10. NCIC Canon 36(7) picvides:
A judge shall. accord to every person who

‘has 2 legal interest in a proceeding, or that .

person's lawyer, the right 1o be heard
‘according 1o law. A judge shall not

initiate, pomut, ‘or consider ex parte
commupications, or  consider othar

©communications made to the judge outside -

-the presence of the parties concerning a

pending or impending pmccedmg except -
that:

~ (a) Where cymunm_ances require, ex parte'

comrmunications for " scheduling,
 administrative pmposes of emergencies
- that do not deal with substantive maters or
issues on the merits are authorized;
-provided: '

(i) the judge reasonably believes that no
patty will gein. a' procedursl or -tactical

" JUDICIAL COMMISSION > 9161724899G8 .

X Pége 7

,advantage a3 8 result of tbc ex parte.

communication, and
(ii) the judge makes provision promptly to
notify all other parties of the substance of
-~ the ox; parto. communication, and allows an
‘opportunity to respond. -
(t) A judge may obtam the adviee of a
.. disinterested expert on the law applicable
"t a proceeding before the judga if. the
judge gives motice to the parties of the
person consulted and the substance of the

= advice, and affords -the- parties- reasonsble:' -

oppormmtytorespond. :

{©) A judge may conslt’ wnh court
pemonnel whose function. is to aid the
jodge ~in camying. out the judge's

. ad_mdlcanve responsibilities or with other -

jndges. -

(d) A judge may, with the consent of the
jparties, confor separately -with the parties =

_and their lawyers in an effort to mediate or
settle matters pending before. the: judge. ()
A judge may initiste or cousider any ex
parie communications when expressly

_ authoﬂzed by law to do so. .

: Judge Mosley comends that the specaal pmsccutor' '

did not provide clear and convincing evidence that
ho engaged in an improper ex parte communication

| _With Orcoft, Instead, hc-asscrts that his ox parte

communications were &xpressly authorized by law.

»Accordmg to Judge Mosley, it was common
practics in the Eighth Judicial District for a- distriet-
. judgs 1o respond Io calls from the publio, police,

district attorrieys, and defonse attorneys rogarding
OR releases. Judge Moslsy also asserte that under
the totality of the circumstances, [FN11] including

- the common prachce in the distret and the fact that

his conduct in speaking to "Oreutt was not

considered unethical by the' other district judges, he
shonid ‘not bs found to ‘have violated the cods of

conduct.

FNH, .S'ee In re Greenberg, 457 Pa. 33
318 A.2d 40, 741 (1974) (voting that it is

the court’s duty to consider the totality of '

all the ‘circumstances -when determining

queations pertpining to professional and
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' Tesﬁmony from & mumber of district court judges -

© judicial diséi_;_;l'ine"; :

established that for many years,. the custom and
practice of some -judges in Clark County was

consistent - with - Judge Mosley's .ex. parte:
conversations with Orcutt, The judges tostified that ~
‘they would- get calls from police officers, defenss.
aMornéys and private citizens requesting OR -

" releases, .bail reductions or bail' increases. for

deferidants in custody. This practice continued with

the *562 Wequieseence of every district attomeylor -

~ overthity years. . -

The practice usu;illy pecured in- aitustions in which -
the . accused had not been brought before s

- ‘magisirate for an initial appearance, and it was

“understood that such relief would be reviewed atthe .

" first - appearance befors the judge assigned to the i
case. Since’ all ‘of the- districs “attomeys during the *
.entite period acquiesced in the policy; it cannot be -
“said- that. the ex parté conversations weré not
-approved by the opposing party. The disiict .
attorney at the timé of Judge Masley's hearing and )

the judges who. had been in piivate practice all had
paxticipated in the: custom of getting OR releases for

clients and others. Also, police frequently relied
-wpon -getting an OR release from a judge to help

them in their law enforeement acri‘yi;ics.‘

~ Jndge Mosle&'s tontact with Orcutt and his rolease

-of D'Amore was within the. spirit of the Jocal -
practics, It is tni¢ that the local: practice: violated - -
the Canons to the extent that the general public may -
1ot have known.about the procedures available and -

~+ORe veleases. were frequently granted upon the -
. requests of a judge's family ar friends, thus creating

~ an appearance of special favors. But, becauss-of the -

custom and practice in- Clark County, however
flawed, with the -acquiescence of “the district

artorneys, we. reverse the Commission's finding that -

Judge Mosley violated NCIC Canons 1, 2, 2A and

3B(7) as alleged in Counts [T.and IV, [FN12]

_FN12, Alihough we reverse the ﬁndfngs of
the Commission in this instance, nothing in
“our decision should be read to suggest the

© judges in Clark County may ‘continue the

 practices . that ‘do mot comply with the
-reeently enacted Rule 3.80 of the Rujes of
Practies of the Eighth Judicial District
‘Comtt. .~ R

Counts VI, VI, and VIIE Ex parte communication

" and delayéd recusal

[SHOI[TIIS]. Joseph MeLavghtin, was charged with

first-degree  kidnapping with use. of a deadly

weapon, robbery with use of a' deadly weapon,

burglary with use of & deadly-weapon-and chzating . . .. ... .
at gambling. MeLaughtin was' répresented on thesa -
~ Charges by attomey Catherine Woolf, Pursuant. to

plea’ negotiations, McLaoghlin plesded - guilty to
robbery and burglary withont the use .of a. deadly
weapon, and agreed to testify - “against his
co-defendant.- In July 1997, McLaughlin's case was

tmmsferred to Judge Mosley, -

Woolf te'stit.ie_d' that - sround August . 1997,

* McLaugtilin told her that Figliuzzi was Tiving at his

house, -and that-he was unhappy with the way. shs
was taking caro of Michae), her son with Judge
Mosley. Woolf testified that ‘McLaughlin' was
vnaware© at-this timoe that. bis- case had been-
reassigned -to Judge Mosley, Woolf also testified
that she told McLanghlin that if he cooperated with
Judge Mosley in the child custody case, Judge .
Mosley would - have to . recuse himself - in
MecLaughlin's oriminal case. She teshified that she
was unhappy that MeLaughlin's case - had -been :

 transferred to Judge Minsley becanss ho was known . -

a3 a harsh sentencer,

Woolf subsequently met with Judge Mrosley in his
chembers. Only. Woolf and Judge Mosley  wers
present, and neither Woolf uwor Judge Mosley
notified the district atfomey, Woolf testified that -

‘she siated at the begimning of the moeting that

McLeughlin had been assigned to his chambers for -
sentencing. Woolf testiffed that she-informed Judge
Mosley that District Judgs Gene Porter -had: taken -
MecLeughlin's ples ond that McLaughlin *was
cooperating With the- authorities on this case” and on
snother  case.- Woolf - also  testified that
McLsughlin's sentencing date had been . continued
due to his- cooperation in the other crimina) case.
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Woolf testified that they then discussed the -
information that McLaughlin and his wife had .

" _conceming Michael.” Woolf iestified that Judge
Mosley asked Woolf to meet with Judge Mosley's
attorney, Carl Lovell. Woolf stated that Judge

" Mosley never indicated at this mesting that he was
- planning to recuse hnnself from  McLaughlin's

crlminal case

A sacond-meeting took placé at Lovell’s ofﬁce with:
Judge Moaley, Lovell, Woolf, McLaughlin, and
MoLaughlin's: wife.- Woolf- testified that at.the .
mesting, Judga ‘Mosley disctased his son and the-
custody baitlé, asking .2 sories of questions
regarding Figliuzzi and Michael: Woolf stated.- that -
at some point in the conversation, Woolf again *563 -
“mentioned - that Judge Mosley was assigned to.

‘McLaughlin's ease, Lovell fastiffied that he fimt
becamie aware at this. meeting that MeLaughlin's
ctiminal casc had been. assigned to Judge Mosley,

After - the meeting, the MoLaughling - signed =
affidavits for Judge Mos]ey to nse in hls cnstody

€ase,

Accovdmg to Woolf’s tesumony, the McLaughhns

testified in Judge Mosley's custody case on Qctober

10, 1997. At that point, Woolf stated that she had
- not received notification that Judge Mosiey had
recused himself from McLanghlin's ctiminal case,
Lois Bazar, Judge Mosley's judicial - assistant,
testified that on the morning of October 10,1397,
the first  day -of the child custody heaﬂng, Judge

Mosley twld Bazar to vtecuse ~him from-

" MeLanghlin's case. The disrict court entered the
actual recusal order into the minutes on the
. afiemoon of October 10, 1997. Tudge - Mosley
admitted that the recusal order was entered after
‘McLaughlin's wife testified in his custody case.
Bazar testified that Judge Mosley's normal practice
was to wait until the next scheduled cowt date
before he would recuse himself, and that recusing
himself before the date for MelLaughlin's court

appearance deviated from Judge Mosley’s normal

pmcnce

T'he Commission held thet Judge Mosley vioiatod
NCIC Canon 3B(7) for engaging in an ex parte

meeting with Woolf in bis chambers as alleged in .

JUDICIAL COMMISSION > S16172489935
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Connt VI, that he violated NCIC. Canon 3B(7) by

engaging in an ex parte meeting with Woolf and-the

MeLaughlins at Lovell's office as alleged in Count - .
. VI, and that he violated NCJC Canons 1, 2, 2A and-

2B by failing to recusa  himself from the

* McLaughlin ¢asé wmil October 10, 1997, the date -
“of the custody hearing, as alleged in Coumt VIII

The discipline. that the -Commission lmposed for-
.Coupt VI-was a2 strongly worded censure,” for

Count VII attendance at the National Judicial

College ethics comso, and for Count VIII a SS 000 :

fino, .. e

" Idge Mosley argues that his comqersmions'- wefe‘ |

not ex parte communications because the rmorits of

- the ‘McLaughlin ‘case were not discussed during the
meetings. Howcm‘, Woolf testified -that. thcy did.
. discuss the. merits of MceLsughlin's case. Woolf

told him about McLaughlin's plea and alleged that
he was cooperating with the pahce. This is the vety
information that a sentencing judge would

consider~the fact that Mclaughlm WaS coapmnng :

with avthorities and testifying in another case. It is

‘information that is not appropriate -for ex parte

copversations 3nd should only be communicated

“with-the (hstnct attomey present. The Commission

could choose to believe Woolf's tcsummy

Judge Mos]ey also- argm -that this sxtuahon' '

concemed  an  emergency involving his son's
welfare. Even if an emergency . was. involved. the

conditions under which ex -parte meetings are .
allowed - were not. followed, as NCIC Canon 4
" 3B(7)(a) provides, in pertinent part; - :

Where - clreumstances requirs, ex pane

communications for ... emergencies that ‘do not.
desl -with substantive: matters: or issues on the. |

. merits aré mthorized; provided:

A (i) the Judge reasonably beheve§ that 1o party

" will ‘gain & procedural ar- tactical advantagc FX R ]

" result of the ex parte communication, and -

(ii) the judge makes. provision promptly to notify

all other parties of the substance of the ex parte -

comeunication and sllows an oppormmty to
Tespond, .

Substantive matters in  McLanghlin's case were
discussed at the ex parte meeting, and Judge Mosley
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dld nut'noziﬁ_y'thzv distriot attomey's office-after e -

meeting took place. Purthermore, there is also

evidence that Woolf intended to gain & procedural
advantae 28 a -teswlt " of these ex . parte
communications because ‘she hoped Judge Mosley "
wanld have to recuse himeelf if the McLaughling -

" testified af Yudge Mosley's custody hearing. Even

if the judge did wot know. this, the judgs -had fo.

realize that the McLaughlins would expect fo get an
advantage in the criminal case by testifying in favor
+ of the judgs on gma;tcrilnportant to thajudge. - .

: "-.Qnﬁnthvm adﬂr-éséés'thni.x.ni.ng >of Judge Mosley's
- recusal from the McLaughlin case. Judge Mosley-

.did not recuse himself from that case until October

10, 1997, the day of the child eustody hearing, -

- Since McLaughlin's attorney had oot bezn notified
* o any *564.recusal by Judge Mosley by the tina of
the hearing, it can be inferred thas the McLaughlins

did. not know. Mrs. -McLanghlin had = already -

testified on behalf of Judge: Mosley by the thma of
the recusal, . - : S )

Since Judge Mi:sley had Dot recused himself, the

McLaughlins may reasonably have believed- that if

they testified favorably to Judge Mosley in hig-ehild . -

-custody case, McLaughlin would have an advantags

at sentencing. Judge Mosley's delay in recusing -

himeelf also raises the implication that he wanted 10
make sure the lestimony was in his favor, not that

_he wanted to ste if the testimony was "genuine;” as-

heAalleges, o

3udge -Mns)ey»asééns that a réchsal s not required .

at any particular fime 5o long s it is accomplished.
Judge Mosley also argyes that judges do not have a
‘duty to reeuyse themselves unless a clear and valid

resson exists for doing 80. (FN13) Therefors,
Judge Misley argues- that he was not unrsasonable
in waiting to determine whethier the -McLaughling' -

testimony was genuine before he racused himself.

FN13. See Ham v. blsirtct Cour, 95'Ne_v.
409, 414, 566 P.2d 420, 423 (1977
(noting that * '[a) judge has a discretion to

diequalify himself as a judge in 8 case if he V

feels he camnot properly hear the case
because his integrity has been impugned' *

' P}:gc 0

 (quoting Stete v Allen-Superior Court No:

3, 246 Ind. 366, 206 NB2d 139, 142 ..-

(1965)). . -

- We .conclude that Todge ‘Mosley is wmng Judge |
Mosley should have recused himself immediately -

after he received a telephone call from . Woolf
notifying him.thpt the McLanghlins had information
about his- custody casa and that Mr. MeLayghlin

.~ wa§ asgigned t bis chambers for sentencing, As
- the  Wisconsin' Supreme * Court observed in
DBisciplinary - Proceedings Agoinst Carver,: fFN14) s

there i¢ 4 danger that & Judge’s Rilure to

. immediately recuse himself wonld lead- others 10
- conchide that the judge was not going io do so. ‘A
reasoniable; objective observer. could conclnde. that

the judge was using his position for personal

- -gfivantage, thereby diminishing public confidencs in.
- the integrity and impardality of the judiciary.
- Therefore, we coriclude ‘that the Commission :did

not err in determining that Judge,MQs_ley-’yiolptqd

NCIC Canong 1,2, and 3B(7).
| FNI4. 192 Wis2d 136, 531 N.W.2d 62,

0%, -
Eszertxvim. : .

[9] hudge Moslay .asserts that the Commission )
violated the Drie Process Clauses of the Nevada and-
"United Stafes Constitutions. by excluding the . - _
testimony. of ‘his expert witnéss, Professor Stempel,.

Stempel ‘had. been watching the procesdings from

. the begiming and was to act as a. Suimmary witngss,

stating his opinion as.to whether Judge Mosley had

e Yiolated the roles of ethics.

[10} Under the Commission ryles, fhis Nevada rules

of evidence. apply. NRS 50.275. provides that dn
expert may testify "[ilf seiontifie, technical or other

specialized knowledge will assist the frier of fact to-

understand the evidence or to determine a fact in
lssue” We have- held that "{whether expent

teatimony will be admitted, a5 well as whether a .

witness is qualified to be an expert, ig within the

district courfs discretion, and this tourt will not .
dishurb. that decision absemt a clear sbuse of -
discretion.” [FN15] The goal of expert testimony ‘
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s to provide the iier of fact a rosource for

-ascertaining truth in relevant areas outside the ken

of - ordinary . laity.! " [FN16] The Cormission
- detervivined that its members did not raquire expert
assistance 1o decide whether Judge Mosley's -
+¢onduct violated the canons.. The- Commission. had
~ . that .discretion. " As an- aricle “in' the Judicial
- Corduct Reporter states: S

ENIS, Mulder v. State, 116 Nav; 1, 12-13; -

992 P.2d 845, 852 (2000). .

" FNI6. Prablu v. Levine, 132 Nev. 1538;
1547, 930 P.2d 103, 109 (1996) (quoting
Townsend v. State, 103 Nev. 113, 117, 734.

.‘P.Zd 705,708 (1987)).. -
 Judicial* conduct organizations ofien have fhe

- diffieylt job of determining othical issues of first

“impression in-their. states,. or perhaps, nationally.
- "That impottant job should not.be delegated to an
cxpert. witness in-a procéeding, No-legal acholar

or judge familiar with the customs of a judieial -

. commumity. pojsesses dnique  knowledge of

. ethical standards that is more reliable than the
~ independent decision-making of the members of
the judicial- conduct organization. By relying on.

'their own expertise *565 as representatives of the
public and legal community, rather than the
opinions of experts, ‘a -judicial conduct
commission _fulfills  its . official public
responsibility to formulate the appropriate ethical

- - Standards for their states. (FN17]
. ENI7. Mala N: Greensteln & Steven

--Scheckman, The -Judicial Ethics Expert
Wimess, Jud. Conduct Rep., Wintez 2001,

Judge Mosley argues that other witesses were
used as-experts and asked hypothetical questions,
-and therefore, he had a right-1o -call his expert.
Considering that both sides bad elicited opinions on
ethics throughout the hearing from most witnasses,

the testimony cowld wéll have been cumulative, We-
-conclude that the Commission did not abmse its .
- discretion in excluding Judge - Mosley's expert

witness.

Page 11 .

Hypothetical questions. --

During the evidentiary hearing; the Commission

members asked a ‘number of hypothetical questions

of various wiinasses. Judge Mosley contends that

his due process rights ‘were violated when the
commissioners and the special prosecutor asked
unqualified expert witmesses hypothetical questions.

‘We disagree.

- NRS 50.265 provides that lay witaoss teitimony -
- ‘Tt ba [rlationally bssed-om the. perception of the: - -
wiiiess” and- “[hjelpful to a.clear understanding of -
his ‘testimony or -the - determindtion of a fact in’
issue.” - Tha - hypothetical -questions .that the
Commission asked-of judges and atomeys were all -
-~ questions that would be helpful to defermine a fact
* in issue, since most of the questions related to Judge -
. Mosley's ‘defense .that. his actions were part of a .
common practice in the. Eighth Judicia} District.

The' suggestion that the judges and sttomeys wers
unqualified to give their observations and opinions

- on tho common practies in the distriet is without-
metit. Both sides asked hypothetical questions of

wimesses, -most - without  objection,  The

- Commission was within its. discretion to ask the
questions and did not violate Judge Masley's right

to due process.

 The Commbbion % public stalements.

[11] Finally, Judge Mosley contends that “the

- Commission' made an improper statement in

violation of CPR 7. Wo disagres. - -
CPR 7 provides: '

In any case in-which the subject matter becomes -

-public, through independent sources, or upon 4
finding of ressonable probability -and filing of a
formal statement of charges, the commission may
issue statements as it deems appropriate In. order
to confirm the pendency of the investigation, to
clarify the procedural aspects of the diseiplinary
proceedings, 1o explain the right of the
respondent to a fair bearing withoot prejudgment,

and to state- that the respondent donies the

allegations. At ‘all times, however, the

- commission, its counsel and staff shall refrain
© 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig, U.S, Govt, Works. -
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frdm any 'p‘ublic or- privaie discussion about the
mefits of any pending _
discussion ‘which might otherwise prejudice a
respondent’s repwiation or rights to due process.

On May'9, 2000, Leomard Qang, the-Executive -

. Director of the Judicwl Discipline Commission at

- that time, stated in-a Las Vegas Review-]oumal»

aiticle thaty

[H]e could ot speak about Mosley's contentions

.that the coramission is unconstitutional. -

" Gang said every state has a judicial ti\sclplme:
- commiission, and-the Constimationality of: Nevadas“ .

. commission has been upheld by the court.
*The . comrmissions avotnd the United States are

all ‘pretty similar,” Gang said. "I know of no one -

that has been found unconstitutional.”

‘hidge Mosléy asserts that Gang's comments -
crested an appearanco of partiality on the part of the .
Commission beceuse ‘Gang duectly macked the -

" ments of Judge Mosley's legal posmon

We - conchide that.. Judge Mosléy’s “argument Is

- without merit. Gang's comment merely disenssed

the law #nd did not address the me.nts of Judge
Mnsley’a ¢ase. -

*568 C’ONC’L USION

'We affirm- the -Commission’s determination  that

B Judge Mosley viglated NCJC Canons 1, 2, 2A, 2B,

end 3B(7) in Counts 1, 11, V1, VII and ViU and the

" imposition of the chsctplme requiting Judge Mosley

hitp*//print.westlaw.com/delivery btml?dest=atp&format=RTMLE&dataid=A0055800000...

to attehd the next general ethics course at the
‘Nitional Judicial College, to pay a $5,000 fine to

the: Clark County library or a relatéd library
foundation; and 10 receive censures for uncthical

eonduct.
violations it Counts ﬂI and-W. :

AGOSTI J,, concm's.

MAUFIN, J. with whom BECKER, 5, and_ |
’ PUCCINELL] D.J., -agree, -concurring in part and

dissenting in part.

'l agree with our affirmation mday of the discipline

imposed by the Nevada Commission on Judicial
Discipling in connection with Counts I, 11, VI, VII

.end VIII.of the complaint against Judge Mosley. In

JUDICIAL COMMISSION > 916472489938

-or -impending matter, or

We -reverse the determination of -

- NO.398

i’a’ge 12

accordance with the majority, 1 would reverse the

.dlsctplma imiposed under Count 11, Departing. from. o

the majority, I would affirm the discipline imposed
with regard to Count IV.:I write -sepanately with
regard to the discipline under Counts I and IV, -

Count It concémns Judge Mostey's disoussions with

Barbata Orentt; Count IV concems the release. of

Robert D'Ambrc
- ‘For - msny years, magnstrates and district judges in -

Clark County have: released persons charped with -

nonviolent - -offerses” based: upon . -éx. parte: .
* communications. wnth attorneys and.-pevsons- from
. the community " at. ]arge, governed by the

- tomsiderations set forth in NRS 178.4853. This
practice has continued with the tacit agreement of -

the Clark County: District Attomney’s Office under

* the administrations of Roy- Woofter, George Holt, .

Bobh Miller, Rex Bell and Stewart Bell. Howaver,
this practics was generally restricted to situations in

~which the acomsed had not been bronght bofors 5

magistrate ‘for an initial- eppearanca, and. it was
generally understoad that such relief would be
denied when another judge had been assigned to the
case.. With the ‘reservations noted by the majority,

the practice provided essential complisnce with our . . -

judicial eanons, and very few sbuses of the practice

" bave been documented. In fact, the police -and the

district attorngys have for many . years frequently
velied upon. ex parte applioations for. velease of

- inmates iv 2id of law cnforcemgm initintives. [FNl]

FNL 1 am. the firsw' to -admit that the
general practice was in “part flawed
because the general public' did not have -

access .10 the pmetice’ except throngh. -
persons acquainted with municipal judges, -+

justices of the peace and district” court
judges. This court, in its recens. chaniges to
the Rules of Practice for the Eighth
Judiclal District, specifically. delineated the .

citeumatances under which judges may .

reduce bail withowt: contact with the state
pursuant to ADKT 340. In my dissent, I
noted my preference for creating

an “on-cal}" system for judges and deputy
district attomeys and -deputy city attomeys
to review informal ~applications for- bail

© 2005 Thomson/West, No Claim to Orig. U.8. Govt. Works.
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reduetions; -in this way, generl. aceess t
an initlal.

bail redoctons -~ prior  fo
appearance would be achieved.

Jn the Maner of the Proposed Eighth

- Judicial Distriet Court Rule (EDCR 3.80)
" Regavding ‘Release From Custody or Bail

Reduction, ADKT 340 (Order Adopting

Rule 3.80. of the Ruleg of Practice for the
Eighth Yudicia) District Court of the State
ofNevada, May 23, 2003).

'-"in my view, m&vcamunimhm betwcen MS' :

Orourt and Judge Mosley did not violate the local”

© pmctice. Thos, [ apree with the majority -in.its
reversal of the discipline imposed in conpection -
‘with Count JII of the comiplaint. However, Judge
Mosley should have never procoeded to release -
" D*Amore on his. own recognizance, D'Amore had

apparently absconded following entry of 8

negotiated plea of guilty to a felony sud was in

enstody pursugnt to a bench warrant. Under these

circumstances, Judge  John © McGroarty, ~ the
presiding judge in the casé, was not inclined to

release D'Amote, and Judge Mosley must have -
known that. the district aitorney would have.opposed.

the release. Finally, the' evidence before the

* Commission’ suggests that, while Judge Mosley

tontacted Judg¢ MeGroarty, he did so only-as &
formality, having determined to release D'Amore in
any event. In short, this exercise of judicial power

~had every sppearance of an act of favon’asm takenA

without regard to its metits.

Becanse Judge Mosleys rclcase of D'Amore was

. not in conformity with the then-accsptod practice of

~ issuing such releases *567 without initiating contact
- with the district attomey's office, and becanse this
_ relesse clearly -implicates Canon 2 -of the Nevada

Code of Judicial Conduct, we should affirm the
Commission's imposition of discipline under Count
IV of the complamt.

BECKER, J. and PUCCINELLY, D.J., concur,

ROSE, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part.

1 concur with the majority's conclusion,” exccpt that
I do not betieve that there was clear and conwncmg

JUDICIAL COMMISSION > 916172489938

“in Count

-althongh. - Jmige‘ ~“Mogley. - ~did -
comiviimications with Mclanghlin and Woolf
absent the presence of, .or notification to, the State,.
the commmnications at Lovell's -office dd not.
. pertainy ‘to the merits - of McLaughlin's pending -
- Commission-  was -
presented with no tastimony to show that the merits -

~

Page 13

evidenco pmdnced to support. the a]legzmons roade

indicates that during My Pitara's cross-examination
of Woolf, he specxﬁcally asked Woolf whether the
communication- in Lovell's office as alleped in

VII, conceming  ths - parte
communications in  Lovell's ofﬁc& The record:

Page 140716

Coumt VII. .was an irproper ex panc_»

communication. Woolf, responded negatively and
explained that nothing abiout the case was discussed

" other than the fact that MeLaughlin was a defendant

in- front of Judge Mosley, Thus it appears that,

crimipal proceeding. - The

of McLaughlin's .case wers discussed during the

communications at Lovell's office. To the contrary,

other than. Woolfs mention of -the procedural
posture of McLaughhn’s case, it appedrs_that Judge
Mosley's * communications with MeLaughlin. and

- Woolf were: limited to the sibjest of Terry
»Figlmzms parenting of Michael,

and- thése
commumications did mot affect the substance or
merits of the State's prosecution of McLaughlin.
(FN1} While Judge Mosley may have been using
his position as a judge presiding over McLaughlin's

case to obtain favorable evidence in his cusiedy .
case with Terry Figliuzzi, that is not the charge .
~‘brought against him, Therefors, I conclude tha

there was by definition no violation of the ban on ex

parts. contacts concerning a pending or impending -
proceeding, and Judge Mosley did not violate -

NCIC Canon 3(B)(7) a3 regards Count VL

FN). See Matter of Varain, 114 Nev. -
1271, 1277, 969- P2d 305, 309 (1998) -

(observing that the judge's  brief
communication with the defendant did not

affect the substance or merits of the State’s -

prosecution), .
GIBBONS, J., dissenting.
1 respectfully dissent from the imjority‘s conchision

* that-we shonld afﬁrm’ the decision of the Nevada
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ttp://print wesilaw.com/delivery himl?dest=atp&format=ETMLE&dataid=A0055800000..

-engage - in.

@

713/2005

‘P14




01/24/2087 - 11:59

102P3d555
102p3dsss
 (Citeas: 02 Pa%E9

Camission on Judmml Dlsmplme

We have previously held that pu’ecludmg the.
. admission” of evidance that supports an experts -
. opinion may constitute an sbuse of diseretion. [FN1) .

In Born v. Eisenman, [FN2] a patient susd two
mrgeons for medical malpractice in -performing: sn
- abdominal surgery, The surgeons' experts tastified

- “that the patient’s injuries could mot hive- resulted -

from- the surgeens' negligence becanse sich result
wag medically impodsible., [FN3) Judge Mosley; as

-, -the presiding district judge, presinded the patient's
* expent from refering to 2 prior Colorado: case

describing ‘a similar- swgical cvent, and the jury

found for the surgeons. [FN4] Ws rovarsed Tudge -
Mosley's deeision and concluded that he absed hiz-

diseretion by prohibiring the patients expert from
mfemng to the Colorado case while allowing the

surgeons' experls to testlfy a8 mcdicali ,

impossnh‘hty [FN5] -

FN] Bom v E‘wenman. ‘114 Nev. 854, - .-

962 P.24 1227 (1998). -

. EN2.Jd. ar85556, 962 P-2d 2t 1228.
FN3. 4 01858, 562 P2d ot 1229-30.
VA I 857-58, 962 P.2d '1229-30.
NS 861,962 md o123,

The case of bor goés a ste'p fnnher loffray - -

Stempel, a professor of law and author of several
articles on Jegal ethics, proposed to testify on Judge
Mosley's behalf. Professor Stempel attemypied to

" render an opmnon on the judicial ethics questions in .

this -~ case, but ‘the Commission precluded his
testimony.

n P!neda v. State. we held that a defend;mt i8

entitled 1o calf an expert witness *568 when. the
axpert's testimony will be helpful to the irier of fact
and corroborates the theary of defonse. [FN6) We

beld that " '[the due process elauses in. our .

congtitutions assure an accused the Tight to
introduce ‘into  evidence anmy testimony or
documentation “which would tend to prove the

“JUDICIAL COMMISSION > 516172489958

-Page 14

defondant's theory of . the - casc." ! [FN7] Judge

~ Moaley planned to call Professor Stempel to testify

rogarding whother Judge Mosley viclated the code

- of judicial conduct. Professor Stempel's testimony

was intended to advance- Judge Masley's theory of
the ecase. Aceordingly, dne process requires that

.. Tndgs Mosley be allowed to présent that tesﬁmony.
- FN6, 120 Nev. 204, s, 88 P34 827, |

‘ 833-34 (2004)

 FNT. I 3t —y 88, Pt 884 (quoﬂng{ -
. Vippérman v. State, 96 Nev. 592, 59, 614 =

20532, 534 (1980) (emophasis added)). .

e ruajodty cltés o an article from the Judicial
Conduet Repotter to support its decision t6 deny

udge Mosley's right fo due process. The authors

of that- article copolude. that *[n]o legal schalar or -

judgs .. » ‘passesses unique . knowledgs - of ethical

standards that is more reliable than the indépendems '

decision-making of the -members of the judicial
conduct okganization.” [FN8] I disapres. Judga

" Maslay's tight to procedual due pmcess trumps the

authars' opinions.

FNS. Marda N, Greenstem & Stcven :
Scheckman, The Judicial Ethics Expert-

Witness, Jud. Conduct ch, Winter 2001
atl . _

Apart from dus process sonmdemnons, there'axe :

other valid Jusﬁﬁmmons for admitting expert
testimony on judiclal ethics.. West Virginia

‘University_ Collego of -Law Professor Carl M.

Selinger has detailed three such Justifications: (1)

. the inaccessibility of legal -ethics law,- (2) -the :
advantage of objectivity, and (3) the advantage of

cross-examination, [FNB]
FNO. Sez Carl M. Selmgcr, The:

Prodleinatical Role - of  the Legal Ethies

Experr Witness, 13 Geo. J. Legal Bthics
405, 409-18 (2000). - Though Professor

"Selmger ulimately concluded that other -

cthical  concerns ontweigb these
justifications, he. did not suggest that the
justifieations are wnhout raerit. Rathor, his

© 2005 Thomson/Wast. No Clmm to Ong U.S. Govt, Works
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-~ true -because the -decision to.” consider -expert -
testimony, subject to cross-examination, is "superior
“to’ relying only- on the judge’s, or a law clerk's, -
independent research, or on .the arguments of

- article endorsed the use of ethics axpents as

advocates, as opposed to expert witnésxs,

- a5 a beiter mgans of determining Whether

‘particular - activitios
violations. .

First, the. relative Inaccessibility. of legal cthics law
. supports the admission of expert itestimony.. "[A)s
- more ¢ethics rules are drafted to cover only lawyers
. in particular practice contexts, it is-possible-for such -
Tules fo be much more accesgible to, and readily
dnderstood: by some: lawyers-than others® [FN10) . ..
*- Such inaccessibility may suppart the admission of =

expert testimany even where the decision maker i3
relatively familiar with the rules at fssue. This is

non-scholar advocates.” [FN11).1 suggest that this

~ proposition is also applicable to cases tried befors. -
 the Commission on Tudicial Discipline, -

FNI0.J. at 411,
FNI. 1 |

"~ Further, ihe admigsion of export trstimony provides
.the advantage of objectivity. "From the poitt of

view of achieving justice, the main advantage that

- ¢am be cited Tor the admission of legal ethics expert.

testimony i that it provides decisionmakers with
more objective. analysis of the -issues than they

- would gain from advocacy alone.” (FN12) This is

true because. the - scholér expett: hss mo

- attomey-client relationship with the accused; thus,

he has no-duty te tailor his testimony regarding the

* alleged ethical violations to fit the defense’s theory -

of the case. Indeed, such tailoring would vuin the

. scholar’s reputation 85 an expent in the field whose

opinions could be wusted by courts and diseiplinary
bodies, [FN13] -~ . | ,

FN12, X at 414.
FNI3. /d _

Finally, the admission of expert téstimony provides

JUDICIAL COMMISSION > 516172485938

constitute  ethical

-Tight to prégent expert
. theoty of the case.

Page 15

the advantage of cross-examination. A§ Professor

Selinger  siates, the  oppormumity . for
cross-examination allows for a2 more  thorough

mmalysis of the experi's”opinion regarding ethical

violations:

"Mf an expert testifiss “before the court,

crosz-examination is available.. This, the *569
basas of the expert's conclusions can be tested.

However, if the court simply reads law veview :
. articles .or_ books ‘written: by that same expert,

tToss-xamination is not available and it is more

.. difficult -to- attack: the: mliabﬂi?;? o thie opinions-

- expressed.” [FN14]

FNI4. I 8t 417 (quoting Charles W.
Ebrhardt, The Conflict Concerning Expert

. Witmesses and- Legal Conchusions, 92 W.

. Va.L.Rev. 643, 672 (1990)).

Thus, this testimony allows the decision méﬁ:r to -
consider the expert's objective opinion regarding

the slleged ethical violations. 'Admission further
subjocts the testimony to serutiny from both the

disciplinary body and opposing counsel. | submit
- . that this system, though not universally endorsed, is

preferable to the decision to deny. Judge Mosley's

estimony in support of his

In coriclosion, the Commission's . actions were -

improper and constitute an ‘abuse ‘of -discretion.
Judge Mosley had a due process right to present
axpert - tostimony in support of his theory .of the
case. Furthermors, Professor Stempel's testimany
may have been helpful to the Commission in

reaching its decision, Accordingly, 1 would reverse - -

the decision and remand ‘this case to the
Commission with instructions to consider. Professor
Stempel's testimony, '

END OF DOCUMENT
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_ 2. Onor about F ebruary 10,2004, respondent S son, Jordan P. Shar]ow then age 16, .
© was charged in the Massena Village Court with Trespass, in violation of Section 140.05 of the
- Penal Law. The case was transferred to the Brashér Town Court after the Massena village justices
~ disqualified themselves from the case, and Brasher Town Court Justice J eremrah D. Mahoney
scheduled the arralgnment for March 16, 2004. - .

3 Prior'to March 16 2004, respondent wrote a letter to Judge Mahoney on Massena
- Town Court statlonery, inter alia putporting to enter a plea of not guilty ont behalf of his sonand
o askmg whether Judge Mahoney strll reqmred hls son s appearance on: March 16 2Q04 =

_ '4 As a result of receiving respondent’s Ietter Judge Mahoney adjourned the matter '
and dlsquahﬁed himself from Jordan Sharlow’s case, causing the case to be transferred to another "
- judge. Respondent subsequently hifed an attorney to represent his son and; on the consent of: the
district attorney’s office, the charge agamst respondent’s son was ultlmately ad] oumed in -
contemplatron of d1sm1ssa1 , _ v

5. Respondent re*grets h1s conduct. He recogmzes that it Was nnproper to use hlS o
court statlonery to mtercede with another judge on his son’s behalf : .

’ , Upon the foregomg ﬁndmgs of fact, the Commrss1on concludes asa matter of law that -
‘respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100. 2(A), 100.2(B) and 100.2(C) of the Rules Governing .
-~ Judicial Conduct and should be disciplined for cause, pursuant to Article 6,-Section 22, subdivision .
. a, of the New York State Constitution and Section 44, subdivision 1, of the. Judlcrary Law. Charge:
. Tofthe Formal Wntten Complamt is sustalned and respondent’s m1sconduct 18 estabhshed ‘

_ By wntmg a letter on Jud1c1a1 statlonery to the judge pres1d1ng n h1s son’s case, respondent
- violated well-established ethical standards barring a judge from lending the prestige of judicial - _ :
office to advance the private interests of the judge or others. Section 100 2(C) of the Rules : A4
-Governing Judicial Conduct; Matter of Edwards v. State Comm: on Judicial Conduct, 67 NY2d 153. . i
 (1986)." See also, Matter of Nesbitt, 2003 Annual Report 152 (Comm. on Judicial Conduct) (judge -
“sent a letter on judicial statiohery challenging an administrative determination concerning the .
Jjudge’s son); Matter of Pennington, 2004 Annual Report 139-(Cormm. on Jud1c1a1 Conduct) (judge -
- met wrth the district attorney to discuss his son’ 8 case) _ :

In the letter, respondent acted as his son’s advocate noting that he had requested but ot - . H
received a copy of the accusatory instrument, entering a not guilty plea on. ‘his son’s behalf, and L :

- asking the presiding judge to-advise him if his son had to appear on the date scheduled for : P
arralgnment Section 170.10(1) of the Criminal Procedure Law requires a defendant’s personal -~ :

appearance in court for arraignment, and a plea of not 0'u11ty cannot be entered by marl

Notwrthstandmg the absence of an explicit request for favorab]e treatment such a
communication conveys an implicit- request for special consideration, which constitutes favoritism.
* Matter of Edwards, supra. Such conduct “is wrong, and always has been wrong” (Matter of. Byrne,
47 NY2d [b] [Ct. on the Judiciary 1979]). Indeed, after receiving respondent’s letter, the presrdmg
judge felt constrained to d1squa11fy himself from the case. .- . _

. Although respondent’s desire to assist his son is understandable, his “’patemal instincts’ do
not justify a departure ﬁ'om the standards expected of the Judrclary” (Matter of Edwards supra, 67
“NY2d at 155) .

By reason of the foregomg, the Commission determmes that the appropnate dlsposrtron is

hitn:/irww _scic state nv ne/Defarminatinne/Q/charlnur him 1m210n077 .



Sharlow o | | | Page 3 of 4

admonition :

Mr. Goldman Mr. Emery,Mr Felder, Ms. Hernandez Judge Peters, Mr. Pope and Judge |
‘Ruderman concur.

» Judge Ciardullo and Mr. Coffey dissent and vote to rejeCt the Agreed Statement on the basis
that the disposition is too harsh and that the appropn'ate disposition 1s a letter of caution. :

Ms DlPln'O and Judge Lumano were not present

Dated March 22, 2005

' DISSENTING OPINION BY JUDGE 'CIARDULLO IN WHICH MR. COFFEY J OINS' -‘

I cannot Jom in the maJonty opinion, because I beheve that the penalty is too harsh for the
misconduct. Because this case involves a single instance, and for the reasons set forth below, I |
would issue the respondent a private letter of caution. :

Respondent, a judge in the Massena Town Court-and a parent of a 16 year old son, wrote a letter on
his court stationery to the judge in the Massena Village Court. The letter states:

Dear Judge Mahoney,

Judge sorry to have to come [sic] you with this case pending against my son Jordan
P. Sharlow case #04030004.9 PL 140.05 Trespass. At this time after conversation of
this incident and lack of accusatory instrument and supporting statements I requested
from the Massena Village Police Department my son pleads NOT GUILTY to the
charge. If you still want my son to appear 3/16/2004 advise. Otherwise set for trial.
I have heard nothing from the District attorneys office. Agaln sony this has been
sent to your Court. :

Respectfully Yours,
Hon., Gerald P. Sharlow
Massena Town Justice

It was wrong for respondent to send this letter on court stationery, a fact that he admits.
Using his title and judicial office in this manner plainly violated ethical rules and lent the prestige
of his office to advance private interests (Section 100.2[C]).

Even if respondent had not used his court stationery or judicial title to communicate with
the arraigning court, the circumstances here warrant a cautionary statement. The record shows that
respondent retired from the Massena Police Department after 25 years, and the Village court was
situated within the Town of Massena. Both Village justices recused themselves from hearing the
case. Because respondent was apparently well known, it is likely that any communication from the
respondent to the Village court would create the appearance that he was invoking the prestige of his
judicial office.

I am not prepared to state, however, that a judge who is a parent of a minor child may never
appear or communicate with a court that is presiding over charges involving that child. A judge

I ¥ P A ™~ M e L a A 1 1 . . tmA A~ A -
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4 ._-.does not lose his or her rights and responsibilities as a parent simply-because he or she holds
judicial office. There are many situations where a minor legally lacks capacity to act and the parent
 must act for the child (for example, under Public Health Law §2504, a minor under the age of 18
~ - legally cannot consent to medical treatment). . Therefore, I donot condemn judges who appear in
.. court, communicate with a prosecutor, or otherwise assist a child in trouble. In my view, an ethical
.. problem arises only where the judge is known to be a judge and this knowledge is likely to result in
favoritism. Those circumstances were present in this case. -Respondent ultimately took the -
- appropriate action to cure the impropriety by refaining an attomey to represent his son. . -

©+ .. - Idisagree with the majority, howevet, that this case warrants a publi¢'sanction. I do not
- read respondent’s letter as requesting any special consideration. ‘Rather; the letter simply asks the
- court whether deféndant must appear, and requests the court to enter.a not guilty plea and set the
matter down for trial. The statements in the letter are quite unremarkable and: are common
- communications in justice court matters. For that reason, I view this case differently than other
situations where judges have blatantly requested favorable treatment using court stationery. See,
Matter of Freeman, 1992 Annual Report 44 (town justice was admonished for-writing to another
- - judge on court stationéry in support of a customer of his private business; seeking to have -
customer’s gun permit reinstated); Matter of Martin, 2002 Annual Report 121 (Supreme Court -
justice was admonished for wiiting two ex parte letters on judicial stationery in support of
. defendants awaiting sentencing); Matter of Nesbitt; 2003 Annual Report 152 judgewas =~ . .
. admonished for sending a letter on judicial stationery to a school official challenging expulsion of -
. his son froni a college program, and requesting reinstatement of the son “pending hearingand ~ -
detérmination of this matter by competent authority”). . - s SR

Theréfore,f"I .resﬁe;:tﬁl]ly dissent. " )
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Inquiry Concening a Judge, 822 P.2d 1333 (Alaska, 1991) |

for hea.ring. evidence. The second letter, also.”

dated November - 9, informed Evans. that
petitioner had encountered Judge Michalski in

- ‘the courthouse. parking lot. The third letter, dated
November 10, confirmed petitioner’s mallmg of -

a settlement package to Evans.

- On November 14, 1987 the settlement-

- panel negotiated  a settlement. The proposed
settlement recommended that AHFC pay CMC

$573,000 in exchange for CMC's release -of
claims against AHFC. The. settlement -
subsequently was ‘approved by CMC's Board of -

Directors. It was disapproved, however, by
AHFC's executive director, Ron Lehr, and its.

¢ settlement. The. hearing was’ scheduled for
"December 10, 1987. " :

o Petitioner_ learned ‘prior to the public

hearing that Lehr intended to use his influencé
, with the Governor to delay or cancel the public -
© - heating. Petitioner called the Governor's office
on December 7, 1987, to counterbalance Lehr's -
anticipated action. Petitioher was a long time’

"' acquaintance and friend - of the Govemnor.

Petitioner asked the Governor to meet w1th him

on apersonal matter. -

A meetmg was scheduled and took place
the following ‘evening at Anchorage

International ° Airport. Petitioner met with .
- Governor Cowper and Charity Kadow, director '
of the Anchorage Govemor's office. At the '

meeting, petitioner expressed h1s VleW

Page 1337

that the public hearing should go ahead as
scheduled. The Governor took no actlon as a
result of the meetmg 1 :

The pubhc heanng was conducted as .
scheduled on December 10, 1987. AHFC went ‘

into executive session in the middle of the public
hearing and then postponed the public hearing.
The board of AHFC met agam on December 21,

f;astcase

1987 at which * time the settlement was
approved. Reports of petitioner's involvement in °
the case subsequently became pubhc '

~'I'he Judicial Conduct Commission filed a -
formal - complaint ‘against petitioner, after an
initial investigation, pursuant to AS 22.30.011(a)
and Rule 9C(4) of thé Commission rules. The

- Commission found .probable: cause to believe
- that petitioner had engaged in misconduct : .
requiring discipline. The complaint alleged that - -
petitioner had violated Canons 1, 2; 3, and 4 of 4
© the Code of Judicial. Conduct as well as - ...
subsections (3)(C), (3)(D), and (3)(E) -of AS S
‘ 2230011(a) : T
attorney, Evans. “Nonetheless, AHFC --was ... -
~ required to present the proposed settlement af a T
public hearing to decide whether to accept the .

- Petrtloner ﬁled hlS answer on September~

.28, 1989, denying -the. “allegations.” The

Commission appointed - William . Bankston -as -
special counsel to present. the formal charges,
pursuant to Commlssmn Rules ZC and 10A. '

Bankston made an. oral mot10n to d1sm18s
the charges against petitioner on Nevember 22,

1989, before the Commission Chairman. The = -
. Chairman denied the motion without prejudice, - .
. asking- that it be re-presented to the full -

" Commission at the formal disciplinary hearmg

scheduled for November 27,1989,

o Pet1t10ner Jomed in spec1a1 counsel'
motion to dismiss befOre the full Commission.

Petitioner and special counsel also stipulatedtoa

set of facts for the Commission to consider on_
the motion. The Commission  heard oral -

» argument on the motion to d1s1mss and demed it.

Pet1t10ner ﬁled a motlon for recons1derat10n

with the Commission. The motion was based on

the fact that he and special counsel had
stipulated to dismiss the charges. The motion for

- reconsideration also “was- denied by the
} Commission. - :

The Commission adjudlcated the complamt :

on December 7, 1989, finding that petitiorier's
‘use of court stationery, his manner of arranging

a meeting with the Govemor, and his actual

- meeting with the Govemor created an
‘appearance of impropriety in violation of

Canons 1 and 2 of the Alaska Code of Judicial

-2~
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" Conduct and AS 22.30.011()(3)(D) and (E).
The Commission dismissed several other
charges, finding that the other acts alleged did

not result in -a violation of any of the Judicial

Canons . or statutes. The = Commission
recommended to this court discipline in the form
‘of a public admonishment. 2

‘The Commission thereafter filed its
determination and. record pursuant’ to
- Commission Rule 12. On January 7, 1990,

petitioner filed his petition to reject the
recommendatlon of the Comtmssmn

Page 1338
1L -‘PRELIMINARY DISCUSSION -

A. THE ALASKA CODE OF JUDICIAL

’ CONDUCT

- The applicable judicial canons from the
Code of Judicial Conduct are Canons 1,2,4 and
5.

:Canon 1 states:

A Tudge Should Uphold the Integrity and

Independence of the Judiciary

‘An independent and honorable judiciary is
indispensable to justice in our society. A judge

should participate in establishing, maintaining, -

and enforcing, and should himself observe, high
standards of conduct so that the integrity and
independence of the judiciary may be preserved.
The provisions of this Code should be construed
and applied to further that objective.

Canon 2 states:

A Judge Should Avoid Impropriety and the
* Appearance of Impropriety in all His Activities

A. A judge should respect and comply with
the law and should conduct himself at all times
in a manner that promotes public confidence in
the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.

R
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B. A judge should not allow his family,
social, or other relationships to influence his
judicial conduct or judgment. He should not lend
the prestige of his office to advance the private
interests of others; nor should he convey or
permit others to convey the impression that they
are in a special position to influence him. He

~ should not- testify voluntan]y as a character

witness.
. Canon 4 states: -

A Judge May Engage' in Activities to Improve
the Law, the Legal System, and the
Administration of Justice ' :

A judge, subject to.the proper performance
of -his judicial duties, may engage in the
following quasi-judicial activities, if in doing so
he does not cast doubt on his capacity to decide
impartially any issue that may come before him:

A. He may speak, write, lecture, teach, and
participate in other activities concerning the law,
the legal system, and the administration of -
justice. :

B. He may appear at a public héaring
before an executive or legislative body or

‘official on matters concerning the law, the legal

system, and the administration of justice, and he
may otherwise consult with an executive or
legislative body or official, but only on matters
-concerning the administration of justice. - '

C. He may serve as a. member, officer, or
director of an organization or governmental
agency devoted to the improvement of the law,
the legal system, or the administration of justice.
He .may assist such an organization in raising:
funds and may participate in their management
and investment, but should not personally
participate in public fund raising activities. He
may make recommendations to public and
private fund granting agencies on projects and
programs concerning the law, the legal system,
and the administration of justice.

Canon 5 states in pertinent part:
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A Judge Should' Regulate His Extrzi-fudwral

. Activities to Minimize the Risk of Conﬂlct w1th -

: H1s Judmal Dutres

: C. Fmanclal Act1v1t1es

(1) A Judge should reﬁam ﬁom ﬁnanclal |

and business dealings : that fend to reflect
adversely on his impartiality, interfere ‘with. the.

- proper performance of his judicial duties, exploit

his judicial position, or involve him in frequent

transactions with lawyers or persons likely to -

come before the court on which he serves.

(2) Subjt ect to the requirement: of subsection

: (1), a judge may hold and manage investments,

including: real estate,” and engage 'in other .
remunerative act1v1ty mcludmg the operatlon of ]

na busmess

, (3) A Judge should manage h1s mvestments
and other financial -interests to minimize the
number of cases in ‘which he is d1squahﬁed As
* soon as he can do so without serious financial

" detriment, he should divest himself of

‘investments and other financial interests that

might require frequent disqualification.
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‘B.THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

This -court has the ﬁnal authonty m
proceedmgs related to  judicial .conduct in
Alaska. Alaska’ Const. art. IV, §§ 1, 10; In re
Inquiry Concermng a Judge, 762 P.2d 1292
(Alaska 1988) (hereinafter Judge I ); In re
Hanson, 532- P.2d- 303 (Alaska 1975). In
exercising this power, the court is required to

cconduct an independent evaluation of the -
evidence. In re Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 788 -

P.2d 716 (Alaska 1990) (hereinafter Judge II ).
Independent review is required to ensure that
"procedural due process has been accorded the
judicial officer proceeded against and that the
requisite findings of fact have been made. and
‘are supported by substantial ev1dence " Judge I,
762 P. 2d at 1294.

" I'gaStease

: Before we conduct .a-de novo review of the
Commlssmn 's -determination . that _petitioner -

' created * an appearance of - impropriety: in

violation -of the -Code ‘of Judicial Conduct, we

. first: address a ‘procedural. issué raised by
: petltionermregard to the MOthIl to DlSInlSS '

" C. THE COMMISSION .DID NOT ERR 1Nf
'DENYING SPECIAL COUNSEL'S MO'I’ION_

TO DISMISS

The motlon to dJsrmss was based on speclal :

- counsel's view that petltloner had not vielated.
.any. of the judicial canons.. This motion was .
. denied by - the -Commission, -even though. S

petmor T Jomed in the motlon _

‘Petitioner contends that then Commisston

- emred” in denying ‘the- motion to dismiss. -
- . 'Petitioner argues that the motion fo dismiss

should have been treated as an Alaska Civil Rule
41(e) dismissal that the Commission was -

. obliged to accept. He contends- that. the

Commission's discretion in regard to - the -

_ stipulated motion is analogous to that of a trial )
court faced with a stlpulated drsmlssal :

The Commission d1sagrees and responds by
notmg that the rules of civil and criminal

‘procedure do not apply in their entirety to
 judicial conduct proceedings. The Commission

argues that these proceedings are neither civil

- mnor criminal but are special proceedings. The -
- Commission’ further argues that the. role of
" . special .counsel is merely to collect #nd present -

evidence and. does not include the authority to

. dismiss charges The Commission -argues ‘that N
only it is authorized to dismiss cases after a
finding of probable cause. The Commission

contends it fu]ﬁlled its duty by conducting an
independent review of the motion to dismiss.

" The Commission disagreed with special

counsel's findings after reviewing them upon
consideration of the motion, and therefore

' _ denied the motron to dlsm]ss

We agree ‘with the’ Commxssmns position
regarding its discretion to deny the motion to

* dismiss. The Commission appropriately heard

oral argument on the motion to- dismiss and A
reviewed the record independently before

"
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denying  the motion.” Under Alaska law, the
Commission is the only entity authorized to
make judicial conduct recommendations to the
supreme court or to decide not to make any
recommendation. AS 22.30.011(d). A contrary
finding would undermine the purpose and

integrity of the Commission by permitting a sole -

individual to make an ultimate decision
regardmg judicial dlsclphne

oL INDEPENDENT REVIEW ON THE

- MERITS

. A.PETITIONER'S CONDUCT CREATED AN

"APPEARANCE OF IMPROPRIETY IN

VIOLATION OF JUDICIAL CANON 2

» .Thfe Comnnsswn determ_med that
petitioner’s conduct violated Canon 2 by creating
an appearance of impropriety in three instances:
petitioner's use of chambers stationery,
petitioner's phone call to the Governor's office

requesting’ a meeting with the Governor, and

petitioner's meeting with the Governor. 3 The
‘Commission declined to find that any of the
conduct: was -actually improper, although the
basis for that determination is not fully
explained.
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Petitioner challenges all three of the
Commission's determinations of appearance of
impropriety. Moreover, petitioner argues that the
Commission applied the wrong test in evaluating
his conduct.

1. The ApprOpriate.Test

Both petitioner and.the Commission have
argued extensively over the test to be used to

evaluate petitioner's conduct. They both argue

that the test should be objective, but they
propose different objective tests. The Alaska
Supreme Court decided Judge II since the date
the_parties completed their briefing. Judge II is
controlling as to the appropriate test. The test 1s
~whether a judge fails "to use reasonable care to
prevent objectively reasonable persons from

g
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believing an impropriety was afoot." 788 P.2d at
723. The Judge II court stated that "[t]he duty to
avoid creating an appearance of impropriety is
one of taking 'reasonable precautions’ to avoid
having a 'negative effect on the confidence of

-the thinking public in the administration of _

justice.' " 1d. (quoting In the Matter .of Bonin,
375 Mass. 680, 378 N.E.2d 669, 682-83 (1978)). -

We reject both parties' arguments about
how -petitioner's conduct should be judged, and
also reject the test actually used by the
Commission. Instead, we employ the Judge II
test. We decide whether petitioner failed to use
reasonable care’ to prevent a reasonably

“objective individual ~from believing that an

impropriety was afoot. This hypothetical
objectively reasonable person-forms his or her
belief upon learning that petltloner had used.
chambers stationery in private litigation in

‘writing lettets to opposing counsel, had called

the Governor to meet with him personally
regarding a private business matter, and had met
with the Governor on this private matter, with
the matter ending in a settlement apparently
favorable to petitioner's private business intérest.
4 S

The- objectively reasonable person is not a
well trained lawyer or a highly sophisticated
observer of public affairs. Neither is this person
a cynic skeptical of the government and the
courts. Moreover, an objectively reasonable
person is not necessarily one who is informed of
every conceivably relevant fact. He or sheis the
average person encountered in society.

"~ We now proceed.to evaluate each instance
of petitioner's disputed conduct through the eyes
of this objectively reasonable person.

2. Petitioner's Use of Chambers Stationery
Created an Appearance of Impropriety.

We agree with the Commission that
petitioner's use of chambers stationery for the
three private letters created an appearance of
impropriety. We find by clear and convincing
evidence 5 that a reasonably objective: person
would believe that the stationery was an attempt

[#7]
)
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to mﬂuence opposing counsel and other viewers
“of the letters or thatit had this eﬂ'ect

Petltloner defends his use of the statlonery )

V-by claiming he used chambers stationery, not

official stationery; and by pointing out that the .
-court system lacks any written policy restnctmg'
the use of chambers stationery. These argiments-
are weak. An obJectlvely reasonable - person - -

- would not know the difference between the two
- ‘types of.- stationery or whether any pohcy
: ex1sted 6 :

\_\-‘4.Page.1341.‘»’-' P N
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6 Moreover mdwldual Judges have an'

'-:obhgatlon ~ follow | ethical ::constraints
. coneerning: the use of judicial . ‘stationery,

-»notwrthstandmg any court system pohcy or lack =

of pohcy

 records. We find the stationery as used likely to
cause members of the thinking public to believe

‘that petitioner was unable to distinguish his

judicial activities from his personal -ones. This

failure to maintain separate interests could leada

~ -reasonable: person to believe -that. ;petitioner’s
* ~judicial dec1310n-makmg ablhty s1m11ar1y nnght
e ﬂawed

Peti_tioner easily could have avoide_d "risking
a negative effect on the confidence of the public

~ - in the administration of justice. Petitioner could -

have used CMC's own stationery or plain
stationery. Either would have avoided creating

* an appearance of impropriety,
3. The Wording of Petitioner's Request to

Meet with the Governor Did Not Create an

- Appearance of Impropriety.

We reject the Commission's ﬁndmg. that
petitioner's manner of arranging-a meeting with

the Governor violated the Judmal ¢anons.. We

ﬁlStC&S@

Petltloner next c]auns that the mtended.

- .recipients of the letters were not influenced ‘in -

fact by the chambers statlonery We find. this .

~ fact irrelevant to the opinions of the thinking -
pubhc who might see the letters in the public -

- do not agree that pentloner wolated Canon 2 by :
- the way he worded his phone call to the

Governor's ofﬁce

'I’he Comm1ss1on found that petrtloner‘

violated the Canon by identifying himself as-a
justice when callmg the: Governor's office and

by failing to clearly identify as personal the - -
mnatare of his requested meeting. with the
" . Governor: Petitioner agrees that he identified
-~ himself as a justice when calling, but clajms he -
: spe01ﬁcally stated that he wanted "to speak with’

the Governor on a personal matter.” Before the

Commission, the parties stipulated to a set of
- facts supportmg petitioner's assertion on this -
- - latter point, even thcugh: the Commissjon now °

argues that petitioner’s statement that "he wanted

to personally meet with the Governor" failed to

specify that the meetmg 1tselﬁ would be on a
personal matter S i

We do not- ﬁnd that a reasonably obJectlve

person would believe that an impropriety was

. afoot from petitioner's idéntification of himself
- as a "justice” when calling the‘Governor in the
. same conversation in which petitioner stated he
. was calling on a personal matter. The thinking
public would know that many persons of title -

such as doctors and judges identify themselves

¢ or are identified by others, by ‘their title, by
- habit.- There is no evidence' -that _ petitioner
. intentionally used his title to get qulck attention .

or failed to follow the use of his title with a

statement that -he was calling on a personal
.. matter. We therefore find that the identification
- of petitioner by his title in the cncumstances did

not create the appearance of i lmpropnety

We have rev1ewed the stlpulatlon .entered
into by petitioner ‘and the commission as to

‘petitioner stating he wanted to speak with the

Governor on a personal matter. We find that the
stipulation in petitioner's favor is supported by

the record. We therefore accept the stipulation -

and find petltloner requested to meet on a

'persona] matter creatlng no impropriety or

appearance thereof.

4, Petitioner's Meeting with the Govemor '

Created the Appearance of Impropriety.
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- We agree- with the Commission that
. petitioner's- meeting with-the Governor created -

the appearance of impropriety. Petitioner
" challenges this determination, arguing that the

Commission's - decision means any private

business meeting between.a judge and the.
Governor * violates the judicial- canons. He
contends such a result is at odds Wlth Canon 5,
Whlch permits a judge
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to conduct business activities. Petitioner also

- . -argues there was no appearance of impropriety _

in the meeting because he never asked the
‘Governor directly to do him any favors, but
merely reported Lehr's antlclpated actions to the
Governor.

We use the Judge II test in rejecting
petitioner's arguments: The reasonably objective
person would conclude that impropriety was
afoot because petitioner had substantial private
business interests that were involved in litigation
against the state, petitioner was a justice of the
state supreme court, and petitioner met
personally with the Governor to discuss this
litigation in an attempt to persuade the Governor
to intervene in a manner favorable to petitioner's
interests. We make this finding after careful
review of the text and context of Canons 1, 2, 4
and 5.

Our analysis must start and end with the
relevant canons. Canon 1 sets out the importance
of an independent and honorable judiciary. This
canon requires judges to participate in
establishing and maintaining high standards of
conduct to preserve the integrity . and
independence of the judiciary. Canon 1 also
requires the other canons to be read and
construed in such a manner as to further this
objective.

Canon 2 echoes this emphasis on the
integrity of the judiciary by requiring judges to
avoid 1impropriety and - the - appearance of
impropriety at all times. Canon 4 permits judges
involved in quasi-judicial activities to consult

i~
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- with members of the executive or legislative

branches "but only on matters concerning the
administration of justice.”

Finally, . Canon 5 requires a judge to
regu]ate his or her extra-judicial activities to
minimize the risk of conflict with his or her -
judicial duties. Section C focuses on financial
activities. Subsection C(1) clearly requires a-
judge to refrain from financial and business
dealings that tend to reflect adversely .on his
impartiality, -interfere =~ with the proper
performance of his judicial duties or exploit his
judicial position. Subsection C(2) limits a judge
to holding and managing investments only if

‘they do not confict with the: requlrements of-

subsection (1). 7

~It-is evident in reading all of these canons
together and-in focu_sing on the specific language
the drafters employed that petitioner should have
conducted his business activities only if they
would not create the appearance of impropriety.
Here, the creation. of the appearance of
impropriety is obvious. The reasonably objective
person would be justified in believing that an

- impropriety was afoot upon learning of a

personal meeting between a justice. of the state
supreme court and the Governor involving the
justice's private business matters that were then
in litigation with the state, notwithstanding the
fact that the Governor took no action after the
meeting.

There were reasonable steps that petitioner
could have taken to avoid creating the
appearance of impropriety. Petitioner could have
foregone any meeting with the Govemor.
Petitioner could have asked someone from CMC
to seek a meeting with and to actually meet with
the Governor to argue CMC's position, although
not on petitioner's behalf. Either action would
have avoided petitioner's direct involvement on
this issue and would have avoided the
appearance of impropriety. ‘

Petitioner's conduct .created precisely the
appearance of impropriety that the canons guard
against. The reasonably objective person could

- easily conclude that petitioner was using the
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prestige of his office to encourage the Governor
to intercede on his behalf. Petitioner stood to

gain personally from the proposed - settlement,
from all appearances. This apparent self-interest -

distinguishes this case from ‘one with no.

. appearance of impropriety. The thinking public : ..
easily--could- conelude that the justice might

someday return the favor tfo. the Governor.

~ Precisely this sort of conduct jeopardizes and-
erodes public confidence “in the mtegnty and‘~-" -

1mpart1a11ty of the Judlclary,
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- and is prolublted by the Judlclal canons.
: .;T_he . judicial. canons reﬂect the drafters'

 intent to limit judges' activities in a fashion that -
© is -not-required -of “other . citizens, even -other -
* citizens of public note. A judge may participate
- in extra-judicial activities only if these activities --

do not compromise the ‘infegrity of the judicial

system. A.judge carries restrictions on his or her -
personal life that are not imposed on members of -
the general public, on other public officials, on
“members .of bar associations, or on anyone else. .
A New York court appropriately stated - that -
: "[m]embers of the judiciary should be acutely.
~ aware that any action they take, whether on or .
 off the “bench, .must be measured against
. exacting standards of scrutiny to the end. that
public perception of the integrity of the judiciary
_ will be preserved.” Lonschein v. State Comm'n -
on Judicial Conduct, 50 N.Y.2d 569, 430 .-
N.Y.8.24 571, 572, 408 N.E. 2d 901, 902 (1980). .

We therefore accept the Comnnss1ons

determination with respect to petitioner's -

meeting with the Governor that the meeting
_created the appearance of i impropriety. 8

B. PETITIONER'S CONDUCT WARRANT SA
PRIVATE REPRIMAND.

We next review the sanction recommended
by the: Commission. The Commission requested
this court to publicly admonish - - petitioner.

~ Alaska -Statute 22.30.011 does not expressly -
authorize public admomshment as a sanct10n '
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however. 9 Moreover, a public admonishment . -

appears inconsistent with the Commission's .

‘expressed view: that "the least severe sanction is

appropriate” ~ because -there “was-.only the-

- appearance -of impropriety. The - Commission

‘gave 'two. reasons for opting for .a public
. admonition. - The: Commission" felt-there ‘'was a

need to emphasize to the public and other judges -

that -a-judge has an obligation fo avoid the

appearance of impropriety. The Commission

“also found that petitioner should be publicly"

. admonition
: admnnstered

- cleared of any accusation of actual impropriety -

due to publicity about his role in the setilement.

- Petitioner opposes any public admonition ‘based

on- such reasons and requests a ‘private
1f an admomtlm~ 1s to” be.

The appropnate rules for judleiai sanetlons '

~may be drawn from ‘the test for ‘determining -

appropriate sanctions against lawyers’ developed

* by the American Bar Association, even though' -

- judges are held to a higher. standard of conduct - -

_than lawyers: Judge I, 788 P.2d at 723 & n. 11;

Disciplinary Matter Involving ‘Buckalew, 731

©'P.2d 48, 51-52 (Alaska 1986). This court has

used the: ABA ‘Standards before to organize and
analyze the relevant factors to be considered in : -
both . judicial and lawyer dlsclphne sanctwn

- Cascs.

' The ABA framework for detenmmng

approprlate sanctions isa four pronged test:

.1.'What ethJcal duty d1d the lawyer (]udge)
violate?

. 2. What was the lawyers (judge s) mental
state?

3. What was the extent of the actual or
potential injury caused by the lawyer's (Judge s)
nnsconduct?
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4. Are there any aggravatmg or mltlgatmg
clrcumstances? ’
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Judge II, 788 P.2d at 724; Buckalew, 731

P:2d at 52 (quoting ABA Standards, Theoretical -

Framework, reprinted in ABA/BNA Lawyers'
Manual on Professional Conduct, 01:805-01:806

(1986)).

. The disciplining— bod'y' first examines prongé»
. 1.through-3 to. determine the baseline sanction. -
Subsequently, the disciplining body determines .-

whether - any aggravating or - mitigating
“circumstances justify a departure from the
baselme sanctlon :

The duty v101ated here was the duty of the

judl_cla] officer to avoid creating an appearance .
of impsopriety. This duty is. only - indirectly -

addressed in the. ABA Standards because the
appearance of impropriety is forbidden to
lawyers in only limited ways whereas it very

broadly applies to judges. "This is one area in’

which: the Code of Judicial Conduct démands
more of judges than the Disciplinary Rules do of

lawyers." Judge II, 788 P.2d at 724. We

_ therefore must decide for ourselves the
seriousness of the. violation. We do so in

conjunction with addressing the third prong of

- 'the test, the amount of harm caﬁsed.

We thus turn to a determination of

petitioner's mental state. Specifically, we must

decide whether petitioner's mental :state was
negligent, or purposeful and knowing. Id.
Negligence is a failure "to be aware of a
substantial risk that circumstances exist or that a
result will follow, which failure is .a deviation
from the standard of care that a reasonable
lawyer would exercise in the situation." Id.
(quoting  ABA  Standards, . Definitions,
ABA/BNA 1:807). Here the record fails to
clearly and convincingly prove a knowing or
purposeful state of mind. It does reflect a
negligent one, however. Petitioner failed to be
aware of a substantial risk that his actions could
result in a reasonably objective person believing
that an impropriety was afoot.

Next we address the actual or potential
harm caused by the violation. Judge II
performed a lengthy analysis of these two types
of harm. We give the Judge I analysis great

F Al
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deference. In Judge II, the court found no actual
harm even - though the judge had made an
“unreasonable attempt to issue himself a reduced
fare airplane ticket through a defunct airline.
The court found no actual or significant harm
because the potential difference in ticket price

“was only $20.60. The court recognized, .

however, that other harm was foreseeable from
the judge's continued possession of a validating
plate and blank stock. Id. at 724-25. Accepting
the - analysis of Judge .II, we do-not find any
actual harm here because the Governor did not
do petitioner any favors after the meeting: We
clearly find that potential harm could result from
the undermining of the public's confidence in the

_judiciary, however. We find - therefore .that the
violation is moderately serious even though no
actual harm resulted.

‘Accordingly, we find using the first three
parts of the test above that -the appropriate
baseline sanction here is a private reprimand.
Our conclusion 'is supported by the ABA
sanction philosophy that has been commented -
on by this court before. Id. at 726. This sanction
philosophy suggests that "[w]here the violation,
whatever its nature, involves only negligent
conduct which occasions little injury, the
recommended sanction is admonition, or private

 reprimand.” Id. at 725. We follow the Judge II

application of the baseline sanction of private
reprimand for a violation involving the same
mental state and degree of injury. -

We note that .public: admonishments
generally are administered only in cases
involving blatant violations of the Code of
Judicial Canons, according to cases from other
jurisdictions. See Gubler v. Commission on
Judicial Performance, 37 Cal3dd 27, 207
Cal.Rptr. 171, 688 P.2d 551 (1984) (wrongful
attorney fee collecting practices against criminal
defendants, doubling attorney fees imposed on
defendant represented by public defender,
authorizing release of confiscated guns for sale
by defendants); In re Hayes, 541 So.2d 105
(Fla.1989) (judge's discussions with journalist of
progress of murder trial on multiple occasions
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_knowing Joumahst would use matenal), Inre
.-Ford, 404 Mass. 347, 535 N.E.2d 225 (1989)
- (judge servmg as CEO of non-profit corporation
 while-serving as a judge); In re Kiley, 74 N.Y.2d
-364,' 547 N.Y.S.2d 623, 546 N.E.2d 916 (1989)

(lending and appearing to lend the prestige of

- - office to advance private interests of criminal -
* defendants); In re Derrick, 301 S.C. 367, 392

S.E.2d 180 (1990)- (conv1_ct10n of crime of moral

‘turpitude based on breach of. trust with
fraudulent intent); In-re Pearson, 299-S.C. 499;

.386 S.E.2d 249 (1989) (referring. to- another .

person ‘as a-"nigger lovei"). Petitioner's conduct

7 does not Tise to ‘the: level of severity of the.
. . conduct in these other cases. . The ABA

~ Standards are designed to promote consistency .
in - discipline. ABA Standards -for Imposing -
Lawyer Sanctions, ABA/BNA 01:801-01:804.
- We find ‘that the reasoning of" Judge II. apphes '
" . wellto the case before the court, and therefore g

we: conclude that a private reprimand 1s the
appropnate basehne sanctlon :

Finally. we consrder whether thls pnvate
reprimand  should . be “subject to increase - or
decrease depending upon the presence  of
aggravating or mitigating ‘factots. Judge II, 788
‘P.2d at 725, We. use. the aggravating - and

10

We find five mlugaung factors in this case.

- There 'is. an absence ' of prior disciplinary
.. proceedings, petitioner has cooperated with the
- disciplinary process although he does not admit

wrongdoing, petitioner -has asserted he.

subsequently divested himself of .his business

interest before the press reported the matter and
in fact took 4 10ss in so doing, the petitioner has

an excellent reputation, and there was a delay in

the initiation of disciplinary proceedings. We

find two aggravating factors. There was selfish

motive on petitioner's part at the time,:and he

- has had substantial expenence in the practlce of
law. :

‘We find there should ‘be no departm‘e from
. the baselme sanct:on, after balancmg the

fastcase :

rmtlgatmg factors set out by the ABA Standards '

* dissenting.

apphcable mltlgatmg and aggravating factors'
and upon review of the. sanctions- imposed by
other courts. We have weighed most heavily- -
among -the aggravatmg “factors- petitioner's
substantial experience in the practlce of law. We. -

-take particular note with respect to ‘the three

letters sent to Evans.. Petitioner  should have -
realized that these materials could come to the
attention of the public and: therefore: harm the "

. .judiciary, -even if he meant: ‘no- harm by them. -
‘This aggravating - factor is offset by the . .
. mitigating ‘factors' of timely effort to rectify .

consequences, the lack of dctual harm from the -
conduct and petitioner's continued excelléent .
reputation. Additionally, there was nearly atwo- -

'yedr delay between the conduct in’ question acd,

the bringing of charges by the' Commission; w1th
petrtwner’s conduct remalmng above - .
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reproach thrbughout A private rennmand best . . .

serves the paramount concern of "protection of
the public, the.courts, and the legal professxon "

- Buckalew, 731P.2d at 56.

V. CONCLUSION

We accept in part and reJect in pait the
recommendation of - the - Judicial Conduct
Commission that petitioner be-found in violation
of several judicial canons. We reject the. A
recommendation  of the . Judlclal Conduct
Commission for a pubhc admomshment The
reprimand will be pnvate . :

: HODGES SCHULZ ‘and TUNLEY JI.,
concur in part and dissent in part '

HODGES,. Judge,  concurring and

I concur with the ma]onty on the. followmg
issues:

1: The standard of rev1ew to be apphed is -
mdependent review;

-10-
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. An objectively

- 2. The Commission did not efr in denying
special counsel's motion to dismiss;

_ 3. The test articulated in. In re Inquiry -
‘Concerning a Judge, 788 P.2d 716 (Alaska

1990) (Judge II), is the test to be apphed 1

4. The use of chambers stationery created

the appearance of 1mproprlety, and

5. A prlvate reprimand is the appropnate

" sanction.

issues:

\‘

_ 1 ’Ihelr reversal of the Comlmssmns

_ ﬁndmg that calling the Governor's office was the
" appearance of impropriety;.and

2. Their finding that meeting with the
Governor was - only an appearance of
impropriety. :

APPENDIX -

NOTE OPINION CONTAINS TABLE OR
OTHER DATA THAT IS NOT VIEWABLE
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The Commission determined that calling
the Governor's office to arrange a meeting,
identifying himself as a justice but not clearly
indicating it was on. a purely private matter
created the appearance of impropriety. 1 agree
that this creates an appearance of impropriety.
) reasonable person . would
conclude that petitioner was using his position as
a supreme court justice--that is, his judicial
position--to arrange a meeting with the
Governor on a purely private business matter.

In the factual context of the call to the
Governor's office, I find that a reasonably
objective person would believe that an

impropriety was afoot. The majority views the.

F
Tastcase

I d1ssent from the majority on the following

-call-to-the Governor's office in isolation. Under

the facts of this case, that view is unrealistic--the
call must be viewed in light of all the
surrounding circumstances. When this is done, a
reasonably objective person would believe that
petitioner was attempting to use his judicial
position for - private gain--using his judicial

position to influence the-Governor regardmg the = = °

settlement.

In isolation; the mere call to the Governor's
office is not improper, but when viewed in
context--which you must do--it is! '

The C'ommissioh.-v .determined  that

- petitioner's- meeting with the Governor did not

constitute an actual impropriety, but only the
appearance of impropriety. It is not entirely clear
how the Commission reached this conclusion. It
appears - that the Commission based its
determination on the relationship of Canons 2, 4
and 5.

Petitioner challenges the determination that
the meeting created  even the appearance of
impropriety. He contends that the Commission's
decision means any private business meeting
between a judicial officer and the Governor
violates the judicial canons. He argues that this
result is at odds with Canon 5, which permits a
judge to engage in business activities. He further
contends that since the Governor took no action-
-was not influenced by the meeting--there was -
no apparent or -actual impropriety. Apparently
petitioner feels that you can attempt to
improperly influence someone, but if they are
not influenced, there is no improper conduct.
This argument is patently without merit.

Canon 5 permits judicial officers to engage
in private business matters. It does not grant
carte blanche to permit engaging in private
business and violate the Canons. Extreme care
must be exercised by judges in their private
business affairs.

Upon ~ independent evaluation of - the
evidence, I find that the meeting with the
Governor was actually improper. Therefore, I
disagree with the Commission's finding that the
meeting with the Governor was only an

-4 -
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. appearance of impropriety. In miaking this
determmatlon, the judge's conduct must be

“analyzed in relation to the Judicial Canons S

Canon 1 emphastzes the :

Page 1348

”need._ for an independent and honorable

~ judiciary; judges must maintain high standards -
of ‘conduct - to -preserve -the integrity and -

independence of the courts. The other judicial

- canons must be constmed to further this .

o Ob_] ectlve

and the Administration of Justice.” Canon 5

. requires that a judge should regulate his extra-

Judmlal activities to minimize the risk of conflict

-with his Judlclal dutles Speclﬁcally, Canon 5 a

- provides:

C) A ju‘dg'e should refain from financial and
~ business dealings that tend to reflect adversely
- .on. his' impartiality, interfere with the proper

. performance of his _]lldlclal duties, explmt his -

judicial position, or involve him in frequent.
transactions with lawyers or persons likely to
- come before the court on which he serves.

Subsection C(2) provides that a judge may
manage investments, but only if it does not
conflict with subsection C(1). Thus it is clear
that a judge must refrain from . financial or
busmess dealings that tend to reflect adversely
on_his impartiality, interfere with the proper
performance of his judicial duties or exploit his
judicial position. If there is any conflict or
potential conflict .the judge must refrain from
acting in furtherance of his business activity.

In evaluating petitioner's conduct in hght of

the Canons, I find that petitioner's meeting with .

the Governor on a private busmess matter in

I’astcase

- That Judges should av01d 1mpropnety and o
; the appearance of impropriety is re-emphasized
in Canon 2. Canon 3 dictates that a judge's -
. Judicial duties take precedence over -all of his .
~ other activities. Canon 4 permits, subject.to the .
proper performance of his duties, engaging in
-activities to improve the "Law, Legal System -

litigation against a state ‘public - finance

corporatlon was an actual i mmpropriety. Petitioner
is a member -of the state's highest court. He
arranged a meeting with’ the Governor, the

- highest member of the éxecutive branch; to
- attempt to have the Governor intercede for him
on a purely private financial matter. This is

precisely the kind of activity ‘that the Judicial

Canons prohibit. An . objectively. reasonable
. person-would conclude that petitioner was using |
his judicial pos1t10n for his-own dlrect ﬁnanclal 4

interests.

Petltloner apparently had a large personal
financial stake in the proposed settlement. 2' An

" objectively reasonable persont. would coticlude
that petitioner would use his judicial position fo-
. further his own. financial: interests; ThlS casts
- doubt on petltlonel‘s jlldlCla] mtegnty

It is this apparent large financial :self-
interest that distinguishes the facts of this case
from other judicial conduct cases where the
court has  found on]y an’ appearance of

nnpropnety

In re Hanson, 532 P. 24303 (Alaska 1975),‘

is an example. In the Hanson casé, the sole

- resident judge of Kenai had dinner in a public

restaurant with the Mayor, who was an "old
friend,” - for . the purpose of encouraging the

" public' to support the: Mayor's troubled grocery

business. The Commission concluded that -the
judge's conduct constituted use of his judicial
office "to promote private business interests, in

violation of Canon 25 of the Canons of Judicial
Ethics ... and ... conduct prejudicial to the

administration of justice that brings the judicial
office - into disrepute, in violation of AS

22:30.070(c)(2).” 532 P.2d at 309. We held that
the Commission was in error in concluding that
there was a violation of Canon 25 or AS
22, 30. O70(c)(2) In so holding we stated:

The instant case presents a smgle isolated”
“occasion of a judge having dinner with a family

friend, who has not been indicted. This is a far

cry from the type of improper conduct which

Canon 25 was designed to prohibit. Judged by
objective standards any signal emanatmg from

-12.

2 e st oo ovatas =8 st mrs e

oo e i



" Inquiry Concerning a Judge, 822 P.Zd 1333 (Alaska, 1981)

this public repast was rather weak and
ambiguous and one that we cannot charactenze
as involving improper persuasion or coercion, or
the appearance thereof, employed to promote the
grocery business of Mayor Steinbeck.

1d. at311.

Page 1349

The pfesent' casé_ is readily distinguished

from the Hanson case. A justice of the highest -

. court of the state met with the Governor, the:

state’s highest executive officer, 4o persuade him

to intercede on petitioner's behalf in a matter
involving litigation . between petitioner's
company and a state public finance corporation.
If the proposed settlement went forward,
petitioner apparently stood to gain financially

from the settlement. An objectively reasonable -

- person could easily believe that any 1nvolvement

- by the Governor favorable to petitioner would-
~result in-a quid pro quo--that the justice would -

someday return the favor to the Governor. It is

precisely this type of conduct that jeopardizes .

and erodes public confidence in the integrity and
impartiality of the judiciary. This is clearly
prohibited by the Code of Judicial Conduct.

The Code of Judicial Conduct limits judges'
extra-judicial activities more so than - the
ordinary citizen or other public figures. A judge
may participate in extra-judicial activities only if
they do not compromise the integrity of the
judicial system. In some situations it may be
acceptable for a private person to act, but not a

judge. There may be some instances where the

judge has to decline to participate.

Petitioner had a range of choices in his
involvement with CMC. Although a director and
shareholder it was not necessary for him to
become actively involved in the settlement
negotiations. If he did, as he did here, he had to

act cautiously to make sure that what occurred-

here did not happen. Clearly he should not have
used court stationery--there was a reasonable
alternative--blank or CMC stationery; he should
not have called or met with the Governor—-there

lastc ase

was a reasonable -alternative--he could have
ignored the possibility that the public hearing -
might be delayed or canceled, or he could have -

~ requested another member or employee of CMC

to meet with the Governor. A -better approach
would have been to decline participation in the
settlement panel, since a reasonable alternative
would- have been to have another member of ™
CMC participate. A judge may have business
dealings but must do so cautiously; passive
rather than active participation is the watch"
word. Here petitioner became actively involved,

casting a shadow on his ability to be impartial in
his Jud1c1al duties.

- A judgs's responsibility” and: obligation to
maintain the public's confidence in the judicial
system is clearly set out.in the Code of Judicial
Conduct. These restrictions apply to both
judicial and non-]udlclal activities. The Code
places restrictions on‘a judge's personal life that

‘are not imposed on members of the' general

public, public figures, or members of the bar. As
pointed out in Lonschein v. State Comm'n-on

‘Judicial Conduct, 50 N.Y.2d 569, 430 N.Y.S.2d

571,-572, 408 N.E:2d 901, 902 (1980):

Members of the judiciary should be acutely
aware that any action they take, whether on or
off the bench, must be measured against
exacting standards of scrutiny to the end that
public perception of the integrity of the judiciary
will be preserved. There must also be a
recognition that any actions undertaken in the
public sphere reflect, whether designedly or not,
upon the prestige of the judiciary. Thus, any
communication from a Judge to an outside
agency on behalf of another, may be perceived
as one backed by the power and prestige of
judicial office.... Judges must assiduously avoid
those contacts which might create even the
appearance of impropriety.

(Citation omitted).

I find that the Commission erred in
concluding that petitioner's conduct created only
the appearance of impropriety. I find that the
meeting between petitioner, a justice of the
state's highest court and the Govemnor, the

13-
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. highest executive officer in the state on personal

" business of the justice telating to a- financial -

dlspute with a state agency constrtutes actual
1mpropnety

' drssentmg in part

The Alaska Comm1ss10n on Judrclal

Conduct .(the Commrsswn) found the petitioner .

. 4 v101ated Canon 2 of the Code of Judlcral

_Page 1350

L Conduct 1 That ﬁndmg compelled the further'

finding that petitioner's-conduct violated Canon
'.1 2 and AS 22.30.01.1(a)(3)(D) and (E). 3

‘Based - on an mcomplete rec1tat10n of

"facts" -and an erroneous application of the

_obJectlvely reasonable person test enunciated by
this court in In re Inquiry Concerning a Judge,
"788 P.2d 716 (Alaska 1990y (Judge I ), a

- majority - of ‘this court today affirms the

‘Commiission's ﬁndmgs in two respects
I dlssent |

~ In Judge II thie'court said'

The duty to av01d creating an appearance of -

. impropriety is one of taking "reasonable

o precautions” to. avoid having "a negative effect

- on-the confidence of the thinking public, in the
administration of justice.” Otherwise stated; did
 appellant fail to use reasonable care to prevent

" objectively reasonable persons from beheVmg an .

impropriety was afoot?

788 P.2d at 723 (quoting In the Maties 6f

Bonin, 375 Mass. 680, 378 N.E.2d 669, 682-83
(1978)) (emiphasis added).

That is the test which the court applies )

today. Unfortunate]y, the court has become very

- selective in determining what it is that the-
- "thinking public" or "objectively ‘reasonable .
. persons” -think about. For instance, the court:

either totally ignores, or gives far too little

| fastcase

SCHULZ Judge concurnng in part and-

welght, to ‘the fact that while petmoner used'
court statlonery in. a private ‘matter, the .

- stationery was provided for whatever purpose

the justice wanted to use it. 4 As the court points -
out, the petitioner used'the chambers stationery
to imemorialize agreemients between him and
opposing counsel in litigation in which he was
directly  involved, and in which he- _was

: partlclpatmg at the opposing -parties' request :
- Why it is that "objectively reasonable persons”
: have to ignore those facts i is beyond my ken 5 ~

Page 1351

Whlle I agree w1th the premrse that an

. objectively reasonable person is not necessarily
~ fully informed, (Maj.Op. at:1340-1341), it does

seem that the -objectively reasonable person
should be aware. of at least some of the:
surrounding circumstances and at least a litile of
the content of the letters before j Jumping ‘to the
conclusion, -as the majority does, that- an

~ impropriety ‘may be .afoot. 6 The court also' .

concludes. that' petitioner's- ‘meeting with -the
Governor = created the - appearance of an
impropriety because "petmoner had substantial

* private business interests that were involved in
~ litigation against the state, petitioner was a
justice of the state supreme court, and petitioner

met personally with the Governor to-discuss this

- litigation in an attempt to persuade the Governor ~ °

to intervene in 2 manner favorable to petltloner S

- mterests " (Maj.Op. at 1342).

Flrst, the court is snnply wrong when it

' . says that petitioner met with the Governor to o
discuss the petitioner's busmess interests. That

conclusion is not supported by the record in the
case. Neither the nature of petitioner's business
interests nior the terms of the settlement
agreement were ever mentioned in the- meeting
with the Governor. Petitioner met with the
Governor because the petitioner had information _

- that Evans, who represented AHFC in the:

litigation, and the Executive Director of AHFC
were trying to torpedo a. settlement process that
CMC had entered into in good faith. Petitioner
never asked the Governor to change anybody's

-14-
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mind or to attempt to influence the AHFC board
to accept or reject the settlement. Second, the

court's conclusion that the litigation concluded .

with a favorable settlement for petitioner is not
supported by the .record. According to the
record, the settlement proposal was reached after
the use of a well recognized "mini-trial"
procedure and was ultimately approved by both
parties. The record contains no information and
the Commission made no findings on whether or.
not the settlement was favorable to CMC, to
petitioner, or to AHFC. The record in this case
would not support a finding on that point in any
event. ‘

Third, the court cavalierly suggests That

petitioner could have avoided the appearance of
impropriety by foregoing the meeting with the

Governor entirely. (Maj.Op. at 1342). The court -
cites no authority for the propositien that the

petitioner.should roll over and play dead simply
because he happens to be a justice, when
confronted with at least delay, and quite
probably deliberate obstruction, by executive

branch officials. Until today, there was no

authority for that proposition.

- Next, the court suggests that petitioner
could have .done indirectly what he should not
do directly by having someone on the CMC staff
arrange a meeting and actually meet with the
Governor. (Maj.Op. at 1342-1343). To suggest
that such a manipulative course of action would
avoid the appearance of impropriety only
recognizes that it would be more difficult for the
objectively reasonable person to find out about
it. More troublesome, however, is the question
of what test we apply in the case of a sole
proprietorship without executive type staff. 7
The court also considers it significant that the
litigation concluded with a favorable settlement
for petitioner. (Maj.Op. at 1343). What this has
to do'with the meeting with the Governor is not
divulged by the majority probably because there
is no evidence that the terms of the settlement
were discussed at the meeting. In fact, the record
discloses that the terms of the settlement and
who it was favorable or unfavorable to were
never discussed at the meeting.

lastcase

Finally, since the court has correctly
concluded that there was -nothing ‘wrong in
asking for the meeting in the first place, it seems
a strange leap in logic to conclude that the
meeting itself somehow created an appearance

. of 1mpropnety

Page 1352

I have absolutely no Quanel with the.'

. proposmon that judges, because of the nature of

their office, must maintain the highest standards
of conduct in both their judicial and extra-

* judicial affairs, and, further, it must -appear that

judges maintain those standards. Until today, I

- had thought that Judge II provided a reasonably

objective standard by which to measure that
conduct in appearance of impropriety cases.
Unfortunately, for the pubhc and the bench, I am.
apparently wrong. .

1 agree with the majority that the
Commission did not err. in denying special
counsel's motion to . dismiss. Otherwise, I

~ dissent.

TUNLEY, Judge, concutring in part and
dissenting in part.

I concur with the dissent of Judge Schulz,
respectfully adding a few further comments.

Petitionier was requested by all parties to sit
on the settlement panel. While serving thereon
he used his judicial chambers court stationery to

.memorialize agreements and meetings. These

writings were only distributed among the other
members of the settlement panel. There was at
that time no court rule or policy against justices
using their chambers stationery for such
purposes nor is there presently. Any objectively
reasonable person who was reasonably informed
could only conclude no impropriety was afoot
when reviewing the files containing these letters
as that person would understand the background
of these letters and such was only private
chambers stationery.

- 15 -
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Concerning the Iﬁeeﬁﬁg with the Governor, -~

" “petitioner was only making sure the agreement

agreed upon by the seitlement panel would se¢ -
the light of day at a public hearing. It was:not for -
‘a private purpose. Any -objectively reasonable -

person who was reasonably informed could only

coiclude no impropriety was afoot. Petitioner, -
as a‘imember of the settlement panel, met with

~ the Governor so as to prevent Lehr from using
his_influence with the Govemor to delay or

cancel the public hearmg taking place whereat -
the Board of AHFC would decide whether to -

accept the settlement agreement approvéd by the
panel. No discussion was had concemning the

settlement -‘agreement " itself. Ms. Kadow,
Director - of the Governor's Anchorage ofﬁ&e, -
attended 'the meeting so it cannot be labeled a» o

prlvate meeting.

- Certainly the test of In e Inqulry_ .
Concemning a Judge, 788 P.2d 716 (Alaska
1 990) (Judge H ), must include the requirement

that - objectively - reasonable -persons- be
reasonably informed. In my opinion, the
majority fails to acknowledge that the

reasonable - person must . also  be - reasonably- .

informed of the surrounding ¢ircumstances. The
test of Judge II certainly is not a "hindsight" test.
I believe the majority employ  a. test of
"hindsight” in determining the appearance of

impropriety in this case while professing they do -
not. Based upon such "hindsight,” the majority -

today condemn business activity of a ‘most
_respected member of the highest court of this
state, a state that allows members of the

‘ Judlclary to "engage in other remuneratlve‘ -
activity including the operation of a business.""

~ Judicial Canon 5C(2). Also, petitioner was asked
by all involved to partake therein. Further, based
‘on information now before this court, petitioner
divested himself of his interest in the business

long before this matter was publicly reported,

petitioner - losing a considerable - amount of
money in such divestment. Pursuarit to the test
of Judge II, the complaints against petitioner just
do not establish an appearance of impropriety,
and the majority opinion is just completely
wrong.

B~
Tastcase

As 1 pen my. thoughts herem a wave of .

‘deep’ concern for the judiciary of this™ state

washes across my spirit.. Judges must live in the -

~real world, and I don't beliéve they- should be
.- -expected to sever all ties with'it upon taking the - . -
" . bench. They would thus isolate themselves from

the rest of society. Involvement in the outside - -

- world "is necessary . to - enrich’ ]udlclal

temperament .and to enhance a judge's ability to -

 make- difficult decisions. -1 I am fearful the,;-
g ma]onty's declsmn

Page1353 - ’

-~ will further 1solate our’ Judlclary ﬁ'om the real

world. My brethren and I,-both.at bench and bar,
must have faith that today's interpretation of -

" what is an appearance of impropriety when

washed with the sands of time; will not last long.
1 coﬁsur with the majority in concIudmg '
that the petitioner's request to meet with the

‘Governor - did not create ‘the appearance of

1mpropr1ety Lastly, I concur with the majonty

. in concluding that the Commission did not err in
: denying 'special counsel's motion to dismiss

I am authonzed to. say that Judge Schulz -

_ Joms m the above comments.

~ * Sitting by assignment made pﬁrsuant to article o
IV, section 16 of the Alaska Constltutlon and . .

Appellate Rule 406(1)

1 No wntten record exists of What transplred at- -
the meetmg

2 At the tlme AS 22.30.011(d) prov1ded

(d) The Commission may, after a heanng held
under (b) of this section,

| (1) exonerate the judge of the charges;

. (2) informally and pﬁvately-admonish the judge

or recommend counseling;

-18-
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3 repn"mand the judge publicly or privately; ’

(4) refer the matter to the supreme court with a
recommendation that the judge be suspended,
removed, or retired from the office or publicly or
prlvately censured by the supreme court

In In re Inquiry Concering a Judge, 762 P2d

1292 (Alaska 1988) (hereinafter Judge I ), the’

Alaska Supreme Court ruled that subsection (3)
-of this statute was in conflict with article IV,
section 10 of the Alaska Constitution. The court
found the Commission was without power to
impose sanctions itself and coild only
. recommend sanctions to the supreme court.

‘Here, the Commission was aware of Judge I~

when it made -its determination. The
Commission recommended a public admonition
without citing either AS 22.30.011(d)(2) or
" (d)(3). The Commission noted that public

admonitions exist in many states. Determination

at 12
We r'éject the Commission's recommendation for
the reasons expressed in this opinion. We elect

to impose a private reprimand under former AS -
22.30.011(d)(3). This discipline is the same -

discipline chosen in Judge L

3 The Commission found that petitioner's
parking lot encounter with Judge Michalski did
not violate any of the judicial canons because "it
was apparent at the time of the contact that no
further legal proceedings were contemplated.”
We accept this finding by the Commission.

4 This description of the basis of the objectively
reasonable person's belief is not changed by
petitioner's assertions on rehearing. Petitioner
asserts on rehearing that the objectively
reasonable person should find no appearance of
impropriety  because petitioner ultimately
received no actual cash return due to the fact that
later he divested himself of his interest in CMC
subsequent to the settlement being paid. We find
this later conduct irrelevant to the opinions of
the thinking public at the time of the original
acts. Later attempts to undo the harm may be
considered in mitigation but they are not

properly a part of the determination of whether

18.8th Se

‘stationery and "chambers"

an actual impropriety -or the appearance of
impropriety - occurred. (We have considered
petitioner's assertions about divesting himself of
his interest, even though these assertlons are
outside the stlpulated facts.)

.‘5- The "clear and convincing” standard is
~ required by In re Hanson, 532 P.2d 303, 308 .

(Alaska 1975).

6 The appendix contains sample "official”
, stationery. In
conformity with the rules of confidentiality that

~ govern these proceedings, the petitioner's name,

which appears on the "chambers" stationery, has

‘seen deleted from the, copy appeanng in the

appendlx

7 The formal complaint of the Commission does
not charge petitioner with a violation of Canon
5. : R

8 We have considered - whether petitioner's
conduct amounted to an actual impropriety, in

violation of Canon 4, because he consulted with
an executive official other than regarding the

administration of justice. We find that Canon 4,

by its title, applies only to quasi-judicial

activities. The proscription in Canon 4 is not

applicable because petitioner was not involved

in quasi-judieial activities.

We note that Canon 4C of the ABA's new
proposed Model Code of Judicial Conduct
(1990), addressed in Judge Tunley's dissent,
provides:

Governmental, Civic, or Charitable Activities

(1) A judge shall not appear at a public hearing
before, or otherwise consult with, an executive
or legislative body or official except on matters
concerning the law, the legal system or the
administration of justice or except when acting
pro se in a matter involving the judge or the
judge's interests.

We conclude from the title of this section that it
also would not apply to petitioner's activities
because they were not "governmental,” "civic,"
or "charitable." Moreover, we note that even

-7
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- were the above code adopted for Alaska, a judge
-could-only do What is'permitted by that section if . -
the judge could do so without creatlng an

appearance of i 1mpropnety
. 9 See footnote 2

-are:
'-(a) absence of a prior disciplinary recOrd'
(b) absence of a dlshonest or selfish’ motrve,

. .(c) personal or emotlonal problems

1o rectlfy consequences of misconduct;

-(e) full and: free dlsclosure to- d1sc1phnary board.

" or cooperatlve attrtude toward proceedmgs,

L (@i mexpenence in the practrce oflaw; -
(g) character or reputatlon,

(h) physrcal or mental d1sab1hty or 1mpa1rment
E (1) delay in dlscrplmary proceedmgs,

G) mtenm rehablhtatmn

' k) irnposition'of other penalties or sanctions;
(1) remorse; | |

(m) remoteness of prior offenses.

Judge II, 788 P.2d at 725 (quoting ABA

~Standard 9.32, reprinted in ABA/BNA Lawyers'

Manual on Professronal Conduct 01:842.

(1986))

The aggravatmg factors set out by the ABAare:

(a) prior disciplinary oﬁ'enses,
: ‘(b)v dishonest or selfish motive;

() a pattern of misconduct;

“fastcase

'10 The mrtrgatmg factors set out by the. ABA

) mulhple oﬂ'enses,

- -(e) bad faith obstructlon of the drscrplmary .
- ‘procéeding by intentionally fallmg to comply -
' <w1th rules or orders of the dlsclphnary agency; -

® submission  of - false evrdence, false_
statements, or.other deceptrve practlces durmg.

- the disciplinary process o

| (g) refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of
A _conduct :

- (h) vulnerability of Vicﬁm;
U L _: (1) substantla! expenence m the practlce of law,
S (d) tnnely good farth eﬁ'ort to make restltutron or .
‘ : () indifference to makmg restltutlon

: Id. (quotmg ABA Standard 922 ABA/BNA

01:841-42).

1 The majority discusses the test‘in the context
of an objectively reasonable person and goes on

to define in"some detail what that "person” is. I
-do not feel that it is necessary to define "an .
_ object1vely' reasonable person”- other than it 1s, -

"an-objectively reasonable person." Further, in

the majority's opinion (at 1340,-1340n. 4, 1341),
they use the "thinking public” in applying the

* test. I disagree with the majority's use of the

"thinking public." The majority either equates
the "thinking public" with -the "objechvely
reasonable public” or changes the test in its
apphcatron :

| 2 Although not included in the record before the

Commission evidence has been received that

shortly - after the settlement was reached

Petitioner divested lnmself of any interest in
CMC, did not receive any monies as a result of
the settlement, and transferred his stock. to the -

. corporation at a financial loss.

1 Canon 2:

A Judge Should Avoid Irnpropnety and the
Appearance of Impropriety in all Hi§ Act1v1t1es

A A judge should respect and comply with the

law and should conduct hlmself at all times in a

-148-
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manner that promotes public confidence in the
integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.

B. A judge should not allow his family, social or
other relationships to influence his -judicial

conduct or judgment. He should not lend the

prestige of his office to advance the private
interest -of others; nor should he convey or

permit others to convey the impression that they -

are in-a special position to influence him. He
should not ‘testify voluntarily as a character
witness.

2 Canon I

An independent and honorable judiciary is
indispensable to justice in our society. A judge

~ -should participate in establishing, maintaining,
and enforcing, and should himself observe, high

standards of conduct so that the integrity and

" independence of the judiciary may be preserved.
The provisions of this Code should be construed
and applied to further that objective.

3 AS 22.30.011(a)(3)(D) and (E):

(a) The Commission shall on its own motion or
on receipt of a written complaint inquire into an
allegation that a judge

3 within a period of not more than six years
before the start of the current term, committed
an act or acts that constitute

| (D) conduct that brings the JudlClal office into
disrepute; or

(E) conduct in violation of the code of judicial
conduct;

4 I express no opinion as to whether or not that
is a good or a bad rule. If the rule is bad,
however, the rule should be changed before we
sanction someone for violating what I can only
characterize as a highly subjective expectation
for judicial conduct.

FAd
Tastcase

5. It is interesting that -the thinking publie--or--'
_ objectively (émphasis added) reasonable persons

of Judge Il have become so selective. For
instance, the record in this case makes it clear -

_ that petitioner took part in the settlement process

in 1987 because he was -asked by the other
parties. They knew who he was, and apparently
were not terrified by his position. Further,

-._petitioner tendered all of his stock in the

corporation at no cost to the corporation on
December 29, 1987, well. before this matter
became a subject of public discussion. In short,
whether the settlement was favorable or
unfavorable to CMC or petitioner is irrelevant
because petitioner took no part of the settlement
in any event. <The record is also clear that the
merits of the settlement were never discussed
between the Governor and petitioner at their
meeting. The majority never addresses a central
issue in this case and that issue is simply why all
of the facts are not relevant and if all of the facts
are not relevant, what is the test for determining
what is relevant and what is net. So much for the-
objective test.

6 The majority's conclusion on the use of

. chambers stationery cannot rest on a violation of

some rule against using the stationery for the
simple reason that there is no rule.

7 This, of course, assumes that CMC had "staff"
that could arrange a meeting with the Governor
and discuss the AHFC board meeting. The
record seems quite silent on what sort of "staff™
options petitioner actually had.

1 Acknowledgement for my statements on the
role of the judiciary is given to the authors of
Judicial Conduct and Ethics, J. Shaman, S.
Lubet & J. Alfini, at 2 (1990).

2 I refer also to the final proposed 1990 Model
Code of Judicial Conduct of the American Bar
Association (ABA) which was recommended by
the Standing Committee on Ethics and
Professional Responsibility of the ABA for
consideration by the House of Delegates of the
ABA in 1990. I can find nowhere in this Model
Code of Judicial Conduct any transgression
thereof in the conduct of petitioner condemned

-19-
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by the majority today. In fact, Proposed .Canon
4C(1) clarifies that a judge may consult with an
" executive official "in a matter mvolvmg the
. Judge or the Judge s interests." - :

fastcase
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.. . RECEVEp
T e PLANNING
- JOSEPH E. DI LORGTO, JubcE E I °
{PERSONALY ’
S .7 " December29, 2004 o ::".'?”'
i " City of Downey B
Building Department
Attention: Ron Yoshiki
P.0.-Box 7016
‘Downey, CA 90241-7016
un;kon:

At our meeting on March 3, 2004 With yourself and Mz..Cénti, I °
agreed-to remove my trailer from thie-vacant 1ot next to my law offices at
- 8607 East Imperial Highway. At thé meeting, I anticipated my new building
‘which' will hopse my trailer- would be completed by the end of this year. -
Unfortunately, due to miany delays too numerous to explain, the actual work

was not stacted until mid Décember, 2004.

: My’ contractor, Norm Wilson & Sons, anticipates ihe constraction
should b completed by July or August 2005, barring unforesesable weather: - -
Iwill remove my trailer when the building is ready fot ocenpancy.

1-thank you for your kmd patience in this matter.

_ 'Very“tmly yours,

* JOSEPH B. DI LORETO -

JED:Iin

The judge’s letter, on “chambers” judicial stationery, with “The Superior Court” printed
- at thetop, and with the court’s address and official seal, expressly identified Judge Di Loreto as a
- judge; the letterhead bore the inscription “Joseph E. Di Loreto, Judge”. In the letter, Judge Di
Loreto sought an extension of time within which to remove his trailer and, implicitly, the’
forbearance of legal action. This December 29, 2004 letter was referred to in subsequent
correspondence by another city employee and the City Attorney on behalf of the City of Downey
regarding the dispute. a o ',

Judge Di Loreto’s prior use of chambers judicial stationery resulted in discipline. This
- prior matter, in 2001, involved the use of chambers judicial stationery in a personal dispute over



ownership of a racing car with a “long-time personal friend” of the judge, a Mr. Barton. The -
stationery used was identical to that used in the December 29, 2004 letter to Mr. Yoshiki in the- -
dispute with the City of Downey.

The commission issued an advisory letter to Judge Di Loreto in 2001 that stated, in
pertinent part, as follows: '

The commission expressed disapproval of your sending a letter on
‘chambers judicial stationery to Robert Barton concerning a dispute
-between you and Mr. Barton with regard to ownership of a racing car. It - =

was the commission’s view that this letter, asserting lawful ownership of ‘
property that was the subject of a dispute and dictating your preferred

resolution, constituted a use of judicial stationery to advance a personal or
pecuniary interest. Accordingly, the commission concluded, your letter

was inconsistent with Canon 2B(2) of the Code of Judicial Ethics, which

states that a judge shall not lend the prestige of judicial office to advance

the pecuniary or personal interests of the judge or others, and with Canon

2B(4), which states that a judge shall not use the judicial title in any :
written communication intended to advance the judge’s personal or

pecuniary interests. :

Judge Di Loreto’s use of chambers judicial stationery in‘the current matter concerning a
private dispute-as a property owner with the City of Downey, again violated canons 2B(2) and.
2B(4). The fact that the printed judicial letterhead included a parenthetical “personal” is
irrelevant, given that the court stationery was being used in the judge’s personal dispute with a
governmental agency regarding his own property. Letters such as the one written by Judge Di
Loreto regarding official governmental business typically are included in an official record that
may be reviewed by other government employees and officials, and may be used as evidence in

subsequent legal proceedings.

The propriety of using judicial stationery in personal disputes does not turn on whether or
- not the recipient already knows the author is a judge. Rather, the use of judicial stationery is
prohibited under the canons in question because, in such circumstances, such use involves
lending the prestige of office or the judicial title to advance personal or pecuniary interests.

In reaching its determination that public discipline was appropriate in this matter, the
commission noted that Judge Di Loreto’s use of chambers judicial stationery in his dispute with
the City of Downey was the same conduct that resulted in his 2001 advisory lettér, and that the
judge continues to advance the same justification for the improper behavior — the addressee knew
the judge was a judge — that the commission rejected in 2001. In Judge Di Loreto’s opposition to
the commission’s preliminary investigation letter in this matter, he asserted that since Mr.
Yoshiki knew the judge was a judge, the use of the letterhead was appropriate. Indeed, in the



) judge’s written objections under rule 116 to the proposed public: admomshmeﬂt, he per51sted'm
making the same assertion, which he repeated during hlS oral presentatlon to the commission on
May 10, 2006. :

o Judge Di Loreto’s use of judicial statlonery for his December 29, 2004 letter to Mr
: Yosh1k1 was, at a minimum, 1mproper action. -

' Comm1ss1on members Mr. Marshall B. Grossman, Judge Frederick P. Hom, Mr. Mlchael
AL Kahn, Justice Judith D. McConnell, Ms. Patricia Miller, Mr. Jose Miramontes, Mrs. Penny
Perez, Judge Ris# Jones ichon, M, Barbara Schraeger and Mr. Lawrence Simi voted for a
‘publics admomshment Comm1s51on member Mrs. Crystal Lui did not partlclpate

Dated: June 13,2006 - . Jy
‘ ' - Marshall B. Grossman
- Chairperson
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companies called the SAM group, standing for Shell, ARCO and Mobil.
Part of SAM's off-shore development project involved designing
helicopters to explore the Gulf of Alaska. After three years, Appellant -
practiced law on his own, primarily in aviation. He then became couns
to Wien, a scheduled passenger and cargo carrier at that time,
negotiating and granting small bush carriers’ reduced rate agreement:
and other contracts. He left Wien in 1982, after about three years of
employment, and started to work for KWA. He negotiated with KWA's .-
board of directors to receive travel benefits immediately upon
employment. -~ . B B
Part of Appellant's duties included cOntraCting.,reduced fare agreemen

- with other airlines. A typical reduced fare agreement gives an airline -

authority to issue a ticket on another airline at a price less than the =
published fares. Some airlines declined to enter such an agreement w
KWA, while others agreed. [FN2] S

FN2. KWA entered.into reduced fare agreements, without an

-Alaska, Aloha, Hawaiian, Pacific Western, Republic, Southwest
Pacific Island, United and Wien. e ‘

L 'j‘n.accompan-y'in'g:in-terli'n'e"agr‘eem‘eﬁt; with theollowing airlines:: =~~~

An interline agreement, or baggage and ticket agreement, allows
airlines to ticket passengers and transfer baggage on one another's .
routes. KWA was not interested in interlining, being a small airline onl.
providing service from three ‘western Alaska communities to the bush.’
Furthermore, KWA lacked the computer reservation capability and
personnel required to interline. _ R

On July-8, 1982, Appellant contacted Pacific Southwest Airlines about

the possibility of entering into a reduced fare agreement, but was

notified. that PSA was unwilling to extend travel benefits to unschedule

airlines. On April 1, 1983, he inquired again. In response, Mary Anne
-Galetto, PSA's vice-president of Pricing and Ecohomic Planning, verifie

that KWA was now a scheduled airline, and offered to enter a reduced

‘fare agreement if KWA would also enter into an interline agreement.
. Her letter stated: s : ’ ‘

Our current policy restricts employee travel benefits to. employees of
airlines with which we interline revenue passengers. ) .
She sent both a reduced fare contract form and an.interline contract .
form to Appellant,

The PSA reduced fare agreement gave each airline authority to self-
ticket, or issue reduced fare tickets on its own ticket stock, on a space
available basis, to its employees rather than have them obtain the
tickets each time from the carrying airline. Blank ticket stock and a
validating stamp are used to create such a ticket.

The reduced fare agreement contained the following termination claus -

This Agreement ... shall continue in force and effect until termination
either party, such termination to be effective upon 60 days prior writt:
notice by either party to the other party, to the office designated in th
contract.... o o , -

This termination clause makes no mention of the effect of filing for
bankruptcy. ' . '
By contrast, the interline agreement contained the following terminati
clause: '

http‘://Weblinks.westlaw.com/Search/default.wl?RP=%2FWelcome%2FFraméless%2FSeérch%2... 10207007



Alaska Case Law Service Page 3 of 13

A. Any party hereto may withdraw from the agreement by giving thirt
days advance notice of such withdrawal to the other party hereto.

B. However, if the other party has become insolvent, suspended
payments or failed to meet its contractual obligations, or has become
involved, voluntarily or involuntarily, in proceedings declaring or to _
declare it bankrupt such notice of withdrawal may become effective ol
the date of written notice to the other party. ‘

C. A party hereto that ceases to operate scheduled service for 30 day:
or more for any reason other than a strike shall be deemed to have .
withdrawn from this agreement, effective 10 days after written notice
such cessation is given to the other party.

Appellant signed both agreements on behalf of KWA and designated
Merrill Field, KWA's Anchorage corporate headquarters (also Gifford's
business address), as its business address. In testimony Appellant sai
he agreed to the interline agreement with PSA because it was harmles
if useless: . ,

Q Okay. If you didn't want these interline agreements, ... why did you

A They didn't hurt us; they didn't cost us anything; they might be
applicable in the future with future expansion plans. If the other party
desired it, that was fine with us.

While Appellant was employed by KWA, KWA attempted to sell itself.
Apparently concerned about the possible effect of such a sale on
reduced fare privileges, the Board of Directors of KWA voted to extenc
reduced travel benefits indefinitely to certain executives, including -
Appellant, notwithstanding any change in management. [FN3]

FN3. The minutes of the meeting were reduced to one page in
writing and signed by the board. They read in pertinent part:

Resolved, that ... and [Appellant] and their eligible dependents,
shall be entitled to receive airline travel benefits from the travel
industry, they shall be considered corporate officers with regard
such benefits, and the Company shall assist them in obtaining
such benefits. The Company shall not take any action to cause
such benefits to be lessened or diminished from their presently
existing levels nor will the Company deny them the opportunity i
Pparticipate in those benefits.

The airline was never actually sold during Appellant's tenure. Howeve!
Rocky Mountain Helicopters, Inc. took over management of KWA and
renamed it "Air Forty-Nine, Inc." without exercising its option to
purchase the company.
Appellant became ill and retired from KWA in May 1983. In August
1983, Gifford initiated "Chapter 7" federal bankruptcy liquidation
proceedings and a trustee was appointed. Deborah Pickworth, KWA's
secretary/treasurer during its operation, stayed on as KWA's
- comptroller. KWA was finally sold in 1984, but remained a corporatior
- until November 1985,
Sometime after Appellant left KWA in May 1983, Pickworth gave
Appellant blank ticket stock and a validating stamp. As a practical
matter this allowed Appellant to continue to issue himself reduced far
tickets. Reduced fare billings were to be sent to Pickworth's post office
box, instead of the corporate address mentioned in the agreement.

http://weblinks.westlaw.com/Search/default. w1?RP=%2F Welcome%2FFrameless%2FSearch%2...  10/29/2007
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Appellant was to pay Ms. Pickworth ‘personally for the tickets. Appellai’
made no effort to determine if the carrying airlines objected, apparent
feelmg no oblrgatlon to do so. [FN4] _

FN4. Appellant testified in cross-examination:

" A We had ... conversations that we had these benefits.... We kne
we:-had these rights; we knew we'd pay for our tickets. As some
- plot or motive against some airline companies, no.

Q... Was there ever any inquiry dlrected to any of the carriers who
were going to be involved in carrying you or the Pickworths on a
reduced fare baSlS as to whether this arrangement was all right wrth
them?
A Idon't rezall any.. ' o
. Q Don't you think it would have been appropnate to do that, glven the
cessation of operations of Kodiak Western Airlines and the bankruptcy
of Gifford? -
. if you're saylng that would I W|sh I'd have done that now? You be
Arden I don't like being here. And maybe if somebody had said, "Hell
0 ... you can't do that." ... I'd-have probably analyzed it. I'd,-have
looked at it carefully.... This is the most--this is the most I think I've
ever stood up in my llfe for something that I think was right. And if it
. had been brought to my attention then, I would have looked at it--jus
like when.Bernd Guetschow brought it to my attention. I still think
Bernd Guetschow is wrong. I still thlnk you're wrong. I--1 still think I\
got those rights. _

On January 1, 1984, the Official Airline Guide informed PSA that KWA
had ceased operations. Ms. Galleto did not sénd KWA a written notice
- termination of the reduced fare agreement because "[t]here was no
place to communicate any longer with the corporation; it was no longs
in business.... There was no need to write letters saylng it was
suspended.” To Ms. Galleto it was a "given." .
In June 1985; after having been a sitting judge for approximately six
months, Appellant validated blank ticket stock and took a reduced-far
flight from Reno, Nevada to San Francisco, California, on PSA. The
ticket contained the identification "Employee Charge" and Appellant's
- employee ID number. [FN5] In this instance, PSA sent Appellant's bill
- for $20.60 to the Merrill Field business address, instead of to
Pickworth's post office box, thereby alerting the bankruptcy trustee. T
trustee's attorney, Bernd Guetschow, demanded the immediate returr
- of the ticket stock and valldatlng stamp from Appellant. Appellant
~‘offered to pay the $20.60 bill, but Guetschow refused to allow Appelia
- to do s0. Appellant then paid PSA directly.

FN5 Appellant testlf“ ed that employee numbers were used even
after retirement.

Ms. Galetto testified that in her opinion the reduced fare agreement w
ineffective without the interline agreement (which terminated upon th

http://weblinks.w_estlatv.cqm/Search/default.wl?RP=%2FWelcome%2FFrameless%ZFSearch%Z... 10/29/2007
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initiation of KWA's bankruptcy proceedings):

.. You cannot have a reduced fare agreement that allows self-ticketin
without an agreement to allow you to do the ticketing.... [T]he ticketil
and baggage agreement was null and void. Consequently, no one witt
Kodiak Alaska Airlines was authorized to write tickets on PSA Airlines
any longer. You have to have the ticketing and baggage agreement tc
issue a ticket on us. Without it, you cannot do so.

[Tlhere's a fundamental reason ... for a carrier to-extend an employes
reduced fare agreement to another company. That's--a fluff [sic] thin¢
That's not a necessity to operating.

Q Okay. ' :

A Whereas a ticketing and baggage agreement is a necessity.

Ms. Galetto further testified that PSA corporate policy prevented
integrating an interline agreement and a reduced fare agreement into
one document, She said that the purpose of having two separate
agreements was that PSA did not always extend reduced fare privileg:
when an.intérline agreement had been executed.

Ms. Galetto asserted it was unnecessary for PSA to include the same

termination provision in both agreements.

[1]t's unnecessary for two reasons, specifically. One, if a company
ceases operation, then they are no longer going to be doing ticketing
another carrier. And the ... reduced fare -agreement requires that you
can ticket ... since the ticketing and baggage agreement ceases when
service ceases; you can't ticket. Secondly ... in the very beginning, it
talks about, "{e]ach party shall grant to employees of such airline."
Well, if the airline isn't operating, you certainly can't be an employee
it.

Ms. Galetto went on to explain that unauthorized use of the tickets we
harmful to PSA in two respects. First, Appellant would otherwise have

- paid full price for the ticket. Second, Appellant's possession of the tick

stock and stamp placed PSA at risk of unauthorized use._[FN6]

FN6. According to the testimony of Ms. Galleto:

[Aln unauthorized person was walking around with a ... validatic
plate and ticket stock that could be worth millions and millions o
dollars within this industry.

David Jensen, Vice-President of Administration for Reeve Aleutian
Airways (Reeve), testified that blank ticket stock and validation stamf
were kept either in possession of the ticket agents or locked up. He al
testified that he doubted that KWA reduced-fare tickets would have
been accepted by. those with knowledge of KWA's status at the time.
Appellant, by contrast, sought to show that he in fact had the continu
right to issue himseif reduced-fare tickets. Both Mr. Jensen and
Appellant testified, contrary to Ms. Galetto, that the reduced fare and
interline agreements are physically separate and complete contracts ¢
their own, and not necessarily interdependent. [FN7] Additionally, the
parties stipulated to accept Appellant’s offer of proof of the expected
testimony of attorney Henry Camerot, former counsel for Alaska
Airlines:

http://weblinks«.westlaw.com/Search/default.wl?RP=%2FWelc0me%2FFrameless%2FSearch%2... 10/29/2007
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: FN7 Accordmg to the testimony of Appellant:
Q Do you have to look at the ticket and baggaging agreement to
understand what this says? _
A No. This is complete in itself.

Q ... And you agreed with his characterization, that the reduced
fare agreement was a stand-alone document. Do you recall that:

A That's right.
' Aecording to the videotaped deposition of Jensen:

Q ... Is the baggage and ticketing agreement a separate docume
‘and a separate, distinct agreement from the reduced fare
~ agreement? hati : -

A Generally.
Q -Does one depend upon the ‘other?

A-Normally, you don't have pass privilege agreements unless yoi
_ have an mterhne relatlonshlp in the other areas.

Q Is one actually dependent upon it though?

A Not necessarily.

. Alaska Airlines entered into ticket and baggage agreements with othei
- airlines, and Alaska Airlines entered into reduced fare agreements witl
_-other airlines, similar if not identical to the one that you have seen he

in two exhibits. It would be his testimony that these are separate
documents--that they stand by themseélves; that each one is integrate
that you can interpret and apply and enforce the provisions of the
reduced fare agreement by itself without reference to the ticket and

'baggage agreement. And he would testify that the reason for it is the

provisions are clear, unambiguous.

“He would testify that an airline can cease and does cease flying

scheduled operations and still retain employees and has done that a
number of ... times in the past. Things just don't-end by way of

- . obligations to employees because the airline ceases flying operations.

However, Appellant knew the bankruptcy trustee had control of KWA's
assets at the time he self-ticketed approximately two years after the
filing of the "Chapter 7" proceedings. He did not check whether the
agreements were still in effect, although he realized that such
agreements could be terminated easily, regardless of bankruptcy.
Appellant also conceded it would have been reasonable to check
whether or not the agreements were still in effect before utilizing the
benefits thereof:

Q Well, wouldn't it be reasonable, as a lawyer, ... to think that given t
non-operational status and the Chapter 11 and Chapter 7 proceedmgc

- http://weblinks.westlaw.com/Search/default.wl?RP=%2F Welcome%2FFrameless%2F Search%?2... 10/29/2007
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that intimately involved KWA also that there might have been some
change in the agreement that they had executed back in 1983, by tha
time, two years later[?] '

A Yes, it's reasonable. : : .

Q But if it's reasonable to think that, then why wouldn't it be reasonat
for you to be ... concerned ... when you're still self-ticketing in June o
85?7 . : :

A T'guessI just don't speculate on hypothetical problems, and you're
worried about them.... ,

The Commission found that the record did not demonstrate by clear a
convincing evidence any actual impropriety by Appellant. The '
Commission determined that Appellant's claim to a right to indefinite
travel benefits through self-ticketing was tenuous at best, but sufficies

- to defeat a finding of actual impropriety. Nevertheless, the Commissic

found Appeliant failed to avoid conduct that created an appearance of
impropriety. It further concluded that Appellant's conduct was
prejudicial to the administration of justice and brought the judicial offi
into disrepute, in-violation of AS 22.30.011(a)(3)(C) and (D).
Additionally, it determined that Appellant violated Canons 1 and 2A of
the Code of Judicial Conduct. The Commission determined the ’
appropriate sanction to be public reprimand pursuant to AS 22,30.017
(d)(3). After our holding that the Commission has no authority to
determine sanctions, but only to recommend them, and remanding fo
recommendation as to sanction, Judge I, 762 P.2d at 1296, the
Commission recommended public censure. '

I1. DISCUSSION _ :
[1] The Supreme Court of Alaska is the body entrusted with the
ultimate decision in matters of judicial qualifications. Id. at 1296; Inr
Hanson, 532 P.2d 303, 307 (Alaska 1975). _ ' :
[2] In determining the appropriate sanction in a judicial conduct case,
this court will independently evaluate the evidence of record. Id. at 3(

[FN8]

FN8. Suggestions to the contrary in In re Robson, 500 pP.2d 657

(Alaska 1972) are disapproved.

The Commission found that Appellant violatedvAS 22.30.011(a)(3)(C)
and (D), which state:

(a) The commission shall on its own motion or on receipt of a written
complaint inquire into an allegation that a judge

(3) ... committed an act or acts that constitute

(C) conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice;

(D) conduct that brings the judicial office into disrepute.

The Commission further found that Appellant violated Canons 1and?2
of the Code of Judicial Conduct: _

Canon 1. A Judge Should Uphold the Integrity and Independence of tt
Judiciary.

An independent and honorable judiciary is indispensable to justice in ¢
society. A judge should participate in establishing, maintaining, and
enforcing, and should himself observe, high standards of conduct so
that the integrity and independence of the judiciary may be preserved
The provisions of this Code should be construed and applied to furthe:
that objective.,

http://weblinks.westlaw.com/Search/default.wl?RP=%2F Welcome%2FFrameless®%2FQearahosn . 1amamans
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Canon 2. A Judge Should Avoid Impropriét_y and the Appearance of .
Impropriety in all His Activities.

A. A judge should respect and comply with-the law and should conduc
himself at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the
integrity and impartiality of the judiciary. ’ :

[31[4] Alaska statutory law and the Code of Judicial Conduct hold
judges to the highest standard of personal and official conduct. This
standard is greater than that expected of lawyers and other persons i

- society. E.g., In re Inquiry Relating to Rome, 218 Kan. 198, 542 pP.2d
676, 682 (1975): Complaint Concerning Winton, 350 N.W.2d 337, 341

(Minn.1984). A judge's unethical or seemingly unethical behavior
outside the courtroom detracts from the efficient administration of

. - justice and the integrity of the judicial office, as it diminishes respect -

the judiciary in the eyes of the public. E.g., In the Matter of Haddad,
627 P.2d 221, 223 (Ariz.1981 ; Rome, 542 p.2d at 683; Winton, 350
N.W.2d at 340. Because the purpose of judicial discipline is to protect
the public rather than punish the individual judge, the proceeding is
neither civil nor criminal but sui generis. Haddad, 627 P.2d at 223;
McGomb v. Comm’n on Judicial Performance, 138 Cal.Rptr. 459, 564
P.2d 1, 5 (1977): Rome, 542 P.2d at 683. ' -
Members of the Jjudiciary should be acutely aware that any action they

. . standards of scrutihy to the end that public perception of the integrit); '

the j_udiciary will be preserved.... That is not to say, of course, that
Judges must cloister themselves from the dayfto-day problems of farr

- those contacts which might create even the appearance of impropriety

Lonschein v. State Comm'n on Judicial Conduct, 50 N.Y.2d 569, 430
N.Y.S.2d 571, 572, 408 N.E.2d 901, 902 (N.Y.1980).
[5] We agree with the Commission that the record does not sufficienti

- establish any actual impropriety by Appellant. [FN9] There is an

uncertain question concerning whether Appellant’s privilege to self-
ticket had terminated; there is not "clear and convincing” evidence th;
it had. See Hanson, 532 P.2d at 310. However, we also agree with its
finding that Appellant created an appearance of impropriety, violating -
Canons 1 and 2A of the Code of Judicial Conduct and hence AS

22.30.011(a)(3)(E) (prohibiting violations of the Code of Judicial

Conduct).

FNO. Therefore, Appellant did not violate AS 22.30.01 1(a )(3)(C).

When misconduct is extra-judicial, as here, it is prejudicial to the
administration of justice only if it is "wilful misconduct out of
office, i.e. unjudicial conduct committed in bad faith...." E.g.,
Spruance-v. Comm'n on Judicial Qualifications, 13 Cal.3d 778, 1:
Cal.Rptr. 841, 853, 532 P.2d 1209, 1221 (1975). .

[6][7] The duty to avoid Creating an appearance of impropriety is one
taking "reasonable precautions” to avoid having "a negative effect on
the confidence of the thinking public in the administration of justice.”
the Matter of Bonin, 375 Mass. 680, 378 N.E.2d 669, 682-83 ( 1978).
Otherwise stated, did Appellant fail to use reasonable care to prevent
objectively reasonable persons from believing an impropriety was afoc

x The self-validation of reduced fare tickets through a defunct airline,

where Appellant 1) knew that the agreement permitting such self-
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validation could be terminated on short nbtice, if it had not been
already; 2) did not check on the validity of the agreements despite
knowing that a bankruptcy trustee had been in control of KWA for

- almost two years; and 3) admits that a reasonable lawyer would have

consulted with the trustee before self-ticketing, creates a sufficient
appearance of impropriety to constitute a violation of Canon 2. [FN10’

FN10. A violation of Canon 2, as it brings the judiciary into -
disrepute, also violates AS 22.30.011(a)(3)(D).

III. SANCTION :
[8] In Disciplinary Matter Involving Buckalew, 731 P.2d 48, 51-52
(Alaska 1986), we adopted the American Bar Association's Standards
for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions as guidelines for sanctioning lawyer
misconduct. See ABA Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions (198¢
reprinted in ABA/BNA .Lawyer’s Mafiual on Professional Conduct,
01:801-01:856 (1986) (hereinafter ABA Standards). We reasoned tha
the ABA Standards provide a "theoretical framework within which to
organize and analyze the relevant factors to be considered in disciplin
sanction cases." Buckalew, 731 P.2d at 52. A framework is needed to
"ensure a level of consistency necessary for fairness to the public and
the legal system...." Id. As we believe such consistency is equally
important in matters of judicial misc¢onduct, we will analogize to these
standards insofar as possible when sanctioning judges. [FN11] We not
in so doing that the American Bar Association has adopted Standards
Relating to Judicial Discipline and Disability Retirement. See ABA
Standards Relating to Judicial Discipline and Disability Retirement
(1978), reprinted in National Center for Professional Responsibiiity for
the Joint Committee on Professional Discipline, American Bar
Association, Professional Discipline for Lawyers and Judges (1979).
However, these standards are largely hortatory and prescribe specific
sanctions only for a few serious violations not at issue here (commissi
of a felony or misdemeanor). Id.

FN11. The ABA Standards are limited in analogical scope becaus:
judges are held to a higher level of scrutiny than are ordinary
lawyers. E.g., Winton, 350 N.W.2d at 340 (Minn.1984). This is n
to say, however, that they are valueless.

The ABA Standards utilize a four pronged test to determine the level ¢
sanction:

(1) What ethical duty did the lawyer violate? (A duty to a client, the
public, the legal system, or the profession?)

(2) What was the lawyer's mental state? (Did the lawyer act
intentionally, knowingly, or negligently?)

(3) What was the extent of the actual or potential injury caused by th:
lawyer's misconduct? (Was there a serious or potentially serious injur

(4) Are there any aggravating or mitigating circumstances?
Buckalew, 731 P.2d at 52, quoting ABA Standards, Theoretical
Framework, ABA/BNA at 01:805-06.

The first step in applying the ABA Standards is to examine the first
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- three prongs of the test. Next, we examine the ABA Standards to find
~ the recommended sanction for this type of misconduct. Finally, we :
ascertain whether any aggravating or mitigating circumstances apply
which warrant increasing or decreasing the otherwise appropriate
‘sanction. Id. ' '
- - 1. The three pronged test, L T
The first prong deals with the ethical duty violated. The ABA Standard
do not directly address the problem of creating an appearance of _
impropriety. Rather, the ABA Standards seek to implement a system {
the consistent punishment of Disciplinary Rule violations. The '
Disciplinary Rules, however, do not mandate the punishment of a
lawyer who creates only an appearance of impropriety of the type at
issue here. While Ethical Consideration 9-6 contains cautionary -
language that a lawyer should "strive to avoid not only professional
impropriety but also the appearance of impropriety,” DR 9-101 prohib ;
only certain specific types of apparent improprieties not apposite here *
o _ See DR 9-101(A) (accepting private employment on a matter "upon ti
= ' S ~merits of which he has acted in a judicial capacity"); DR 9-101(B) -
‘(accepting private employment in a matter in which he had substantiz
responsibility while a public employee); DR 9-101(C) (implying the
ability to improperly influence decision-makers). This is one area in
which the Code of Judicial Conduct demands ‘more of judges than the
Disciplinary Rules do of lawyers. o
. The second prong requires examination of the offender's mental state
- Our review of the record reveals only a negligent state of mind, not a
knowing or purposeful one. The ABA Standards define negligence as
"when a lawyer fails to be aware of a substantial risk that circumstanc
exist or that a result will follow, which failure is a deviation from the
standard of care that a reasonable lawyer would exercise in the
situation.” ABA Standards, Definitions, ABA/BNA at 1:807. Appellant's:
error lies in his negligent failure to appreciate a substantial risk that h
*_self-issuance of reduced fare tickets might appear improper under the’
_circumstances. - ‘ _ - - ' -
~ The third prong requires examination of the actual or potential harm
occasioned by the violation. As.far as actual harm, there was relativel
little. The trustee of KWA incurred a debt of $20.60, which Appellant
intended to pay, and did pay. Assuming that the agreement was in fac
inoperative, which is not clearly demonstrated by the evidence, then
PSA also suffered the loss of the difference between a $20.60 reducec
fare and a full fare of $82.40, or $61.80. If it was not inoperative, no
harm was suffered. Additionally, the ticket was a "stand-by" ticket. Tt
potential harm in this case, according to Ms. Galleto, was somewhat !
greater, assuming the further step of the validation plate falling into t
wrong hands. The ABA Standards define potential harm as "the harm
that is reasonably foreseeable at the time of the lawyer's misconduct,
and which, but for some intervening factor or event, would probably
have resulted from the lawyer's misconduct." ABA Standards,
Definitions, ABA/BNA at 1:807. We cannot, on this record, say that th
consequences feared by Ms. Galleto would "probably” have resulted _
from Appellant’s possession of a validating stamp and blank stock, giv
the lack of evidence of any nefarious purpose on Appellant's part. A
‘Additionally, the validating stamp, which was part of the record, is no
masterpiece of complexity and could be rather easily duplicated. Thus .
we feel that the degree of actual or potential injury caused was nearly
negligible. : o
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2. Recommended Sanction.

[9]1[10] As discussed supra, no part of the ABA Standards specifically

addresses the problem of creating the appearance of impropriety, yet
useful pattern appears throughout. Where the violation, whatever its

nature, involves only negligent conduct which occasions little injury, tl
recommended sanction is admonition, or private reprimand. See ABA
Standard 2.6, ABA/BNA at 01:813 ("Admonition, also known as privat
reprimand, is a form of non-public discipline which declares the condu
of the lawyer improper ..."); ABA Standard 4.24, ABA/BNA at 01:820;

'ABA Standard 4.34, ABA/BNA at 01:824; ABA Standard 4. 44, ABA/BN

at 01:826; ABA Standard 4.54, ABA/BNA at 01: 827; ABA Standard
4.64, ABA/BNA at 01:828; ABA Standard 5.24, ABA/BNA at 01:832;
ABA Standard 6.14, ABA/BNA at 01:834; ABA Standard 6.24, ABA/BN
at 01:836; ABA Standard 6.34, ABA/BNA at 01:837; ABA Standard 7.
ABA/BNA at 01:839. Since this pattern is consistent throughout the Al
Standards irrespective of the nature of the offense, [FN12] it is fair to
apply it to unaddressed judicial violations involving, as here, the same
mental state and degree ofinjury. Thus, a private reprimand is the
baseline sanction for this conduct. [FN13]

FN12. The ABA Standards do urge against admonition for the
negligent violation of a standing discipline order, a situation not
issue here. See ABA Standard 8.4, ABA/BNA at 01:841.

EN13. Because creation of an appearance of impropriety, where
actual impropriety is demonstrated, is essentially negligent, the
‘baseline sanction will generally be either private reprimand or
public censure under:the ABA Standards, depending on the
amount of harm caused and subject to increase or decrease
dependent upon the presence of aggravating or mitigating factor

3. Aggravating and Mitigating Factors.

[11] The ABA Standards provide for the consideration of aggravating
and mitigating factors in deciding whether to depart from the baseline
sanction. Mitigating factors include:

(a) absence of a prior disciplinary record;

(b) absence of a dishonest or selfish motive;

(c) personal or emotional problems;

(d) timely good faith effort to make restitution or to rectlfy
consequences of misconduct;

(e) full and free disclosure to disciplinary board or cooperative attitud:
toward proceedings;

(F) inexperience in the practice of law;

(g) character or reputation;

(h) physical or mental disability or impairment;

(i) delay in disciplinary proceedings;

(3) interim rehabilitation;

(k) imposition of other penalties or sanctions;

(') remorse;

(m) remoteness of prior offenses

ABA Standard 9.32, ABA/BNA at 01:842.

Aggravating factors include:

(a) prior disciplinary offenses;
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(b) dishonest or selfish motive;

(c) a pattern of misconduct;

(d) multiple offenses; ' _

(e) bad faith obstruction of the disciplinary proceeding by intentionally
failing to comply with rules or orders of the disciplinary agency;

() submission of false evidence, false statements, or other deceptive -
practices during the disciplinary process; ‘

(g) refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of conduct;

(h) vulnerability of victim; "

(i) substantial experience in the practice of law;

[ () indifference to making restitution. »
"ABA Standard 9.22, ABA/BNA at 01:841-42.

Just as there is "no 'magic formula' to determine which or how many
mitigating circumstances justify the reduction of an otherwise
appropriate sanction,” Buckalew, 731 P.2d at 54, so too is there no
formula dictating how many aggravating factors justify increasing a
sanction, or how aggravating and mitigating factors are to be balance:
"Each case presents different circumstances which must e weighed
against theé nature and gravity of the.... misconduct.” Id.

In this case, several mitigating factors, (a), (b), (e), (f), (g) and (/),

. are present. The record before us contains no evidence that Appellant
has ever received a disciplinary sanction, public or private,.as an .

attorney or judge, and we are aware of none. We do not believe the
record reflects a "dishonest or selfish motive,” but rather negligence.
Appellant's attitude toward the proceedings appears to have been
cooperative. Although Appellant has practiced law for many years, he
had been on the bench for a relatively short period of time, and thus
perhaps was less familiar with the Code of Judicial Conduct than migh
otherwise be the case. Appellant acknowledged his lapse of care durin
his cross-examination, and expressed remorse. o '
On the other hand, we find no aggravating circumstances present.
Balancing these factors, we conclude that it would not be appropriate
depart from the baseline sanction of private reprimand. "Our paramot
concern, here as always, must be the protection of the public, the
courts, and the legal profession.” Buckalew, 731 P.2d at 56. This
paramount concern would be ill served in this case by failing to expre:
in some way our disapproval of Appellant's neglect. ‘

IV. CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, the Commission's recommended sancti
of public censure is rejected. This court will administer the private
reprimand in closed proceedings. :

RABINOWITZ and MOORE, J3., not parti€ipating.
Alaska,1990. ' '

In re Inquiry Concerning a Judge

788 P.2d 716
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